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Dear Ministers,
I am pleased to present to you the PIRSA annual report for the year ended 30 June 2002. The report has been 
prepared under section 66 of the Public Sector Management Act 1995 and is in accordance with the Act’s 
accompanying regulations as well as the financial reporting requirements of the Public Finance and Audit Act 
1987.

Jim Hallion
Chief Executive
Primary Industries and Resources South Australia

30 September 2002
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Chief Executive’s 
overview

This is my first report as Chief Executive of Primary Industries and Resources SA 
(PIRSA). The past financial year has seen many achievements and a number of changes.

In December Dennis Mutton retired as Chief Executive of PIRSA after a number of years 
of outstanding service and leadership.

PIRSA has a very diverse portfolio responsibility, which involves many industries. It has 
consolidated its position as a key economic development agency supporting the primary 
and resources industries.

The State Food Plan continued to be a success story. The Premier’s Food Council endorsed 
an updated State Food Plan and Program (2001–04). The joint industry–government 
program has been successful in achieving above target food production with some $9.8 
billion in gross state food reserve for 2001–02. Food for the Future and Food and Fibre 
divisions, together with other state government agencies, have played a key role in 
assisting industry to achieve this result, some 18 per cent above the previous year.

A number of policies in the Fisheries portfolio were implemented, including a White 
Shark Response Plan and a Recreational Rock Lobster Program. The total allowable catch 
for Southern Rock Lobster fishers was also increased. Additional Fisheries Compliance 
officers were recruited and trained, and new risk management arrangements were 
introduced for the ongoing management of fisheries. A fish habitat handbook for South 
Australian coastal waters was also released.

Substantial growth in the aquaculture sector has seen the value of the aquaculture 
production increase by more than 15 per cent from 2000–01. The Aquaculture Act 2001 
became operational in July 2002. Following the establishment of a Fish Health unit, 
a surveillance program to ensure the disease-free status of the state’s aquatic animals 
commenced. A continued focus for PIRSA has been the ecologically sustainable 
development of the aquaculture and fishing industries.

PIRSA’s research and development capability was recognised internationally, through 
its use of new and innovative technology. Major achievements included the launch of 
Australian Grain Technologies Pty Ltd, a wheat breeding company, which is a joint venture 
between the South Australian Government, the University of Adelaide and the Grains 
Research and Development Corporation. There was also a major expansion of industry-
funded projects in the meat and wool area. A new initiative, the Environment and Ecology 
Program, which focuses on environmental sustainability, was implemented. The wild 
fisheries research programs were restructured to support ecosystem based management of 
fisheries and supporting environments.

Bio Innovation SA and the Waite Precinct Partners agreed to provide a direct link to the 
commercial opportunities available for plant and animal biotechnology capability in South 
Australia.

Rural Solutions SA, the service provider group of the portfolio, provided specialist services 
to primary producers in agriculture, agribusiness and natural resource management.

Training was again a priority. The FarmBis Skilling Farmers for the Future program, which 
replaced the successful Property Management Planning and original FarmBis programs 
had the best uptake in Australia.

During the year a Food Safety Program initiative was developed to facilitate food safety 
as an agency function across industries. An incentive scheme was introduced to encourage 
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reporting, and accurate diagnosis of animal health diseases, which could affect the 
livestock economy.

The Sustainable Resources Group continued to provide advice to primary production 
industries in South Australia through partnerships with primary producers, industry 
organisations, resource mangers, the community and other government sectors. Native 
plant species were sent to Israel as part of the development of export pathways for 
Australian native plants.

In November 2001 the Dryland Salinity Strategy was released and a scoping study 
was established which has the potential to double productivity and return from grazing 
industries in the Lower South East.

Company exploration in the mineral resources sector increased by 33.5 per cent this 
financial year, indicating a substantial turn around in activity in South Australia. The 
exciting discovery by Minotaur Resources Ltd, of copper–gold mineralisation at Prominent 
Hill is a timely reminder of the importance of a vibrant exploration sector.

As part of its role in enhancing exploration in South Australia, PIRSA is committed to 
facilitating access to land. Relationships with traditional owners in the Pitjantjatjara lands 
continues to grow. Approval was granted for a regional geoscience program of bedrock and 
groundwater drilling to be carried out on Pitjantjatjara lands.

In an Australian first, agreements involving the native title claimants, several petroleum 
exploration companies and the state government were signed enabling the granting of 
10 new petroleum exploration licences in the Cooper Basin. The Cooper Basin was also 
the site of the first geothermal exploration licences granted in South Australia. Licences 
were granted to facilitate the construction of a new gas pipeline from the Victorian Otway 
Basin gasfields to Adelaide. Significant interest is being shown in the petroleum potential 
of offshore South Australia, particularly the Bight Basin where Woodside Energy Ltd has 
completed an extensive seismic acquisition program prior to drilling a well in 2002–03.

The very successful Targeted Exploration Initiative South Australia (TEISA) reached a 
conclusion this year. A key outcome of the petroleum program was the digital capture of 
major geoscientific data sets.

Sustainability in the energy portfolio continued to be a priority. The Government Energy 
Efficiency Action Plan was launched in May. The Electricity Demand Side Management 
Taskforce was established to define methods of reducing electrical demands, particularly 
during summer peak periods. In July the Solar Hot Water Rebate Scheme was introduced. 
The Whyalla Eco-Renovation House project was launched during the year. The project, 
a joint venture between Energy SA, the Whyalla City Council and the SA Housing Trust, 
involves the redesign and renovation of Housing Trust homes in Whyalla using ecological 
sustainable development principles.

Energy SA managed a state-wide petrol emergency in October resulting from a shortage of 
petroleum products at the Port Stanvac Refinery.

Agency support continued to be of a high standard. A framework to streamline 
procurement processes was developed, and six regionally based food scorecards were 
developed for Food South Australia. A Business Improvement unit was established and 
the PIRRISK framework for managing risk was established. Progress has been made 
on the implementation of the Disability Action Plan. The major focus has been on the 
improvement of communications systems and the planning of a facilities audit.

There were a number of programs ongoing again this year to combat incursions of pests 
and diseases in plants and in animals:

• The discovery of the invasive marine seaweed, Caulerpa taxifolia in West Lakes and 
the Port River presented a serious threat to the environment and nearby associated 
marine industries.
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• An Ovine Johne’s Disease (OJD) zone status difference was approved between 
Kangaroo Island and mainland South Australia, to facilitate disease control strategies.

• A draft plan for a national approach to Bovine Johne’s Disease (BJD) was released 
during the year.

• The use of sterile insect technology to eradicate fruit fly resulted in reduced chemical 
use and a shorter period of treatment.

• Surveys in South Australia and into Victoria continued for branched broomrape.

• Significant progress was made in developing effective control measures for white 
snails in the state’s crops and pastures, and in the control of American Foulbrood in 
bees.

The foot-and-mouth outbreak in the United Kingdom led to a national impetus for 
enhancing Australia’s emergency animal disease preparedness. PIRSA developed policies 
and updated plans in emergency management, and recruited personnel to enhance 
emergency animal disease response.

Communicating effectively to our clients is critical to PIRSA’s ongoing success. Open 
Gate, PIRSA’s quarterly publication, provides a valuable service to primary producers. 
PIRSA also supports major regional field days, the Royal Adelaide Show and in 2001 was 
the major sponsor of the Limestone Coast exhibit at the Royal Farm Expo. The South East 
Resource Information Centre was also opened during the year, and Energy SA continued to 
strengthen its links with the community by sponsoring major events such as Sunrace 2002.

Finally, I would like to make special mention of the PIRSA staff. I have been impressed by 
their expertise and their ability to maintain good relationships with our stakeholders. Their 
skills and commitment in the continued pursuit of excellence is very evident. In the short 
period of time that I have been Chief Executive of PIRSA I have been made very aware 
of the diversity of its role and responsibilities and with the agency’s achievements. I look 
forward to playing my part in meeting PIRSA’s goals and objectives in the future.

Jim Hallion
Chief Executive
Primary Industries and Resources South Australia
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Organisation chart
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Highlights

PIRSA highlights for 2001–02 are provided below, together with a page 
reference to their further discussion. 

Food for the Future
• The State Food Plan and Program 2001–04 was released with funding of $1.8 million 

per year for the next three years, and the first year of the program was implemented. 
(pp. 25–26)

• An accountability framework was developed for State Food Program outcomes across 
agencies. (p. 26)

• A national demand-chain project was implemented with a major retailer in Singapore. 
(p. 27)

• The South Australia Food Online website was redeveloped and launched. (p. 29)

Food and Fibre
Agricultural Industries
• Negotiations for the launch of the Australian Grain Technologies wheat breeding 

company were completed. (p. 30)

• The potential to double return from grazing industries in the Lower South East was 
established. (p. 32)

• An Ovine Johne’s Disease zone status difference was approved between Kangaroo 
Island and mainland South Australia to facilitate disease control strategies. (p. 34)

• Significant progress was made in control of American Foulbrood in bees. (pp. 34–35)

• The sheep industry agreed to a voluntary scheme to identify sheep on a flock basis. 
(p. 35)

• A different approach to treatment of fruit fly has resulted in reduced chemical use and 
a shorter period of treatment.(p. 36)

• Mallee farmers were able to evaluate new farming systems on their own farms. (p. 41)

• Over 90 businesses were assisted via the Supporting Sustainable Industries in the 
Rangelands project. (p. 41)

Fisheries
• A White Shark Response Plan was developed to coordinate government and associated 

organisations’ responses. (p. 46)

• A Recreational Rock Lobster Pot Program resulting in 13 275 pot registrations was 
implemented together with online applications for registrations. (p. 46)

• Joint state and Commonwealth management arrangements for school and gummy 
sharks were implemented. (p. 47)

• Additional Fisheries Compliance officers were recruited. (p. 47)

• New risk management arrangements were introduced for the management of fisheries. 
(p. 47)
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• The total allowable catch for the Southern Zone Rock Lobster Fishery was increased. 
(p. 47)

• Online EFTPOS facilities were implemented across the state for payment of fisheries 
fees and services. (p. 49)

Aquaculture
• The value of aquaculture production increased more than 15 per cent from 2000–01 

indicating continued high level of interest and activity. (p. 50)

• A surveillance program to ensure disease-free status of South Australia’s aquatic 
animals commenced following the establishment of a Fish Health unit. (p. 51)

• The Aquaculture Act 2001 came into operation on 1 July 2002. It is recognised as the 
most comprehensive legislation for aquaculture management in Australia. (pp. 52, 53)

SARDI
• Negotiations for the launch of the Australian Grain Technologies wheat breeding 

company were completed. (p. 56)

• Genes for resistance to barley scald, spot form net blotch, yellow leaf spot and septoria 
were identified. (p. 56)

• The South Australian cherry industry invested in research and development to secure 
the industry’s future. (p. 58)

• A technique to significantly increase bunch yield per vine for Merlot wine grapes was 
identified. (p. 59)

• Production and management skills for the pork industry are being enhanced following 
the appointment of a leader for the Pig and Poultry Production Institute. (p. 59)

• Industry funded projects in the meat and wool area have expanded. (p. 60)

• A new initiative, the Environment and Ecology Program, focusing on environmental 
sustainability, was established. (p. 63)

• Wild fisheries research programs were restructured to support ecosystems-based 
management of fisheries and supporting environments. (p. 63)

Sustainable Resources
• Seventeen species of Australian native plants are now being offered commercially via 

contracted arrangements with Israel. (p. 72)

• A marine pest incursion response was initiated for the invasive seaweed Caulerpa 
taxifolia. (p. 73)

• Herbicides were identified for control of a broad range of host plants for branched 
broomrape. (pp. 73–74)

• The Natural Resource Management Secretariat was established to replace the Natural 
Heritage Trust Secretariat. (p. 75)

• The Integrated Natural Resource Management Bill was submitted to Parliament. 
(p. 75)

• Priority projects were identified for the National Action Plan for Salinity and Water 
Quality, and the South Australian Dryland Salinity Strategy was released in November. 
(p. 75)

• The Fish habitat handbook for South Australian coastal waters was released. (p. 77)

• An Adelaide Outback SA Office and the South East Resource Information Centre were 
established. (pp. 79, 81)
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• A new FarmBis program commenced. (p. 79)

• A Pastoral Public Access Strategy scoping study was completed and 10 public access 
routes gazetted. (p. 80)

Minerals and Energy Resources
Mineral Resources
• Company exploration expenditure for calendar year 2001 showed a 33.5 per cent 

increase on the previous year indicating a substantial turn around in activity in the 
state. (p. 85)

• Airborne orthoimagery data is being acquired, and regional bedrock and groundwater 
drilling programs carried out in Pitjantjatjara lands following approval from Anangu 
Pitjantjatjara. (p. 87)

• The South Australian Resources Information Geoserver (SARIG) was significantly 
upgraded. (p. 88)

• The Office of Minerals and Energy Resources hosted its second open day in March. 
(p. 88)

• The Mineral Resources Group launched a minerals identification kit for educational 
purposes. (p. 88)

Petroleum
• In an Australian first, a historic series of template native title agreements were signed 

enabling grant of 10 new petroleum exploration licences. (p. 93)

• Pipeline licences were granted to facilitate major infrastructure projects to construct 
gas pipelines from offshore Otway Basin gasfields to Adelaide. (p. 94)

• Targeted exploration initiative petroleum (TEISA) projects reached successful 
conclusions with a key outcomes being the digital capture of major geoscientific data 
sets. (pp. 94, 100)

• Statements of environmental objectives were formulated as a basis for efficient co-
regulation of petroleum activities pursuant to multiple Acts. (p. 96)

• Two research studies of impacts of seismic operations on fauna indicate that impacts 
are more visual than ecological. (p. 98)

Energy SA
• A project to identify factors inhibiting the growth of the renewable energy industry in 

South Australia was commissioned. (p. 102)

• The final decision on Envestra Ltd’s access arrangement for the South Australian 
Natural Gas Distribution System was issued. (p. 105)

• Work continued to progress the introduction of retail competition. (p. 106)

• The Solar Hot Water Rebate Scheme commenced. (p. 107)

• The Whyalla Eco-Renovation Home was opened. (p. 107)

• The Government Energy Efficiency Action Plan was launched. (p. 108)

Agency support
• Regular Business Support Forums were held to ensure consistent human resource 

practice across the agency. (p. 119)

• A framework to streamline procurement processes was developed. (p. 120)



12 PIRSA Annual Report 2001–02 PIRSA Annual Report 2001–02 13

• Groups are being assisted to develop priority setting processes. (p. 120)

• Six regionally based food scorecards were developed for Food for the Future (p. 120)

• A Business Improvement unit was established. (p. 122)

• The PIRRISK framework for managing risk was implemented. (p. 122)



14 PIRSA Annual Report 2001–02 PIRSA Annual Report 2001–02 15

The year ahead

Food for the Future
• Oversee the implementation of year two of the State Food Program — determine 

strategic sector development requirements; deliver benefits from demonstration projects 
in value-adding; and improve systems to support regional capacity and capability 
development.

• Deliver export facilitation services — extend the demand-chain platform capability 
to new customers and new markets; match buyer requirements with food company 
capabilities; and identify priority export capability requirements based on buyers’ 
feedback.

• Implement a new regional wine–food–tourism initiative and facilitate the development 
of regional food plans and food groups.

• Review whole-of-government processes and management tools and recommend 
improvements to minimise duplication of services and maximise the impact of the South 
Australian Government’s investment in food industry development.

• Oversee the development of policy and service delivery options through the Issues 
Group Strategic Agenda — develop and implement internationally recognised product 
integrity systems; prepare research and development and innovation systems that support 
the food industry; ensure that food industry growth is congruent with environmental 
sustainability; and consider planning system requirements and their impact on food 
industry development.

• Deliver the 2002 Food Industry ScoreCard, complete regional scorecards and develop a 
range of additional measures or lead indicators of change.

Food and Fibre
Agricultural Industries
• Implement a collaborative program to increase the productivity of the grazing industries 

in the South East.

• Assist in implementation the Dairy Industry Development Board’s strategic plan 
including doubling milk production by 2010.

• Improve PIRSA’s disease surveillance, monitoring and investigation services and 
emergency disease response capability through further recruitment.

• Develop operational plans for emergency response to fisheries and aquaculture incidents.

• Establish effective indicators of good manufacturing practice within the poultry and 
game sectors, including a microbiological baseline for products.

• Add a new sustainability stream to the Horticulture Program as projects identified in 
2001–02 are developed and rolled out.

• Initiate industry workshops to review and apply national guidelines for the safe 
manufacture of smallgoods.

• Continue to provide consultancies to the food sector to accelerate the uptake of HACCP 
plans and quality assurance, particularly in the seafood postharvest sector, retail 
butchers, new businesses in the meat industry and the transport sector.

• Continue to facilitate farming systems projects in the Eyre Peninsula, Mallee, Upper 
North and South East of the state.
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Fisheries
• Complete the review of the Fisheries Act 1982.

• Review and/or develop fisheries management plans for all major fisheries.

• Implement an eradication program for the invasive marine seaweed Caulerpa taxifolia.

• Implement restructure arrangements for the River Fishery.

• Implement charter boat management arrangements.

• Implement national environmentally sustainable development reporting requirements 
for Fisheries.

• Implement revised management arrangements for the Northern Zone Rock Lobster 
Fishery.

Aquaculture
• Establish joint industry and government fish health working groups to exchange 

information, highlight industry issues and facilitate the production of codes of practice.

• Develop and adopt statutory policies to support the Aquaculture Act 2001 in 
conjunction with the Aquaculture Advisory Committee and seeking substantial public 
consultation.

• Assume all marine and land-based licensing and leasing arrangements under the 
Aquaculture Act (previously administered under the Fisheries Act 1982).

• Adopt competitive tenure allocation, in conjunction with the establishment of an 
Aquaculture Tenure Allocation Board.

SARDI
• Continue to pursue the development of initiatives that deliver sustainable outcomes for 

South Australian fisheries and aquaculture industries.

• Ensure support for the sustainable development of the state’s emerging aquaculture 
industries, progressing the existing initiatives and developing infrastructure.

• Develop capabilities in the assessment, control and (where possible) the eradication of 
invasive marine pests.

• Build SARDI’s focus on the sustainable management of inland waters through 
collaborative programs with key state and national agencies, including the Murray-
Darling Basin Commission.

• Address challenges with other research providers and private industry, such as the first 
year of operation with Australian Grain Technologies and the first funding year for the 
Malting Barley Program.

• Review the Malting Barley Quality Improvement Program in preparation for the 
commencement of its third five-year term.

• Progress the establishment of a new joint venture in feed and specialist food barley.

• Progress new arrangements for the national pulse improvement programs.

• Focus SARDI’s strategic research area on viticulture, sustainability issues in existing 
SARDI-serviced industries, and postharvest horticulture for focus and growth in 
2002–03.

• Continue to attract industry funding from research and development corporations 
through high-quality science and timely delivery of readily applicable outputs.

• Make a significant impact on the direction and implementation of horticultural 
research and development under the National Horticulture Research Network; explore 
new initiatives for commercial delivery of projects.



16 PIRSA Annual Report 2001–02 PIRSA Annual Report 2001–02 17

• Progress collaborative efforts in consolidating biomolecular programs in support of 
wool and meat production through the appointment of a new chief scientist.

Sustainable Resources
• Eradicate Caulerpa taxifolia throughout West Lakes and the upper reaches of Port 

Adelaide River, beginning with trials in West Lakes to test a preferred method.

• Establish a clear process for input to greenhouse matters and extend existing 
greenhouse networks to cover both PIRSA and the Department of Water, Land and 
Biodiversity Conservation.

• Release the Fisheries habitat inventory.

• Complete the first fisheries habitat management plan.

• Continue FarmBis training with an emphasis on capability development among youth, 
women and indigenous sectors, as well as where the greatest impact can be made in 
regional communities and industry.

• Coordinate a South Australian Rural Leadership course.

• Finalise the Central North East Farm Assistance program.

• Coordinate the Rural Industry Research and Development Rural Women’s Award.

• Develop a process which rural communities can use to assess their capability to 
achieve their desired future.

• Publish a directory of available informal leadership programs for rural South 
Australians.

• Implement a community support strategy in the Murray-Darling Basin.

Minerals and Energy Resources
Mineral Resources
• Build and maintain links and understanding between the conservation sector and the 

mining industry through the development of a framework for consultation, liaison and 
relationship development with key stakeholder groups.

• Further enhance the Minerals channel of the PIRSA website by October 2002.

• Implement a new approach to the Broken Hill Exploration Initiative emphasising 
cross-border cooperation, collaboration and coordination of research on shared 
geoscientific and exploration problems in the Curnamona Province.

Petroleum
• Progress native title agreements as a precedent to the grant of exploration licences in 

the Copper Basin.

• Review statements of environmental objectives for Otway Basin seismic, and Cooper 
Basin drilling, production and processing.

• Educate industry to improve compliance with provisions of the Petroleum Act 2000.

• Identify amendments to the Petroleum Act to resolve a number of issues discovered 
during its implementation.

• By priority (of potential value to South Australia), instigate and facilitate negotiations 
to conclude access agreements for exploration areas outside the Cooper Basin, where 
access agreements are a necessary prerequisite to the grant of tenements.

• Promote exploration opportunities to reach both domestic and overseas investors.

• Effectively administer exploration activity under all relevant legislation.
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Energy SA
• Continue to meet the contractual obligations of the Natural Gas Authority of South 

Australia.

• Continue to monitor security of supply for gas, electricity and transport fuels and 
implement procedures to ensure that essential service providers continue to have 
access to these for as long as possible following an interruption to supply.

• Amend the Gas Pipelines Access (South Australia) Act 1997 to implement any 
changes agreed by relevant jurisdictional ministers.

• Implement energy market reform in the gas market that will lead to increased 
consumer choice.

• Increase the number of installations of grid-connected and stand-alone renewable 
energy systems through renewable power generation rebates.

• Increase the number of solar hot water systems installed in South Australia through the 
Solar Hot Water Rebate Scheme.

• Continue assisting energy projects that promote innovation in energy efficiency, and 
related sustainable and renewable energy technologies and practices.

Agency support
• Streamline clients to PIRSA financial systems debtor payment processes by 

implementing electronic functions.

• Adopt a landlord model to increase financial awareness and transparency of costs 
across PIRSA; develop an accommodation model to streamline occupancy changes.

• Implement the Energy Efficiency Communication Strategy.

• Develop a strategy for provision of internal audit services to PIRSA groups.

• Create and implement a framework for leadership and management development.

• Develop a graduate development policy and program for Finance and Business 
Services.

• Implement the new human resource management system.

• Develop the Mineral ScoreCard.

• Streamline PIRSA’s strategic planning process.

• Undertake structural adjustment research for the primary industries sector.

• Further develop eBusiness opportunities across PIRSA.
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PIRSA’s role

Organisation
As a consequence of the change of government in early 2002 many staff working in 
Sustainable Resources Group were transferred to the new Department of Water, Land and 
Biodiversity Conservation (DWLBC). The following functions were transferred — Pastoral 
Management; Water Management; Animal and Plant Control; Land Management and 
Revegetation; Strategic and Environmental Services (excluding Policy, Planning and 
Environmental Services); and Landcare and Landcare education. Programs and activities 
retained by PIRSA include FarmBis; Exceptional Circumstances; Rural Communities; Rural 
Affairs; Advisory Board on Agriculture; Marine Habitat (administered under Fisheries Acts); 
and Strategic and Environmental Services Policy. For the purposes of this annual report all 
activities of the former Sustainable Resources Group are reported here. There were no other 
organisational changes.

Strategic context
VISION
• South Australia’s resources managed in a sustainable manner

• our people enthusiastic

• the future exciting.

BUSINESS
Optimising return on the state’s natural assets by:

• fostering sustainable management and development of the food, fibre, minerals and 
energy sectors

• facilitating global competitiveness and innovative solutions

• building partnerships between industry, the community and government

• providing information and knowledge to help people make the right decisions for 
themselves

• regulating to preserve the benefits for future generations.

VALUES
PIRSA is an organisation that values people, commitment, integrity, empowerment and 
accountability, innovation, collaboration, customer service and achievement; these values 
drive the culture and style of the agency.

OUTCOMES
PIRSA will deliver these outcomes for South Australia:

1. growth and development of innovative and internationally competitive primary, 
resource and energy based industries in South Australia

2. ecologically sustainable development of the primary industries, resources and energy 
sectors



18 PIRSA Annual Report 2001–02 PIRSA Annual Report 2001–02 19

3. restored and enhanced productive landscapes and ecosystems

4. prosperous and self-reliant regional communities that confidently respond to change

5. PIRSA is a respected, credible and successful organisation.

STRATEGIC PRIORITIES
To realise outcomes 1–4, PIRSA will deliver programs and services with emphasis on the 
following strategic priorities:

• Industry development — provide support for industry and regional development that 
focuses on global market opportunities.

• Innovation industry — promote and facilitate new and value-adding industry that 
builds on the states’ knowledge, infrastructure and innovation capability.

• Risks and biological contaminant threats — successfully manage risks including, 
biological and contaminant threats, to the environment, production efficiencies and 
market access.

• Integrated policy framework, regulation and compliance — create through 
consultation, effective policy and regulatory frameworks to enhance industry and 
community confidence.

• Ecologically sustainable development — enhance the capacity of community 
and industry to integrate, achieve and report against environmentally sustainable 
development principles.

• Remedial actions — harness community and government resources to rehabilitate 
degraded systems and sites.

• Building community capacity — build capacity, leadership and global awareness in 
industry, and rural and indigenous communities.

• Partnerships — negotiate effective partnerships with industry, rural and indigenous 
communities, Commonwealth Government and local government for regional and 
industry development.

• Access to information and services — improve industry and regional access to 
information that supports better business decisions.

To realise outcome 5 PIRSA emphasises the following strategic priorities that describe the 
kind of organisation that it strives to be:

• PIRSA is a great place to work — we attract, develop and support our people; we 
provide a positive work culture.

• We manage results — we manage our resources well; we provide leadership; our 
business processes are effective and efficient.

• We grow and harness our knowledge — our knowledge is a key business asset.

• We build collaborative relationships with others — our success depends on building 
and maintaining our relationships with clients, stakeholders and the community.

OBJECTIVES
PIRSA’s strategic plan is not prescriptive regarding corporate goals and objectives because 
of the very diverse nature of the agency’s operations and responsibilities, and the difficulty 
of stating high-level objectives that have any meaning for any single PIRSA group. Instead 
it seeks to provide everyone with a clear statement of priorities that are important to the 
South Australian Government, PIRSA’s Chief Executive and Executive, and the many staff 
and stakeholders who have been consulted during the planning.
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Figure 1: PIRSA’s links to Government objectives
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The plan acknowledges that groups are in the best position to identify meaningful, practical 
objectives that will take PIRSA forward and towards delivering its outcomes. The PIRSA 
plan signals the agency’s priorities in both what is to be achieved and how those results 
are to be achieved. The latter describes the style and character of the organisation and the 
working relationships with stakeholders it wants to maintain or develop.

There is a continuing emphasis on industry development in response to global market 
signals and opportunities, and the ongoing needs to ensure that the state’s resources are not 
adversely impacted by those industries (acknowledging that mining and energy industries 
are extracting for community benefit, non-renewable resources). The scope of the plan 
continues coverage of simpler, integrated policy development, community development, 
response to emergencies, research and development and service delivery in its many forms.

LINKS TO GOVERNMENT OBJECTIVES
PIRSA’s strategic and operational planning processes ensure that the agency’s outcomes 
and outputs align with government objectives. Whole-of-government ministerial outcomes 
define PIRSA’s strategic plan and in turn group strategic plans. Group strategic plans 
reflect the PIRSA strategic priorities and these define the programs and corresponding 
projects or services planned and executed by PIRSA groups.

The relationships between the former South Australian Government’s objectives, priority 
areas and initiatives (applicable for much of this reporting year), and PIRSA outcomes and 
outputs are illustrated in Figure 1. In addition PIRSA collaborates extensively with other 
government agencies as projects are increasingly cross-government (for example Food for 
the Future).
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Ecological sustainability

The government paper, Public sector responsiveness in the 21st century, has highlighted 
the need for a new view of government business drivers. It points out that public service 
performance can no longer be measured in terms only of economic efficiency and 
effectiveness. PIRSA recognises that ‘the triple bottom line of economic, social and 
environmental factors is important when pursuing whole-of-government outcomes’ and 
is seeking to advance the government’s envisaged outcomes in the primary industries 
and resources sectors. Leading companies such as Western Mining Corporation and 
organisations like the World Business Council for Sustainable Development appear to be 
well ahead of public sector organisations.

PIRSA is determined to be sustainable, or more accurately, ecologically sustainable, and 
the triple bottom line approach is clearly the logical path. That is, it is moving towards 
a situation where PIRSA’s operations, products and services are — where practicable in 
terms of current knowledge and technology — sustainable with regard to its impact on the 
social, economic and environmental setting (triple bottom line outcomes) within which 
it operates. PIRSA is making progress, but has found the sustainability goal more elusive 
than anticipated.

Raising staff awareness through briefings and workshops has been effective, but translating 
that into capability and application in the workplace relies on revision of many years 
of traditional concepts, operations and record keeping. A major staff development 
workshop for senior and executive staff in late 2001 provided a common understanding of 
sustainability issues and elicited a wide range of ideas for the future from all sectors of the 
agency.

PIRSA’s Ecologically Sustainable Development Task Force, established in 2000–01, 
developed a strategic proposal which PIRSA Executive are currently assessing. The main 
points submitted were:

• Definitions of ecologically sustainable development and triple bottom line reporting 
that are specific to PIRSA.

• Become ‘greenhouse neutral’ by balancing PIRSA’s fossil fuel consumption with in-
house generation of renewable energy and the planting of greenhouse gas sinks.

• Extend the volunteer program to make provision for staff to be released from their 
regular tasks for a number of hours each month to work in community projects (e.g. 
environmental) that are aimed at establishing a sustainable community.

• Review PIRSA’s ecological footprint (i.e. the agency’s impact on society, the 
environment and the economy).

• Report on PIRSA’s sustainability and ecological footprint via a triple bottom line 
report.

Following the election results and South Australian Government re-organisation in 
early 2002, the task force was re-established and a number of sustainability initiatives 
progressed, including:

• relations with PIRSA’s suppliers and consumers

• determination of appropriate parameters, indicators and targets of sustainability

• review of the revised Global reporting initiative guidelines <www.globalreporting.org
> as basis for a triple bottom line report.

 http://www.globalreporting.com 
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A number of specific initiatives were implemented by PIRSA groups during the year and 
are described below.

Aquaculture — policy framework
The Aquaculture Act 2001, assented to in December 2001, has as its primary objective, ‘to 
promote ecologically sustainable development of marine and inland aquaculture’. Statutory 
policies are being developed to support this and licence conditions and regulations will 
translate the policies into actions by industry and government. Biological and physical 
investigations are in progress to support sustainable management practices and identify 
suitable areas for growth in the aquaculture industry.

SARDI energy savings
Under SARDI, the Plant Research Centre at Waite was designed from the outset to 
include built-in energy saving features such as the co-generation set, hot water storage 
and recycling, air conditioning economy modes (making maximum use of outside air), 
ice making and recycling of ice melt, a comprehensive building management system for 
fine control of major plant, and time schedule control of work area lighting in the centre’s 
under-plaza. While the task of achieving further savings in energy consumption is difficult, 
SARDI has managed to effect the changes outlined in Table 1 and has several plans for 
further reduction in energy consumption.

Table 1: Energy consumption savings at the Plant Research Centre, Waite

Area Action Estimated 
saving per year 
($)

Completed
Electricity meters Negotiated with ETSA combining the two meters into a single 

billing.
8 000

De-lamping Removed fluorescent lamps from areas with high-illumination 
levels, saving about 400 lamps.

8 000

Under-plaza lighting Installed manually controlled switches for after-hours access 
lighting in under-plaza so that main lights can be shut off 
outside working hours.

3 000

Co-generation plant 
operating hours 

Plant re-programmed to come off the 24-hour regime, to shut 
down at various times and to utilise cheaper off-peak tariff 
electricity.

10 000

Refrigerated 
greenhouses

Return air pods modified to reduce short-circuiting of air 
movement and over-cooling.

300

Seed barn de-humidifiers Dehumidification systems modified to run during off-peak tariff 
times.

5 000

Cool rooms Defrost cycles modified to operate on off-peak tariff electricity. 200
Waste heat usage Co-generator controls modified to improve waste heat 

utilisation.
5 000

Ice making Controls modified to operate ice maker on off-peak tariff 
electricity.

1 500

Brine chiller 
temperatures 

Controls modified to automatically reset chiller temperatures 
dependent on demand.

1 100

Brine pumps Controls modified to enhance pump efficiencies. 4 000
Condenser water pump Variable frequency drive installed to gain more precise control 

of pump operations.
3 000

Chilled-water low-load 
pump 

Variable frequency drive installed to gain more precise control 
of pump operations.

1 000
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Office of Minerals and Energy Resources — environmental 
management
The Mineral Resources Group is in the process of finalising a Land access procedures 
manual for its staff. The manual includes detailed environmental management, landholder 
liaison and Aboriginal heritage guidelines, procedures and checklists, and clearly defines the 
obligations and responsibilities of staff while they undertake field activities. Consideration of 
issues relating to the environment, landholder relations and Aboriginal heritage contributes to 
the social and environmental bottom lines.

An environmental reference metadatabase is being developed as part of an environmental 
and planning information hub. It will be accessible on the internet and will assist staff, 
industry and the community in the identification of relevant environmental information 
for specific petroleum and mineral areas around the state. The aim is to facilitate improved 
environmental performance of resource industry activities thus contributing to both the social 
and environmental bottom lines.

Energy SA — greening the office
The power consumption of office equipment (such as computers, photocopiers and printers) 
has been monitored as a greening the office initiative at Energy SA and results disseminated 
to staff to help them save energy. Refurbishment of the Advisory Centre at Level 16 
Wakefield House included workstations designed with easy access to power points, enabling 
staff to avoid stand-by power losses normally caused by leaving power points on overnight.

Government Energy Efficiency Action Plan
In response to the Government Energy Efficiency Action Plan, PIRSA has developed a 
comprehensive implementation plan aimed at reducing its energy consumption by 15 per 
cent by 2010. Achievements to date include collection of building and transport energy usage 
data, development of a staff awareness and behaviour-raising strategy, and listing of non-
contestable PIRSA sites in preparation for full retail contestability in 2003 (App. 4). PIRSA 
is also now represented on a reference group established by state Cabinet in November 
to oversee implementation of the Government Energy Efficiency Action Plan across all 
portfolios.

Table 1: Energy consumption savings at the Plant Research Centre, Waite continued

Area Action Estimated 
saving per year 
($)

Proposed
Growth room lighting Encourage users to run lighting on off-peak tariff. Requires 

close cooperation of chief scientists and other staff.
10 000

Greenhouse shade cloth Close all greenhouse shade blinds for night-time running. 1 500
Air conditioning systems Install optimum start software. 1 500
Air conditioning systems Modify primary controls to reduce cost of equipment cooling. 2 500
Office–laboratory lighting Educate staff to switch off lighting in areas not in use. 2 000
Office equipment Educate staff to switch off photocopiers, printers, computer 

sets etc. when not in use.
500
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Performance review

In this year’s annual report, performance is reviewed against strategic priorities.

FOOD FOR THE FUTURE
The aim of the South Australian Government’s State Food Plan is to achieve an innovative, 
internationally competitive food industry that contributes $15 billion to the state economy 
by 2010. The Premier’s Food Council, chaired by the Premier, endorsed an updated State 
Food Plan 2001–04. The State Food Plan is supported by the State Food Program 2001–04, 
which outlines the government’s contribution to accelerating the development of the food 
industry.

The State Food Program is delivered through PIRSA, the Department of Industry and 
Trade, Transport SA and Food for the Future. Progress is monitored by the Premier’s 
Food Council. This unique initiative ensures a coordinated and consistent delivery of 
government programs with maximum impact on industry development outcomes.

Strategic priority 1 — INDUSTRY DEVELOPMENT — 
provide support for industry and regional development that 
focuses on global market opportunities
State Food Plan 2001–04
The updated State Food Plan 2001–04 was publicly released 
in October. The plan identifies four development priorities: 
innovative value adding of commodity products; branded, 
differentiated products; integrated demand chains; and export 
systems to targeted markets. The plan also has six capability 
requirements to underpin the development priorities: culture of 
innovation and collaboration; market development processes; 
innovative product development; innovative demand-chain 
practices; environmentally sustainable production; and strategic 
investment. The plan was developed through a consultation 
process in regional areas, with sector industry development boards 
and export-oriented companies.

State Food Program 2001–04
The State Food Program 2001–04 was released in October, with 
the State Food Plan. The program is government’s commitment to 
facilitate development opportunities and help build capabilities in 
the food industry. It constitutes four new initiatives: demonstration 
projects in value adding to commodity products; building regional capacity and 
capabilities; building global competitiveness and innovation; and new export development.

Within these initiatives there are 11 sub-programs that have been developed and funded 
through three government agencies; Department of Industry and Trade, PIRSA and 
Transport SA. The initiatives were allocated funds for $1.8 million per year for the three-
year duration of the plan.

20
04

22
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The first year of the program has been delivered and it has been monitored under an 
accountability framework (a project review and reporting system). Progress reports are made 
to the Premier’s Food Council each quarter and detailed assessment of the reports are made 
by working committees.

Over the last year, the core delivery agencies and their partners have: completed scoping 
studies for new product development and opportunities in new markets; secured funding 
from industry and Commonwealth Government sources; developed new chains, alliances 
and networks; facilitated entry into strategic markets; and provided training and facilitated 
access to market, product development and other information.

A series of demonstration projects are under way in product development in the areas of 
wheat, barley, pulses, meat, farmed seafood, native foods and dairy; product testing of wheat 
for development of high-protein wheat flour and tempura pre-mixes for export to Asia was 
initiated. Organic barley tea bags are being trialled in Korea. The Food Exports Logistics 
Training Program package was completed and trialled in Berri, Adelaide and Port Lincoln. 
A retail platform has been established in Singapore, facilitating the introduction of 1600 
new Australian grocery lines as part of an Australian Pavilion (see below Demand-chain 
development). In partnership with Food Adelaide, new business was initiated with major 
buyers from Japan, Taiwan, and Singapore, facilitated by the International Buyers Program.

While preliminary scoping of most of the 40 State Food Program projects has been 
completed, the challenge in the coming year is to facilitate the progression to product 
development, testing and commercial trials. This is likely to create a demand for even greater 
collaboration and project management across organisational boundaries.

Account management process
A whole-of-government account management process has been designed to speed up 
the development of significant demand-chain projects in the food industry. This process 
improves the delivery of government services to industry by planning and integrating 
government assistance across agencies. Projects to be considered for account management 
must be strategically important to the state or a region. They should also involve a range 
of issues that could benefit from an integrated approach across government. Progress 
of account-managed projects is monitored and reported quarterly to the Premier’s Food 
Council.

National Food Industry Strategy
In early 2001, the Commonwealth Government announced that it would develop a National 
Food Industry Strategy. The strategy was developed with extensive input from state food 
councils and individual food companies, with South Australia providing a significant 
contribution. In September the Prime Minister publicly announced a $102.4 million, five-
year National Food Industry Strategy with funding commencing from July 2002.

Export facilitation
The export facilitation work program is based on a detailed Export Facilitation Plan by 
Market. The program involves a target export strategy developed with Food Adelaide (South 
Australian Food and Beverage Exporters Association) that focuses on specific markets and 
opportunities where South Australian food industry companies can be competitive. A major 
focus of this strategy is growing value-added food exports including seafood, horticultural 
products, and processed food and beverages.

In 2001–02, priority markets were Japan, Taiwan and Singapore–Malaysia, with exploration 
opportunities being undertaken in the United Kingdom and the United Arab Emirates. 
During the development of a strategy in each market, a mix of export-ready delivery systems 
work in partnership with export-ready companies.
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In-market representation through Food Adelaide
Food Adelaide’s commercial representation continued in Japan (Osaka) and Taiwan 
(Taipei) and successfully led to the development of new export opportunities for 
participating companies.

Within the State Food Plan and Program for 2001–04, funding has been provided for in-
country representatives in new markets. The case for this initiative has been demonstrated 
along with industry support. The full implementation of this initiative is yet to be 
completed.

Demand-chain development
Food for the Future staff managed, on behalf of Supermarket To Asia, a national demand-
chain demonstration project in Singapore. The project developed an Australian Pavilion 
with a major retailer and the development of a one-stop consolidation system that delivers 
products from Australia direct to the retailer. 

Twenty-three South Australian companies participated in the opening of the Australian 
Pavilion and supplied a range of packaged grocery products exceeding some 100 new 
lines. The majority of these companies continue to supply the Singapore market and two 
companies have had their products ranged in another 32 supermarket outlets.

Export market promotion plan
The South Australian food industry participated in major food exhibits in Tokyo (Tokyo 
Seafood Show, FOODEX), Singapore (Food and Hotel Asia) and Taiwan (Food Taipei) 
with the support of Food Adelaide, International SA and Department of Industry and Trade.

The highly successful International Buyers Program continued throughout 2001–02 
with buyers visiting South Australia from Japan, Taiwan and Singapore. All buyers have 
developed new business with South Australian companies.

A market awareness mission was undertaken for South Australian companies new to the 
Singapore market. The mission was lead by CIBM and Food for the Future.

A successful South Australian gourmet food promotion targeting food service was 
undertaken in April at the six-star Osaka Ritz Carlton hotel. Food Adelaide managed this 
event with the Ritz Carlton and involved chef Andrew Fielke using highest quality South 
Australian seafood and meat products along with Australian native flavours to prepare 
unique dishes in the famed Le Baie restaurant.

This promotion, supported by Food for the Future, has stimulated inquiries from other 
Japanese chefs for South Australia’s gourmet food ingredients. The promotion is supported 
by a supply chain in place through an importer–distributor who has been to South Australia 
under the International Buyers Program and is sourcing South Australian gourmet foods.

Domestic market development
Food for the Future has provided funding to Flavour SA for the establishment of a Retail 
Food Facilitation program to focus on enabling smaller producers to access national 
retailers and for producers of premium food products to access buyers in Sydney and 
Melbourne.

Developing export capabilities
A comprehensive Export Readiness program that was to have been undertaken by CIBM 
was delayed due to the inability to find a suitable person to undertake this role.
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Innovation
A program was established to investigate the food industry education, training, and 
research and development requirements. The universities and TAFE institutions are 
partners in the initiative, which has identified 11 projects to better align the innovation 
system with food industry needs.

Premier’s Food and Fibre Awards
The Premier’s Food and Fibre Awards, held in November, attracted the largest number 
of applications yet. The awards recognise and celebrate the achievements of individuals 
and companies who have demonstrated a commitment to excellence. Categories included: 
Achievement in Horticulture, Meat, Field Crops, Dairy, Seafood, and Wool and other 
fibres. Leadership Awards were given to companies demonstrating leadership through 
innovation, new export development, training and development, and a young achiever 
was recognised for their contribution to the industry. All finalist and award winners 
demonstrated the benefits of commitment to delivering quality products to customers’ 
specifications.

The prestige of these awards is opening the doors to new commercial opportunities for 
winners and providing role models and success stories for others in the industry.

TARGETS FOR 2002–03
• Review the effectiveness of the account management process.

• Provide executive support to the Premier’s Food Council and the Issues Group.

• Oversee the implementation of year two of the State Food Program — determine 
strategic sector development requirements in partnership with the Industry 
Development Boards; deliver benefits from demonstration projects in value-adding; 
and improve systems to support regional capacity and capability development.

• Deliver export facilitation services in partnership with Food Adelaide, Flavour SA 
and National Food Industry Strategy — extend the demand-chain platform capability 
to new customers and new markets; match buyer requirements with food company 
capabilities; and identify priority export capability requirements based on buyers’ 
feedback.

• Implement a new regional wine–food–tourism initiative and facilitate the development 
of regional food plans and food groups in partnership with regional development 
boards, the South Australian Tourism Commission and the South Australian Wine and 
Brandy Association.

• Manage the 2002 Premier’s Food Awards.

• Oversee the development of policy and service delivery options through the Issues 
Group Strategic Agenda — develop and implement internationally recognised 
product integrity systems; prepare research and development and innovation systems 
that support the food industry; ensure that food industry growth is congruent with 
environmental sustainability; and consider planning system requirements and their 
impact on food industry development.

• Influence national agendas that align with the State Food Plan objectives.

• Review whole-of-government processes and management tools and recommend 
improvements to minimise duplication of services and maximise the impact of the 
government’s investment in food industry development.
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Strategic priority 9 — ACCESS TO INFORMATION AND 
SERVICES — improve industry and regional access to 
information that supports better business decisions
South Australia Food Online
The South Australia Food Online website has been redeveloped to be an integrated 
eBusiness tool for the South Australian food industry; eCapability is a requirement for 
businesses in the Food Industry. The revised website was launched with the State Food 
Plan in October. It is aimed at international and domestic buyers and the South Australian 
food industry, and is divided into areas that address the differing needs of these key client 
groups.

The website features a ‘natural and safe’ theme to highlight the state’s natural advantages 
for food production and processing, and provides buyers with a searchable database of 
South Australian food products and the businesses that supply them. A key feature is 
the ‘solution search’, which produces a list of solution providers (facilitators, and goods 
and services providers) in response to a user’s business-orientated query. In addition a 
food business or organisation can obtain their own website and/or discussion community 
(eGroup) through South Australia Food Online.

The technology that drives the website has been used to develop tools that support 
the implementation of the State Food Program: the cross-government accountability 
framework; a toolkit for regional development boards; and a State Food Plan Helpline. 
The technology is being applied by other food industry related groups including the 
Commonwealth Government’s Food Chain Profit Program Learning Networks and 
eGroup, National Industries Development Program website and eGroup, Native Foods 
Roundtable eGroup, and Flavour SA, Food Barossa and Olives SA websites.

Food Industry ScoreCard
The Food Industry ScoreCard is the key tool used by the South Australian Government and 
industry to provide up-to-date information to measure the performance of South Australia’s 
agrifood industry. At the broad level the scorecard enables planners to understand the 
growth drivers and challenges within the food value chain, as well as to track revenue 
performance against the 2010 food target of $15 billion. The data analysed by the 
scorecard provides industry with critical benchmark information to identify opportunities 
and make comparative assessments of success.

A comprehensive range of quantitative measures has been developed for all agrifood 
sectors to show the level of growth achieved. Each stage of the food chain is considered 
from production to processing and through to consumption. This economic analysis 
determines both the gross and net values of production, exports interstate and overseas, 
imports, interstate trade, retail sales and contribution made by the food services sector.

During 2001–02, the state scorecard analysis was extended to 13 regions and almost half of 
these have been completed.

TARGETS FOR 2002–03
• Develop and implement a partial commercialisation plan for South Australia Food 

Online.

• Deliver the 2002 Food Industry ScoreCard.

• Complete regional scorecards.

• Develop a range of additional measures or lead indicators of change — environmental 
and social indicators; and structural change measures capturing development of new 
value chains, exported products and new brands.
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FOOD AND FIBRE
Food and Fibre incorporates the Agricultural Industries, Fisheries 
and Aquaculture Groups working in partnership with industries to 
create innovative development and resource protection strategies; 
enhance the knowledge, skills and confidence of industries 
enabling them to compete in the global market place; support 
the adoption of new technology to maintain competitiveness; 
and protect the plant and animal resources from pest and disease 
threats.

Agricultural Industries
The Agricultural Industries programs provide government 
resources and services supporting development of agriculture and 
protecting the production resources in South Australia. The group 
has responsibility for delivering industry development projects, 
technical services, policy advice to the Minister for Agriculture, 
Food and Fisheries and government, and developing legislation 
required by agricultural industries.

Agricultural Industries has a purchasing group which establishes 
strategy, policy and funding for significant government initiatives 
for the rural sector. The purchasing function is provided from the 
Horticulture, Plant Health, Field Crops, Livestock, Animal Health, 
Rural Chemicals, Meat Hygiene and Emergency Management 
Coordination groups.

Agricultural Industries also has a service provision group which operates 
as Rural Solutions SA. This is the key business unit linked to PIRSA 
providing services in agriculture, agribusiness, and natural resource 
management. Rural Solutions SA also provides a commercial consulting 
service to the private sector. It brings together the combined expertise 
of over 200 consultants operating from 25 offices and is focused on 
building teams to address problems and opportunities for rural industries 
and communities. The major accounts managed by Rural Solutions SA 
involve field crop development, horticultural development, land and 
water management, animal health and livestock industry development, 
revegetation strategies, regional development strategies, and special 
industry development projects.

Strategic priority 1 — INDUSTRY DEVELOPMENT 
— Provide support for industry and regional development 
that focuses on global market opportunities
Field crops
Wheat breeding
A team from PIRSA (Agricultural Industries and SARDI) and the University of Adelaide 
completed negotiations with the Grains Research and Development Corporation to 
form a new wheat breeding company. Australian Grain Technologies Pty Ltd is an 
amalgamation of South Australia’s grains research facilities into a new unit to deliver 
better wheat varieties faster than before. (see also SARDI)
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Barley foods project
PIRSA and Yorke Peninsula farming groups have undertaken a market scoping study 
of key national and international companies and research groups involved in foods and 
beverages utilising barley. A strategy document has been completed and opportunities 
presented to Yorke Peninsula farming groups.

Field Crops Industry Development Board
The Field Crops Industry Development Board completed a strategic plan for the industry 
and has identified the following issues to address — product differentiation, cultural and 
attitudinal change, and innovation in product development.

Industry development
PIRSA Rural Solutions was funded to provide industry development champions for the 
farming community, to identify value-adding opportunities, facilitate grower ownership 
of projects, encourage a learning culture in the community and provide the market 
with products it requires. Support was provided to the durum wheat industry to expand 
production and increase local value adding. A key achievement was the identification of 
potential new sustainable areas for expansion and development on Eyre Peninsula.

A high-protein quality wheat project with Orroroo farmers is under way to scope value-
adding opportunities, develop business plans where appropriate, and add to the capability 
of the region to evaluate proposals.

Livestock
Dairy
With deregulation of the Australian dairy industry, opportunities exist for expansion. 
Southeastern Australia is the preferred region due to lower costs of production. The Dairy 
Industry Development Board has worked with industry and government to develop an 
expansion plan for South Australia from 700 to 1500 million litres of milk by 2010 with 
processing capacity increasing three fold, doubling employment to 6500 people and with a 
ten-fold increase in exports to $570 million.

Pork
South Australia’s pork industry is in an expansion phase due to export market opportunities 
and the commissioning of two export pig abattoirs. PIRSA is assisting the Meat Industry 
Development Board, Department of Industry and Trade and industry to encourage 
expansion by establishing the role of government in the development of an attractive and 
sustainable investment environment in this state. PIRSA is active in the promotion of 
environmental and meat quality standards.

Better beef
Improved communication networks have been established to promote productivity in the 
beef industry following the appointment of a Beef Product Development Officer and the 
establishment of a Beef Development Team of key producers and industry players.

Meat Standards Australia
PIRSA worked closely with Meat and Livestock Australia to establish Meat Standards 
Australia in South Australia. This ensures consistent eating quality in beef and has 
resulted in a major supermarket chain expanding beef sales, and the food service 
industry demanding consistent, branded quality product consistently meeting customers 
expectations.
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Merino wool
The merino industry is supported to assist producer groups increase productivity and 
profitability by adopting new technology. The Future Merinos program builds on a 
successful earlier program to stimulate commercial wool producers to set breeding 
objectives to improve the rate of genetic gain in the wool industry. 

SA Lamb
SA Lamb, jointly managed by industry and PIRSA, is continuing to meet state industry 
targets. Average carcase weight has continued to climb, allowing more lamb to reach 
weights required for export. Forty-three per cent (compared to 10 per cent in 1997) is now 
sold over-the-hook, enabling producers to receive feedback on their products.

Demonstration projects
Projects are being developed in livestock industries to support innovative approaches to 
value adding and export development as part of Food for the Future.

South East pasture productivity
A scoping study has established the potential to double productivity and return from 
grazing industries in the Lower South East. A collaborative program is being developed to 
capture environmentally sustainable parts of this potential.

Horticulture
Export demand chains
Export facilitation for the cherry industry was concluding during 2001–02. Introduction of 
controlled atmosphere punnet packs has been successful, with a major packer investing in a 
specialised packing line for this product. Launch of the Cherry Trail to encourage packing 
shed door sales of lower grade product direct to consumers touring the Adelaide Hills was 
highly successful with some 15 packing sheds participating. A major training program on 
cool chain management and market development was completed. The Export Facilitation 
project is now applying this knowledge to summer fruits, olives, onions, and organic wine.

Native food industry
A joint project to deliver a range of information products and training workshops for native 
food growers was completed in December. A project to assist the native food industry 
identify and evaluate new value-adding opportunities has commenced and includes 
provision of secretariat support for the national Native Foods Round Table.

Regional industry funding
Riverland and Langhorne Creek wine grape growers utilised the Primary Industry 
Funding Schemes Act 1998 to access funds for industry and project development for the 
first time. A total of $426 000 was provided and active industry development programs 
were established. Several other wine grape regions, dried fruit and potato industries have 
expressed interest in this fundraising mechanism to enhance their regional industries.

FarmBis training
Strong interest continued in FarmBis training from horticulture industries with participants 
from Kangaroo Island seed potato, olive, apple, wine grape and greenhouse (non English 
speaking participants) industries. Additional training materials were developed for the 
dried fruits and citrus industries.
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Industry modernisation
The Horticulture Industry Modernisation project is focused on introducing world-class 
technology to South Australia’s horticulture industries. The Northern Adelaide Plains 
greenhouse industry were assisted to establish a demonstration site and training program 
near Virginia. Azrom Industries provided a 1000 square metre greenhouse which is used by 
the Virginia Horticulture Centre for demonstrations, workshops and training sessions.

Quality wine grapes
The wine industry has expressed concern that current variable methods of assessing grape 
quality impact on payments to wine grape growers. A project is under way to identify 
standard wine grape quality measures, and develop standard sampling and testing methods.

TARGETS FOR 2002–03
• Implement a collaborative program to increase the productivity of the grazing 

industries in the South East.

• Implement the Dairy Industry Development Board’s strategic plan.

• Establish the most effective strategy to achieve the necessary growth for efficient 
operation of the state’s two world-class pig processing plants.

• Continue to focus on demand-chain facilitation and training for the horticulture 
industry, especially for the olive industry.

• Evaluate five or six new native food products for value-adding opportunities.

• Build a 3500 square metre greenhouse as part of the Horticulture Industry 
Modernisation project.

Strategic priority 3 — RISKS AND BIOLOGICAL 
CONTAMINANT THREATS — Successfully manage 
risks including, biological and contaminant threats, to the 
environment, production efficiencies and market access
Field crops
Anthracnose management
A comprehensive lupin anthracnose eradication and education program was undertaken 
on Lower Eyre Peninsula. Forty per cent of the 500 lupin crops in and near the quarantine 
zone on Lower Eyre Peninsula were surveyed; two paddocks were detected with disease 
and placed in quarantine. Detection of an infected seed in a narrow leaf lupin sample 
outside the quarantine zone will require controlled movement of the grain in 2002.

One outbreak of the disease was also detected in lupins grown in the Lower South East. 
Controlled transport movement of the grain is organised to enable the grain to be processed 
at Horsham and shipped for export.

Port Pirie grain quality
PIRSA is part of a joint industry and government committee ensuring heavy metal 
standards for cereals continue to be met in risk areas following the lowering of 
international and domestic maximum limits for lead in cereals. A survey of cereals 
conducted around Port Pirie found some high individual levels of lead in barley and 
cadmium in wheat. Industry is confident that monitoring and stack management of bulked 
grain will ensure trade and domestic standards continue to be met.
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Animal health
Ovine Johne’s Disease
The South Australian Ovine Johne’s Disease (OJD) program has been operating since 
1997 and aims to control spread of disease into and within South Australia. To date 68 
OJD-infected properties have been detected within the state. Abattoir monitoring and other 
surveillance supports the presumption of low prevalence of the disease in South Australia, 
other than on Kangaroo Island. Infection on Kangaroo Island is more widespread than can 
be contained by existing strategies, and more vigorous surveillance strategies have been 
introduced.

Recommendations from a review of the South Australian OJD program will enhance 
the financial management of the Sheep Industry Fund and provide for improved disease 
control. Widespread use of vaccination, although appropriate in high-prevalence areas, is 
not the preferred control tool in low-prevalence areas. The minister approved a zone status 
difference between Kangaroo Island and mainland South Australia to facilitate disease 
control strategies appropriate to each area. The industry will subsidise testing of Kangaroo 
Island sheep to enable on-going trade access for low-risk sheep. Industry funding for the 
program is to be doubled from $1.3 to $2.6 million per year through an increase in the 
sheep levy from 20 cents to 40 cents.

The mid-term review of the national program, along with a Senate Committee inquiry into 
national OJD control, endorsed current control directions.

Bovine Johne’s Disease
After a three-year development involving the states, the Cattle Council of Australia and 
the Australian Dairy Farmers Federation, Animal Health Australia has released its draft 
plan for a national approach to Bovine Johne’s Disease (BJD). South Australia is divided 
into a Northern Protected Zone and a Southern Control Zone for BJD. Cattle movements 
into BJD Protected and Free Zones in Australia (including Western Australia, New South 
Wales, Queensland and Northern Territory) are becoming more stringent. A Beef Cattle 
Trade Assurance Scheme has been developed to enable trade in low-risk beef cattle from 1 
January 2002, subsidised by the Cattle Council at $300 per beef herd.

BJD was detected in red deer in the Mid North in 2001 and escape of infected deer 
spread the disease to at least five sheep flocks. This incident has delayed the extension of 
the South Australian Protected Zone to the Eyre Peninsula, Lower Flinders Ranges and 
Northern Agricultural Areas. New detections continued in 2001–02 and at the end of June 
there were 46 properties under official Order for BJD — 28 in the Central and Murray 
Lands region and 18 in the South East.

The Cattle Advisory Group initiated a review of the South Australian BJD control program 
due to increasing costs, and structural changes in the dairy industry.

American Foulbrood
The Apiary Mandatory Disease Control Program is designed to maintain market access 
and increase apiculture industry self-reliance by reducing the prevalence of the bee disease 
American Foulbrood (AFB) within the state’s registered apiary operations. The program 
has been well supported by industry and honey packers. The addition of a second full time 
inspector within the program, combined with the new regulations, allowed significant 
progress in 2001–02. Field evidence and results of honey testing showed the prevalence of 
AFB has declined from 32 per cent of operations in 1998 to 23 per cent in 2002.

PIRSA is working with the industry to address the issue of poorly managed operations in 
the industry. Eleven expiation fines were issued during the year to apiarists deliberately 
breaching the Livestock Act 1997.
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PIRSA investigated an introduction of hives to Kangaroo Island on a piece of farm 
machinery from the Upper South East. Samples were tested for AFB, European Foulbrood 
and chalkbrood; all were negative. However, AFB and chalkbrood were detected at sites 
unrelated to the machinery incursion; AFB infected hives were destroyed. Subsequent 
wider surveillance has detected no further evidence of AFB.The industry agreed to an 
incremental funding arrangement to secure full industry funding of the second apiary 
inspector position by 2005–06, as part of a new strategic plan for the industry.

Emergency animal disease preparedness
The foot-and-mouth epidemic in the United Kingdom resulted in assistance being sought 
for skilled staff. PIRSA sent six veterinarians and five animal health officers to assist.

Transmissible spongiform encephalopathy surveillance
The National Transmissible Spongiform Encephalopathy Surveillance Program supports 
Australia’s status as being free from mad cow disease and Scrapie. The first cases 
have been identified outside Europe, in Japan and Israel, but there is no evidence of its 
occurrence in Australia.

National livestock and flock identification
Permanent electronic tags are being introduced by the cattle industry under the National 
Livestock Identification Scheme in addition to the system of temporary transaction tags. 
Over 10 per cent of the South Australian herd is permanently identified.

The sheep industry has agreed to introduce a voluntary scheme to identify sheep on a flock 
basis. This will improve the ability to identify and trace sheep for disease control and 
residue programs.

Animal disease passive surveillance
An incentive scheme was introduced in January 2000 by the Animal Disease Passive 
Surveillance Network to encourage reporting and accurate diagnosis of animal health 
which could affect the livestock economy. The scheme is working well with more than 
550 notifications received to June 2002. Increased submission rate has been promoted by 
extension activities with private veterinarians and producers.

Poultry health
An outbreak of Salmonella Typhimurium Definitive Type 126 occurred in people in 
Adelaide in mid 2001. The outbreak was traced back to a poultry producer–processor 
and control measures implemented. This incident revealed the benefits of a cooperative 
approach between PIRSA and the Department of Human Services.

A number of infectious laryngotracheitis outbreaks occurred in the poultry industry and 
PIRSA assisted liaison between affected farms, control procedures and coordination of 
stock movement.

Acute bovine liver disease
The recently identified acute bovine liver disease has continued to cause outbreaks in the 
South East particularly amongst dairy stock. It is a severe liver disease which may result in 
a high mortalities and serious morbidity, with many animals being culled or dried off early.
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Tuberculosis surveillance
The National Granuloma Submission Program is designed to maintain the country’s 
tuberculosis-free status by detection of tuberculosis at abattoir level. No cases were 
identified in South Australia in the last year. A northern pastoral property destocked 
2500 cattle it had purchased from a Queensland property on which tuberculosis had been 
detected in August 2000. No cases of tuberculosis were found in these cattle.

Meat hygiene
A total of 523 chilled beef and lamb carcases were sampled from abattoirs and 
slaughterhouses in South Australia during March to develop a microbiological profile 
of meat for domestic consumption in the state. The microbiological levels compare 
favourably with other national and international surveys. The co-regulatory responsibility 
between industry and government as practiced in the domestic meat sector in South 
Australia is as successful as similar management occurring nationally and internationally 
under differing regulatory systems.

Plant health
Fruit fly
There were four outbreaks of fruit fly within the metropolitan area of Adelaide. Two 
outbreaks of Mediterranean Fruit Fly were detected in Thebarton and Magill. Two 
outbreaks of Queensland Fruit Fly were detected in Salisbury East and Salisbury Downs. A 
subsequent detection of Queensland Fruit Fly was located between these, and the outbreak 
area was increased to cover most of Salisbury. Plant Health Operations adopted a different 
approach to treatment of fruit fly resulting in reduced chemical use and a shorter period of 
treatment.

Sterile fruit flies were introduced into all areas as part of the eradication process and 
releases are continuing in Salisbury. (see also SARDI)

Quarantine
State Quarantine and Inspection Service continued to provide a key role in ensuring that 
agricultural crop markets are protected through operations at the borders and the Pooraka 
Produce Market.

Random roadblock operation
This year a random roadblock operation was held over five days at the weighbridge 
facility on the Sturt Highway at Blanchetown. Over 450 kilograms of fruit and vegetables 
suspected of being from backyards were confiscated. The operation was supported by 
the Citrus Board and provided valuable information to support further random roadblock 
operations to protect the Riverland Fruit Fly Exclusion Zone.

Onion smut
Onion smut was detected on a property at Caloote on 3 December. An intensive operation 
was conducted by Plant Health Operations and completed in January.

Horticulture
Food safety — dried fruit industry 
Introduction of new food safety legislation in South Australia has focused the dried fruit 
industry on ensuring that it meets the new requirements. A code of practice for dried tree 
fruit growers has been developed based on HACCP (Hazard Analysis Critical Control 
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Point) principles. A FarmBis funded training program to assist growers to use this code of 
practice was developed for delivery in 2002–03.

Food safety — other
An appraisal of food safety issues in horticulture identified some risk areas such as seed 
sprouts, fresh-cut salads and vegetables, and unpasteurised fruit juices. Programs will be 
developed with the objective of mitigating these risk areas.

Rural chemicals
Chemical trespass
PIRSA is now the lead agency responsible for managing incidents of chemical trespass 
including spray drift. In September a Chemical Trespass Coordinator was appointed 
to ensure appropriate, uniform response to such incidents. A fact sheet identifying the 
Chemical Trespass Coordinator as the primary contact for trespass complaints or queries 
has been widely circulated. A total of 95 complaints and queries were received during the 
year, with response ranging from communication and education, investigation by PIRSA, 
referral to relevant government agencies, involvement of solicitors, or no action for trivial 
incidents.

Pooraka food-care survey
The 2000–01 Pooraka food-care report is testament to produce from the Pooraka Market 
meeting world’s best standards for pesticide residues. Results in the third annual report 
validate the region’s world-class clean, green reputation in spite of a locust plague and 
continuing difficulties from insect threats such as Western Flower Thrips. The low 
violation rate of 2.9 per cent (four samples) matches the results from interstate and 
international surveys and reflects the ongoing endeavours of the state’s fruit and vegetable 
industry and government to manage food safety risks and maintain quality.

National residue survey
The last 12 months has seen South Australia record an extremely low violation rate 
for rural chemical or heavy metal residues in livestock, aquaculture and plant produce 
monitored under national residue survey programs. Only three violations of maximum 
residue levels from a large number of samples collected required investigation by PIRSA. 
This very low rate provides excellent evidence of South Australia’s clean and green 
produce to local customers and export markets.

National organochlorine residue management
Organochlorine residues in beef have been the most significant chemical residue issue 
in Australia since the organochlorine crisis in 1987 when the United States halted beef 
imports from Australia. No new organochlorine residue detections in South Australian beef 
above acceptable levels were found in 2001–02. Properties known to have organochlorine 
contamination have had property residue plans audited and cattle target tested for residues 
to provide evidence that controls are working. South Australia continues to demonstrate 
its very low organochlorine residue risk through the National Organochlorine Residue 
Management Program.

Emergency management coordination
The foot-and-mouth outbreak in the United Kingdom led to a national impetus spearheaded 
by the Council of Australian Governments for enhancing Australia’s emergency animal 
disease preparedness. PIRSA has put renewed effort into policy and strategic planning in 
emergency management including re-establishment of a comprehensive training regime. 
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Significant enhancements were made in documentation, particularly relating to the 
Agriculture and Animal Services Counter Disaster Plan and its attachments. The existing 
documents, including the Bushfire Plan, the Plant Health Plan and the Generic Incident 
Response Plan were completely reviewed and updated. PIRSA also contributed to policy 
development and implementation at a national level through the Primary Industries 
Standing Committee and the Council of Australian Governments.

PIRSA is recruiting personnel to enhance emergency animal disease response capability 
and to ensure that biosecurity measures required under the emergency response agreement 
are implemented. This includes swill and ruminant feed ban awareness, audits, planning 
and training. An awareness campaign concerning Foot-and-Mouth Disease included 
briefings of the Emergency Management Council (a subcommittee of Cabinet) and other 
related committees throughout various levels of government. 

TARGETS FOR 2002–03
• Participate successfully in the national foot-and-mouth simulation, Exercise Minotaur.

• Undertake succession planning and training of staff in both policy development and 
field operations.

• Implement revised programs for both OJD and BJD.

• Improve PIRSA’s disease surveillance, monitoring and investigation services and 
emergency disease response capability through further recruitment.

• Improve PIRSA’s emergency response capability in animal and plant related incidents 
through further development of planning documents and training of staff.

• Develop operational plans for emergency response to fisheries and aquaculture 
incidents.

• Continue to develop PIRSA’s activities in food safety in South Australia.

• Establish effective indicators of good manufacturing practice within the poultry and 
game sectors, including a microbiological baseline for products.

• Provide additional rigour in auditors’ assessment of microbiological results.

• Audit the microbiological status of each sector of the meat industry.

Strategic priority 4 — INTEGRATED POLICY 
FRAMEWORK, REGULATION AND COMPLIANCE 
— Create through consultation, effective policy and 
regulatory frameworks to enhance industry and community 
confidence
Reviews of legislation
The National Competition Policy Review of the Veterinary Surgeons Act 1985 was 
completed.

A draft Chicken Meat Industry Bill 2002 and consultation paper has been circulated to 
industry for comment prior to its introduction to Parliament. The Bill aims to promote 
equity between processors and growers by allowing for collective negotiations and 
arbitration of disputes.

The Agricultural and Veterinary Products (Control of Use) Bill 2002 was introduced 
into Parliament in late 2001 and again after the election in early 2002. This legislation 
will replace several Acts and more closely harmonise South Australia’s rural chemicals 
legislation with the rest of Australia.
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In the interests of further protecting the state against the possibility of introducing and 
spreading mad cow disease, changes preventing the inclusion of vertebrate materials were 
made to the Stock Foods Act 1941 in late 2001.

National Competition Policy reviews have been completed for the Dried Fruit Act 1993, 
Citrus Industry Act 1991 and Wine Grape Industry Act 1991. These have progressed 
through various stages of reform in 2001–02. Alternative ways of delivering the functions 
of the Dried Fruits Act have been identified, and strategies for implementation identified. 
Modifications to the Wine Grapes Industry Act have been identified, and the review 
process for the Citrus Industry Act will continue in 2002–03.

Meat hygiene
PIRSA has developed a Food Safety Program initiative, which was approved in the 
2001–02 Budget, as a consequence of the new South Australian Food Act 2001. The 
objective is to manage food safety as an agency function across industries. It provides for 
coordinated development of a portfolio food safety policy, integration of existing technical 
and regulatory services, and provision of an inter-agency interface with the Department of 
Human Services to oversight whole-of-chain food safety.

In March a memorandum of understanding was established between the Department of 
Human Services and PIRSA for surveillance, incident response and regulation of food 
safety in the primary industry sector in South Australia. PIRSA’s approach to managing 
food safety has been underpinned by a quality management system certified to the ISO 
9001:1994 Standard since 1998. This certification was successfully transferred from the 
Meat Hygiene Program to PIRSA’s new Food Safety Program in 2001 and successfully 
negotiated an audit to the new ISO 9001:2000 Standard.

The new national food safety policy framework recognises the relevance of food safety to 
the primary industry portfolio and provides for direct input into the Australia New Zealand 
Food Regulation Ministerial Council and the Food Regulation Standing Committee by 
the Minister for Agriculture, Food and Fisheries and PIRSA. The Council of Australian 
Governments agreed to a nationally coordinated approach to food regulation and a single 
national framework now exists for the development of all domestic food standards 
covering the entire food supply chain, including primary production and processing 
standards.

Compliance services
PIRSA and South Australia’s meat industry have invested in the Meat Hygiene Program 
since 1993. The program has progressively moved to 75 per cent recovery of costs, due by 
2003–04. Additionally, industry has invested significantly in improved construction and 
operational standards, including the development and implementation of HACCP-based 
quality assurance.

An independent review completed in June determined the following. There have been 
significant improvements in the hygiene status of meat produced in South Australia. 
Around 5300 audits of premises and 1500 audits of transport vehicles took place between 
1995–2002. Industry complied with national standards in 99 per cent of instances in 2001–
02. Radical improvements have occurred in the manufacture of fermented meats. Microbial 
levels on beef and sheep carcases are equal to or lower than national and international 
benchmarks. Significant improvement has occurred in temperature control of meat and 
meat products. There is high conformance with national standards for transporting meat.

South Australia is one of only two states where primary surveillance of accredited 
meat processing facilities is carried out by approved third-party inspection and/or audit 
providers. Both continue to operate at very high standards and are well received by 
industry.
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National animal health
The three-year Animal Health Business Plan was revised and incorporated into the PIRSA 
strategic planning system. Design and testing of the first stage of a new information 
management system (PIIMS) to support the Animal Health Program proceeded in line with 
the schedule of implementation by December 2002.

Contributions were made to a wide range of national programs by provision of advice 
to Animal Health Australia, the Primary Industries Standing Committee subcommittees 
and working parties, and the federal Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry. 
Contributions included emergency animal disease preparedness; OJD and BJD; national 
policy and regulations related to antibiotic resistance; Newcastle disease eradication in New 
South Wales; veterinary education; animal welfare; Animal Disease Surveillance; and Animal 
Health performance standards.

South Australia’s Chief Veterinary Officer has been chairperson of the Veterinary 
Committee’s OJD Technical Advisory Group and is the committee’s representative on the 
national OJD Program Advisory Committee. The Chief Veterinary Officer also continues to 
chair a Primary Industries Standing Committee Taskforce.

PIRSA Animal Health also made substantial contributions to national reviews of BJD 
control and the national OJD program, and convened a process to finalise national standard 
definitions and rules for enzootic bovine leucosis eradication.

TARGETS FOR 2002–03
• Complete the consultation process with industry on the Chicken Meat Industry Bill 2002 

and move the Bill through the Parliamentary process.

• Obtain Cabinet approval for release of a green paper to discuss a Primary Industry Food 
Safety Bill.

• Obtain Cabinet approval of the National Competition Policy review of the Meat Hygiene 
Act 1994 and the recommended amendments to the Act.

• Review Part 4 of the Barley Marketing Act 1993.

• Validate E. coli inactivation in uncooked fermented meat products in all South Australian 
manufacturers.

• Facilitate the certification of primary industry businesses to the government-supported 
industry HACCP brand.

• Continue to make substantial contributions to national animal health, food safety and 
animal welfare policy through participation in national committees and working groups.

• Finalise the Animal Health management structure and core function operations through 
appointment of the Manager, Animal Health Operations and Manager, Training and 
Communications.

Strategic priority 5 — ECOLOGICALLY SUSTAINABLE 
DEVELOPMENT — Enhance the capacity of community 
and industry to integrate, achieve and report against 
environmentally sustainable development principles
Field crop environmental management systems
PIRSA is fostering interest within the South Australian grains industry, amongst industry 
stakeholders and grain growers of environmental management systems. Preliminary work 
has identified key indicators as part of an on-farm environmental management system 
monitoring package, capturing elements of production, quality and marketing awareness, and 
environmental resource care.
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Horticulture sustainability
A draft blueprint for developing environmentally sustainable horticulture industries was 
completed in 2001–02 and identifies the need for partnerships with industries, and the 
importance of environmental management systems to ensuring long-term market access.

Strategic priority 7 — BUILDING COMMUNITY CAPACITY 
— Build capacity, leadership and global awareness in 
industry, and rural and indigenous communities
Field crops
FarmBis
FarmBis opportunities have been widely promoted throughout South Australian farming 
communities. Rural Solutions SA consultants have established strong networks with local 
communities and farmer-based group leaders resulting in significant training opportunities 
being made available for field crop and livestock producers.

Farming systems development
Farming systems development projects target specific zones of South Australia, namely 
low-rainfall areas on Eyre Peninsula, Mallee and the Upper North, and a high-rainfall area 
in the South East. All projects involve a high-level of community ownership and farmer 
interaction and involvement in the planning and participatory phases.

Regional farming systems meetings were conducted across Eyre Peninsula to bring 
together leaders from local groups to plan activities for the coming season. Farmer 
feedback from the Mallee Sustainable Farming Project Field Day showed that 83 per cent 
were farmers, with 47 per cent attending for the first time; 96 per cent planned to trial 
practices discussed or demonstrated on the day on their own properties, including higher 
fertiliser rates, break crops and intensive cropping; and 50 per cent of those attending 
previous field days have increased cropping intensities.

‘Red hot go’ demonstration paddocks provided Mallee farmers with the opportunity to 
identify and evaluate the application of new farming systems on their own farm within a 
local supportive environment. Over 100 paddocks were deep soil tested for moisture and 
nitrogen. These activities are pioneering new concepts to make better decisions and reduce 
risk in low-rainfall farming.

Livestock
Rangelands initiatives
The Supporting Sustainable Industries in the Rangelands project which includes the 
Central North East Farm Assistance program is assisting pastoralists develop long-
term economically and ecologically sustainable enterprises to ensure viable pastoral 
communities. More than 90 Business Planning Grants were made following workshops 
and review processes.

Sheep Industries Development Centre
This Sheep Industries Development Centre is part of an alliance at Roseworthy Campus 
between the University of Adelaide, PIRSA and TAFE. Training initiatives have been 
developed in partnership with industry to improve productivity and profitability in the 
sheep industries through a culture of life-long learning. Initiatives to develop leadership 
skills in younger sheep producers have been developed.
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Horticulture
Building Regions with Horticulture
Building Regions with Horticulture is a regionally based industry initiative developed in 
conjunction with the Horticulture Industry Development Board. Assistance was provided 
to communities in eight horticulture regions of the state to identify new enterprise 
opportunities and access to resources to develop them. More than 50 businesses have been 
assisted to date and over $200 000 of funding accessed.

TARGETS FOR 2002–03
• Continue to facilitate farming systems projects in the Eyre Peninsula, Mallee, Upper 

North and South East of the state.

• Add a new sustainability stream to the Horticulture Program as projects identified in 
2001–02 are developed and rolled out.

• Develop a funding mechanism to allow the continuation of the Sheep Industries 
Development Centre beyond the current three-year funding term.

Strategic priority 8 — PARTNERSHIPS — Negotiate 
effective partnerships with industry, rural and indigenous 
communities, Commonwealth Government and local 
government for regional and industry development.
Livestock industry development boards
Three livestock industry development boards advise the minister on the strategic directions 
of, and government investment in, the livestock industries in South Australia.

The Wool and Fibre Industry Development Board is supporting the introduction of new 
shearing shed technology and has had considerable influence on wool contamination 
issues. It is also supporting the development of young scientists and designers with 
interests in the fibre industry.

The Meat Industry Development Board initiated the annual Meat Industry Awards for 
Excellence and has sought funding for projects to develop production and marketing 
efficiency and profitability. The board is supporting the development of a strategic plan for 
the pig industry.

The Dairy Industry Development Board has completed the development of a plan to give 
direction to the rapidly changing dairy industry post-deregulation in South Australia. The 
target to increase milk production to 1500 million litres per year by 2010 would enable 
processing capacity to treble and employment to double to 6500 people and open up new 
export opportunities for high-value export products such as specialty cheeses and dairy 
food ingredients.

Strategic priority 9 — ACCESS TO INFORMATION AND 
SERVICES — Improve industry and regional access to 
information that supports better business decisions
Field crops
Crop harvest report
Some 3000 copies of the Crop harvest report 2001-2002 were circulated, an increase of 
35 per cent over last year and reaching 40 per cent of the state’s cropping farmers. The 
publication is a partnership effort between Rural Solutions SA and SARDI and information 
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from it is used in the Southern region crop summary, Australian Grains Research manual, 
Prime Notes, PIRSA website and PIRSA-fax.

Field crop monthly report
The monthly field crop and pasture report (incorporating the field crop production 
estimates) continues to be much sought after and held in high regard by industry. The 
report is accessed through the PIRSA Field Crops Channel of the PIRSA website, with 
consistently 200–300 hits per month.

Training workshop resources
New TOPACTIVE training workshop resources were completed included durum, weed 
management, weed seed bank monitoring, seeding systems and premium barley. There 
are now in excess of 60 training workshop resources available for industry and group use 
available both in South Australia and nationally through the TOPCROP network.

Crop spray charts
Crop spray charts (cereal weed control, pulse weed control, insect control in field crops and 
fungicidal use in field crops) were produced and 2000 copies of each distributed, with 80% 
of these being sold as pre-purchase orders.

Other publications
The Ute guide series of in-the-paddock diagnosis booklets continued to expand with 
release of ‘grain quality’ and ‘winter pulse disorders’ targeted at grain growers and the 
wider industry.

Rural chemicals
Provision of information
PIRSA’s rural chemical database product, inFINDer has increased its sales and renewal 
rate and gained high recognition from the industry regulator, Agsafe, as a valuable tool for 
resellers. The Victorian Department of Natural Resources and Environment has purchased 
inFINDer and all Elders rural chemicals outlets in South Australia now have inFINDer for 
their agronomists and stores.

Regional inquiry servicing
Food and Fibre Group provides services to South Australia’s agriculture industries and 
rural communities via a network of over 25 offices in regional locations. Staff at these 
regional centres handle a broad range of inquiries for technical and information products. 
During 2001–02, technical inquiries were received from approximately 5500 farmers and 
growers, 200 000 general inquirers, and some 50 000 website requests to Food and Fibre 
channels of the PIRSA website.

Cropwatch
Cropwatch delivers a mildew early warning service to Riverland grape growers. In addition 
state-wide mildew warnings are issued in cooperation with the Bureau of Meteorology. 
Initially a free service, it has now moved to ‘user pays’ with some 650 growers subscribing 
to the service. Cropwatch has played a key role in reducing the impact of mildew diseases 
on wine grape quality, as well as reducing chemical usage.
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Publications
PIRSA now has over 250 fact sheets listed on its website and fax service, and is a major 
contributor to the national Prime Notes CD, which now lists over 4800 publications.

The Roseworthy Information Centre is the main hub for assembly, distribution and 
marketing of information products through PIRSA’s regional offices and a network of 
agencies at chemical reseller premises. It currently lists approximately 1200 different 
publications in its catalogue.

Meat hygiene
PIRSA commissioned a study in December to provide a risk profile of South Australian 
primary industry sectors. A joint government response will be determined prior the release 
of the final report which contains 20 key recommendations.

Meat and Livestock Australia and PIRSA continued to co-sponsor training sessions for the 
meat industry and government to enhance awareness, compliance and South Australia’s 
skill base. Examples include workshops that provide a better appreciation of the science 
and processes behind manufacturing uncooked fermented meat products and the validation 
of a safe process; and workshops to provide knowledge on validation criteria and process 
control, and requirements for approving smallgoods manufacturers arrangements under a 
new Australian Standard for processing meat.

PIRSA and Seafood Services Australia jointly delivered a seafood food safety risk 
assessment workshop outlining the basics of risk assessment, results of national 
assessments on seafood, risks within the South Australian industry and managing risk. A 
review of baseline compliance within each sector of the seafood industry was completed 
identifying the number of businesses and the proportion having food safety plans.

PIRSA facilitates uptake by industry of food safety based quality assurance, particularly 
for new businesses and also in the seafood sector. Over 100 consultancies were provided 
to retail and/or wholesale and new businesses within the meat industry. Over 25 seafood 
businesses were consulted on their progress with food safety based quality assurance.

TARGETS FOR 2002–03
• Continue to make contributions to national food safety policy through participation 

in the Food Regulation Standing Committee, Development and Implementation 
Subcommittee and Technical Advisory Group forum.

• Initiate industry workshops to review and apply national guidelines for the safe 
manufacture of smallgoods.

• Initiate industry workshops and/or consultancies to reform food safety in the 
smallgoods sector, focusing on implementing outcomes of the national risk assessment 
on Listeria monocytogenes in smallgoods companies HACCP plans, and using the 
industry guidelines to validate and verify process control in smallgoods manufacture.

• Continue to provide consultancies to the food sector to accelerate the uptake of 
HACCP plans and quality assurance, particularly in the seafood postharvest sector, 
retail butchers, new businesses in the meat industry and the transport sector.

Fisheries
The Fisheries Group is responsible for providing policy, management, monitoring and 
extension advice services to government, industry and the community to maintain and 
develop the state’s wild aquatic resources for the benefit of current and future generations. 
The group achieves this through four key functions: development of management 
arrangements for wild aquatic resources in consultation with stakeholders including marine 
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pest control and habitat protection; development of appropriate 
legislation to reflect these management arrangements; education of 
stakeholders and the general community about wild aquatic resource 
management issues; and monitoring and promoting community 
compliance with legislation and regulations.

The group is strongly supported by SARDI Aquatic Sciences, 
in particular through its mandatory annual stock assessments of 
fisheries to guide the sustainable development of the state’s fisheries 
resources.

Performance measure highlights
A sample survey of recreational fishers was conducted during 
2002 to assess the performance of Fisheries Compliance mainly in 
relation to raising awareness in the recreational sector. This follows 
an industry stakeholder survey carried out in 2000 to gauge the 
level of satisfaction with the Fisheries Group’s service delivery. 
The recreational survey involved interviews with 40 people. Key 
outcomes included:

• Almost two-thirds of respondents (63 per cent) rated the performance in 
meeting its primary objective as ‘excellent’ or ‘good’.

• More than three-quarters of respondents (80 per cent) rated the 
Recreational fishing guide and other PIRSA brochures as ‘excellent’ 
or ‘good’. Also highly rated by at least two-thirds of respondents were 
recreational fishing signs showing size, bag and boat limits, free plastic 
measures for crabs, rock lobster and abalone; jetty fish measuring stations and 
Southern fisheries magazine.

• Fisheries officers and the FISHWATCH telephone service were rated ‘excellent’ 
or ‘good’ by more than half of the respondents. Just under half rated FISHCARE 
volunteers as ‘excellent’ or ‘good’.

• Respondents nominated education and awareness of the public and sustaining fisheries 
as prominent strengths.

Strategic priority 1 — INDUSTRY DEVELOPMENT — 
provide support for industry and regional development that 
focuses on global market opportunities
Seafood Industry Development Board
The Seafood Industry Development Board directly advises the Minister for Agriculture, 
Food and Fisheries and also initiates, sponsors or conducts a range of strategic projects 
concerned with seafood industry development. In January the board released its strategic 
framework formed after a lengthy period of consultation with industry. The framework 
will guide the actions of both government and industry in the development of the state’s 
seafood sector well into the future.

The board sponsored two key studies aimed at better defining the potential of the state’s 
aquaculture sector. The first sought to define current and potential future production of 
major species, and the second to determine the international market potential for this 
product. State Food Plan projects concerned with value-adding or exporting wild capture 
snapper, farmed oysters, abalone and yellow-tail kingfish were also supported.
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Strategic priority 3 — RISKS AND BIOLOGICAL 
CONTAMINANT THREATS — successfully manage 
risks including, biological and contaminant threats, to the 
environment, production efficiencies and market access
Caulerpa taxifolia
An invasive marine seaweed Caulerpa taxifolia, was found in West Lakes and the Port 
Adelaide River. The seaweed presents a serious threat to the environment and associated 
marine industries in nearby Gulf St Vincent, the Coorong and Spencer Gulf. It is able 
to over-run native seagrasses and is extremely difficult to eradicate. Trials to eradicate 
it commenced in West Lakes during June using a combination of freshwater and copper 
sulphate approved by the Environment Protection Agency. The public has been kept 
informed through a series of community meetings. (see also SARDI and Sustainable 
Resources)

White shark
A White Shark Response Plan was developed to coordinate government and associated 
organisation’s responses to incidents involving the protected white shark.

TARGET FOR 2002–03
• Implement an eradication program for Caulerpa taxifolia.

Strategic priority 4 — INTEGRATED POLICY 
FRAMEWORK, REGULATION AND COMPLIANCE — 
create through consultation, effective policy and regulatory 
frameworks to enhance industry and community confidence
Reviews of legislation
A review of the Fisheries Act 1982 commenced during the year and encompasses 
modernising the current legislation and incorporating results from the National Competition 
Policy review in June 2001.

Recreational fishing
Significant changes to recreational bag and boat limits were implemented following a review 
of recreational fishing by the Recreational Fishing Industry Review Committee and release 
of a five-year plan in April 2001. The Recreational fishing guide was updated with new size, 
bag and boat limits, re-printed in a more user-friendly format, and released in July. A total of 
80 000 copies were distributed and the guide was also placed on the PIRSA website. Seventy 
jetty measuring stations and more than 180 fishing signs were also updated.

The government policy on recreational access to rock lobster pots was changed in June 
2001, allowing recreational fishers to make an application for recreational rock lobster pot 
registration from 1 August 2001. Approximately 7500 registrations were processed resulting 
in the issue of 13 275 pot licenses. A similar number is anticipated in 2002–03. Online 
facilities were implemented to service registration applications.

River Fishery
A major change to the River Fishery was implemented following a government initiative to 
restructure it.
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Review of Northern Zone Rock Lobster Fishery
NIWA Australia Pty Ltd was engaged in January to undertake an independent review of 
management arrangements of the Northern Zone Rock Lobster Fishery following several 
years of significantly low catch and effort results, and a reduction in total allowable catch 
for 2002–03. Recommendations are due in September 2002.

Marine scalefish
A commercial industry initiated review of the marine scalefish management arrangements 
for the commercial fishing sector was initiated in December and the final report is pending. 
This follows the marine scalefish restructure review during 1998 to 2000.

Joint state and Commonwealth management arrangements were implemented for school 
and gummy shark.

Compliance services
The Fisheries Group provides compliance services to the community and fishing industry 
to ensure: protection of the aquatic habitat resource; resource-sharing arrangements are 
complied with; and production by both commercial and recreational fishers is within 
prescribed limits to meet sustainability objectives. Activities include monitoring of 
commercial catches and quotas (including the processing sector) recreational daily bag and 
boat limits, compliance with fish size limits, restrictions on the use of gear by recreational 
and commercial fishers, and compliance by all resource users with restrictions on access to 
marine protected areas and aquatic reserves.

Regular monitoring during the year indicated an encouraging compliance rate; 385 
offences were recorded from approximately 12 727 compliance checks. Offences resulted 
in the issuing of 128 expiation notices and 216 cautions and the initiation of 41 prosecution 
briefs. There were 29 prosecutions heard and completed during the year, of which 27 
resulted in either a finding or plea of guilty.

The Fisheries Group also carried out compliance monitoring functions under authority of 
the Fisheries Management Act 1991 (Cwlth) through a service contract arrangement with 
the Australian Fisheries Management Authority, and marine safety checks under authority 
of the Harbours and Navigation Act 1993, through a service agreement with the Transport 
SA.

Additional Fisheries Compliance officers were recruited and located to regional centres 
throughout the state following an extra $1 million each year over three years allocated to 
bolster fisheries compliance resources.

Risk assessment
The Fisheries Compliance unit and fishery management committees conducted joint risk 
assessments and developed risk profiles of the major fisheries to provide greater focus for 
compliance operations and build greater transparency in relation to fisheries management 
and service provision. Ongoing annual reviews of risk profiles will enable key stakeholders 
to provide input to compliance planning including recreational sector issues.

The Fisheries Group finalised its organisational risk assessment and associated response 
plan, as part of the overall Food and Fibre Group risk management plan and PIRRISK 
program.

Southern Zone Rock Lobster Fishery dockside monitoring
Following several successful catching seasons in the Southern Zone Rock Lobster Fishery, 
where key sustainability management indicators have been surpassed, the total annual 
allowable catch was increased by 50 tonnes to 1770 tonnes.
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Over the past two seasons the Southern Zone Rock Lobster Fishery Management Committee, 
through an initiative of the commercial sector, implemented a project of independently 
monitoring the catch of fishers landing at docks to assist in accurate weighing and recording 
of catch. A contractor was engaged to manage dockside monitors in 2000 with an option of 
two further seasons. The project will continue for a third season.

Gulf St Vincent Prawn Fishery
A buy back scheme implemented in the Gulf St Vincent Prawn Fishery in 1987 as part of a 
restructure program has almost been completed.

TARGETS FOR 2002–03
• Finalise the review of the Fisheries Act and introduce a new Bill.

• Implement restructure arrangements for the River Fishery.

• Plan for a new offshore fisheries patrol vessel.

• Develop software for a new prosecution system.

• Scope the introduction of electronic catch monitoring systems.

• Develop and implement a management plan for the charter boat industry.

• Develop the Marine Scalefish Fishery management plan.

• Review and/or develop fisheries management plans for all major fisheries.

• Implement revised management arrangements for the Northern Zone Rock Lobster 
Fishery.

• Implement national environmentally sustainable development reporting requirements for 
fisheries.

Strategic priority 5 — ECOLOGICALLY SUSTAINABLE 
DEVELOPMENT — enhance the capacity of community 
and industry to integrate, achieve and report against 
environmentally sustainable development principles
National ecologically sustainable development framework
The Fisheries Group contributed to the development of a national framework for ecologically 
sustainable development through the Standing Committee on Fisheries and Aquaculture. 
This framework will be used as the basis for ecologically sustainable development reporting 
in South Australia. Stock assessment reports on all major fisheries were prepared by SARDI 
Aquatic Sciences and these reports indicate that the fisheries are being exploited within 
sustainable harvest levels. Similar to the previous year, the Snapper Fishery experienced 
seasonal closures in August and November to reduce fishing effort and catch of this important 
species.

TARGETS FOR 2002–03
• Implement recognition and acceptance of ecologically sustainable development 

principles by licence holders and the adoption of models for sustainability.

• Complete management plans for Inland, Blue crab and Pilchard Fisheries.

• Complete a review of rock lobster, abalone and prawn management plans.

• Undertake a major review of the Snapper Fishery for sustainable development by March 
2003.
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• Complete Environment Australia assessment applications for the major exporting 
fisheries (rock lobster, prawn, abalone) by December 2002.

Strategic priority 7 — BUILDING COMMUNITY CAPACITY 
— build capacity, leadership and global awareness in 
industry, and rural and indigenous communities
Recreational fishing committees
The Fisheries Group continues to support nine regional recreational fishing committees 
across the state. These committees provide a greater opportunity for the community to be 
involved in fisheries management and the development of recreational fishing.

Volunteers
Fisheries Compliance support trained regional FISHCARE volunteers throughout the 
state. More than 75 volunteers are now active with regional teams delivering information 
and material about fisheries management and relevant legislative measures direct to 
recreational fishers. A new team was established on Kangaroo Island.

FISHWATCH
The successful FISHWATCH program entered its sixth year with more than 3000 calls 
from members of the community logged annually. Improvements to the service following 
feedback from the public and commercial fishers include operators now providing basic 
information on fishing regulations to callers and the prior report program operating under 
one common phone number.

Strategic priority 8 — PARTNERSHIPS — negotiate 
effective partnerships with industry, rural and indigenous 
communities, Commonwealth Government and local 
government for regional and industry development
Fishery management committees
The seven fishery management committees continued to operate in 2001–02. Three new 
chairpersons were appointed resulting in a change of chairperson on six committees. These 
committees are very effective in providing quality advice to the Director, Fisheries Policy, 
and Minister for Agriculture, Food and Fisheries on the sustainable management of their 
specific fisheries.

Strategic priority 9 — ACCESS TO INFORMATION AND 
SERVICES — improve industry and regional access to 
information that supports better business decisions
Licensing online
Online EFTPOS facilities were implemented across the state for the payment of fisheries 
fees and services. The licensing unit was relocated to Birkenhead to consolidate Fisheries 
Services.
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Strategic priority 11 — WE MANAGE RESULTS — we 
manage our resources well; we provide leadership; our 
business processes are effective and efficient
Commitment to continuous improvement has been maintained with a number of process 
review teams involved in projects such as planning and implementation of the Recreational 
Rock Lobster Registration Program, relocation of the licensing team to Birkenhead and 
continuous review of and improvement to business practices including legislative tools and 
cost recovery program.

Aquaculture
PIRSA Aquaculture is responsible for ensuring the sustainable 
development of the state’s aquaculture industry, and has a 
statutory and regulatory responsibility for the management 
of aquaculture practised in South Australia. The group 
achieves this through its major functions — policy and 
resource management including policy and regulation, 
environmental monitoring, licensing, leasing, tenure allocation 
and compliance; and industry support including information 
services, fish health and shellfish quality assurance.

Performance measure highlights
The high level of interest and activity in aquaculture continued 
throughout 2001–02. The value of production increased more 
than 15 per cent from the previous year, reaching approximately 
$304 million in 2000–01. This compares favourably to 
Australia’s aquaculture production for 2000–01 which had 
increased in value by nine per cent to $746 million. South 
Australia continues to lead the way with strong growth and 
exports, particularly in the tuna sector.

Aquaculture is one of the few industries currently generating jobs growth in regional 
South Australia. The number of people directly employed in the industry in 2000–01 was 
more than 1200 people, with the number of people employed in associated industries as a 
result of the flow-on effects of aquaculture exceeding 1500. This takes the total number of 
people employed as a result of the aquaculture industry in South Australia to over 2700, 
representing a 10 per cent increase from the previous year. Both the value of production 
and the jobs generated by the industry are forecast to have increased again during 2001–02.

Strategic priority 1 — INDUSTRY DEVELOPMENT — 
provide support for industry and regional development that 
focuses on global market opportunities.
Production value
The tuna sector continues to have the greatest production value, with oysters steadily 
increasing in production levels and value. Sectors reaching commercialisation include 
yellowtail kingfish, abalone and blue mussels, while Atlantic salmon and freshwater 
species are currently being developed. Access to marine sites will be a major issue 
influencing the continued growth of aquaculture in South Australia.

The value of aquaculture sectors may be increased even further by improved production 
efficiencies, handling techniques and capitalising on value-adding opportunities to meet 
domestic and export demand.
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Value of production
The gross value of production for aquaculture continues to exceed the commercial wild 
fisheries sector, reflecting the fact that aquaculture is the only sustainable means of meeting 
the ever increasing demand for seafood worldwide, and demonstrating the growing 
importance of the industry to the state.

TARGETS FOR 2002–03
• Maintain sustainable growth of the aquaculture industry in South Australia.

• Identify and trial value-adding opportunities in the finfish, abalone and shellfish sectors 
in conjunction with industry.

• Develop operating standards meeting world’s best practice and facilitate adoption of 
them by all major industry sectors.

Strategic priority 3 — RISKS AND BIOLOGICAL 
CONTAMINANT THREATS — successfully manage risks 
including fish health surveillance, disease prevention and 
response, and biological and contaminant threats to the 
environment thus securing market access
South Australian Shellfish Quality Assurance Program
The South Australian Shellfish Quality Assurance Program continued to facilitate the safe 
production of shellfish thereby protecting consumers and providing a competitive trade 
advantage. During the year investigations were made into the requirements of export, quality-
assured product to the European Union and United States and initial testing was undertaken.

Fish health
Fish health policy discussion papers were prepared and relevant issues included in licence 
conditions and operational standards.

A Fish Health unit was established with the appointment of an experienced fish health 
veterinarian and a post-doctoral marine biologist. A comprehensive framework including 
diagnostic surveys and disease surveillance has been developed to protect the health status 
of South Australia’s aquaculture and fishing resources, which is intended to minimise 
production losses and protect the environment and the state’s aquatic diversity.

PIRSA Aquaculture is working with industry and Biosecurity Australia to address concerns 
with the importation of pilchards and mackerel (used for feed in aquaculture) after the 
identification of a virus in Californian pilchards, in particular to investigate alternative feed 
sources.

TARGETS FOR 2002–03
• Implement the fish health management framework and develop a dynamic register of fish 

health disease incidence and responses.

• Increase the capacity of industry to respond to fish health issues.

• Monitor waters within South Australia according to national protocols.

• Maintain databases of microbiology, algal and environmental parameters, and make this 
information available to the aquaculture industry.

• Prevent contaminated shellfish from reaching markets by closing contaminated growing 
areas.
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• Respond to food-borne disease outbreaks, algal blooms, fish kills and environmental 
spillage events.

• Input into industry codes of practice.

• Develop and instigate protocols to prohibit the farming or collection of shellfish from 
prohibited areas.

• Provide policy advice to government and industry regarding the management of safe 
shellfish production.

Strategic priority 4 — INTEGRATED POLICY 
FRAMEWORK, REGULATION AND COMPLIANCE 
— create through consultation, effective policy and 
regulatory frameworks to enhance industry and community 
confidence
Development issues
Systems improvements, including data management, have been identified to ensure the 
inquiries and applications process is better integrated.

Biological, physical and socio-economic investigations to support management plan 
reviews have been undertaken in the South East, lower Eyre Peninsula, upper, central and 
lower Spencer Gulf, the Far West Coast and Gulf St Vincent (incorporating lower Yorke 
Peninsula).

Policy framework
The Aquaculture Act 2001 was assented to on 6 December 2001, and came into operation 
on 1 July 2002. The Act’s objectives are to promote ecologically sustainable development 
of marine and inland aquaculture; to maximise benefits to the community from the state’s 
aquaculture resource; and otherwise to ensure the efficient and effective regulation of the 
aquaculture industry.

A series of discussion papers were prepared to support the development of new statutory 
policies and, subsequently, implementation of the Act. The discussion papers cover the 
various species that are currently, or are likely to be, farmed in South Australia, acceptable 
types of farming systems, licence conditions, operational standards, tenure allocation and 
administrative issues, such as cost recovery.

Licensing
There were 1026 aquaculture authorisations current at the end of June 2002, a 12 per 
cent increase from the previous year, reflecting the growing demand for seafood and the 
realisation that aquaculture is a sustainable means to increase seafood production.

TARGETS FOR 2002–03
• Finalise, endorse and implement new policies and regulations to support the 

Aquaculture Act.

• Adopt policies and procedures for improved licensing, leasing, compliance and 
environmental management and evaluation.

• Make available a public register containing information as required by the Aquaculture 
Act.

• Define operating procedures for the Aquaculture Tenure Allocation Board.
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• Develop a regional site inspection schedule and conduct investigation services for non-
complying activities, entanglements etc.

• Formalise an agreement with PIRSA Fisheries Compliance to ensure that compliance 
services are carried out in accordance with aquaculture licensing conditions and 
operating standards.

Strategic priority 5 — ECOLOGICALLY SUSTAINABLE 
DEVELOPMENT — enhance the capacity of community 
and industry to integrate, achieve and report against 
environmentally sustainable development principles
Ecologically sustainable development
A continued focus for PIRSA has been, and will continue to be, the ecologically sustainable 
development of the aquaculture industry. The Aquaculture Act provides an integrated 
structure under which a comprehensive set of policies, regulations and standards can 
be developed and enforced. Several provisions of the Act, including the establishment 
of an Aquaculture Tenure Allocation Board and a memorandum of understanding with 
the Environment Protection Authority, underpin the sustainable development of one 
of the state’s most significant primary industry sectors. These provisions are unique 
and contribute to the Aquaculture Act being recognised by some as the best and most 
comprehensive aquaculture legislation currently in place in Australia.

Regional Aquaculture Policies
Regional aquaculture zone policies, supported by technical investigations, will provide 
greater confidence and certainty in the approval process. Aquaculture zone policies form 
the basis for decisions on the viability of existing and new aquaculture areas, and the 
environmental compatibility of aquaculture throughout the state. They also allow for the 
orderly and sustainable growth of aquaculture.

The South East and Lower Eyre Aquaculture Zones have been reviewed and made 
available for public comment. Technical investigations to support zone policies reviews 
have been undertaken in the South East, Lower Eyre, Upper, Central and Lower Spencer 
Gulf, the Far West Coast and Gulf St Vincent (incorporating Lower Yorke Peninsula).

Legislative development
The Aquaculture Act provides a framework for ecologically sustainable development of 
the aquaculture industry and greater clarity, transparency and certainty for all stakeholders. 
Policies to support the provisions of the Act have been developed in conjunction with the 
Aquaculture Advisory Committee and with industry consultation.

Tenure, assessment and licensing
Processes were developed to manage tenure allocation and licence assessments giving 
regard to the provisions of the Aquaculture Act. These include arrangements for the 
Aquaculture Tenure Allocation Board, and negotiations to manage the assessment process 
with input from the Environment Protection Agency. Discussion papers were developed 
to address licensing, leasing and tenure allocation issues under the Act, and a review of 
licence conditions and operating standards undertaken.

TARGETS FOR 2002–03
• Develop a state Aquaculture Action Plan.

• Adopt policies to ensure the ecologically sustainable management of the state’s farmed 
seafood sector.
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• Formalise an agreement with the Environment Protection Authority to ensure efficient 
assessment of licence applications, transfer etc.

Strategic priority 9 — ACCESS TO INFORMATION AND 
SERVICES — improve industry and regional access to 
information that supports better business decisions
Regional development boards
Strong links were maintained with the state’s regional development boards, including 
agreements for boards to undertake contracted project work on behalf of PIRSA 
Aquaculture. Links with regional development boards also assist in the provision of 
information to existing or prospective fish farmers by better integrating the technical and 
business advice available.

Industry
PIRSA Aquaculture worked with industry associations to facilitate networking, disseminate 
best-practice information and advice, identify training requirements and prioritise projects.

Industry projects
PIRSA Aquaculture worked with industry associations to develop value-adding projects for 
the abalone, finfish and shellfish sectors. The South Australian Aquaculture Council were 
assisted with development of a State Aquaculture Action Agenda.

Technical advice
The group facilitated the provision of specialist aquaculture technical advisory services to 
improve the level of information available to people currently in the industry and to others 
interested in entering the industry.

Fact sheets
Thirty-five fact sheets were updated and a further six developed to provide contemporary 
and accurate information relating to aquaculture species and development in South 
Australia. These fact sheets are available from PIRSA’s website.

TARGETS FOR 2002–03
• Develop arrangements for provision of industry projects in conjunction with the South 

Australian Aquaculture Council and in line with the State Aquaculture Action Plan.

• Ensure industry awareness of its responsibilities under the new Act, particularly where 
licence conditions or operating standards have changed.

• Provide a public register including information as required by the Act.

• Assist with management of externally funded projects to increase aquaculture 
production efficiencies and value.

• Implement an aquaculture information and spatial management system.

• Develop arrangements with Rural Solutions SA for the delivery of industry 
development services.
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Strategic priority 11 — WE MANAGE RESULTS — we 
manage our resources well; we provide leadership; our 
business processes are effective and efficient
Aquaculture Advisory Committee
The Aquaculture Advisory Committee provided advice throughout the year, particularly in 
regard to the progress of the Aquaculture Act and its supporting policies. The committee 
was disbanded in June 2002 to make way for the new Aquaculture Advisory Committee, 
prescribed as a statutory body by the Aquaculture Act, whose first meeting was held in 
June 2002.

Aquaculture Tenure Allocation Board
The Aquaculture Tenure Allocation Board is a new statutory body prescribed by the 
Aquaculture Act to provide advice to the Minister for Agriculture, Food and Fisheries 
on the competitive allocation of the state’s aquaculture resources to ensure maximum 
community benefit.

TARGETS FOR 2002–03
• Commission economic studies of aquaculture by region and by industry sector.

• Further develop industry-wide assessment and monitoring protocols for aquaculture.

• Develop strategies to support the directions of the industry and efficiently allocate 
resources in line with the State Aquaculture Plan.

• Formalise membership of the Aquaculture Tenure Allocation Board.

• Streamline business planning, implementation and reporting through introduction of 
software to manage the group’s resources and allow activity-based costing for the 
purposes of cost recovery.

SARDI
The South Australian Research and Development Institute (SARDI) 
is the South Australian Government’s principle resource for primary 
industries and related research and development, and is a primary 
source of advice on state science and research policy. It was 
established to provide a better focus and direction for the state’s 
research capacity; to ensure that research outcomes are relevant 
and available to industry; ensure that research and its management 
operate within commercial and industry standards; and increase 
South Australia’s national research and development profile and 
influence.

SARDI operates in four strategic research areas — Aquatic 
Sciences, Crops, Horticulture and Livestock Systems. The operational 
research units are supported and complemented by Corporate Services 
and Communications units. Research and development services are 
provided to agribusiness, commercial enterprise, manufacturing and 
processing industries, natural resource conservation agencies, primary 
industries (agriculture, fishing and aquaculture), rural industry development 
corporations and state government agencies.
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Performance measure highlights
SARDI completed 70 projects in 2001–02 and 200 projects were commenced or are 
ongoing. All projects and services met agreed criteria (milestones) and contributed to the 
defined project outcomes and scope. Projects reached milestones agreed in the project 
proposals or were renegotiated with clients.

Strategic priority 1 — INDUSTRY DEVELOPMENT — we 
provide support for industry and regional development that 
focuses on global market opportunities.
Aquatic sciences
Aquaculture Program
The Head Office of the Aquafin Cooperative Research Centre was established at the South 
Australian Aquatic Sciences Centre providing a major boost to research and development 
by bringing together industry, government and education sector research and development 
capabilities. Key programs are in relation to the environment, nutrition, propagation and 
health of farmed finfish.

A new coastal finfish hatchery was completed to support the development of new 
aquaculture species such as King George Whiting.

The commercialisation of near infra-red spectral analysis procedures for baitfish 
through the SARDI Pig and Poultry Production Institute laboratory now provides rapid 
measurements of baitfish composition to commercial tuna farms, thereby allowing the 
farmers to better monitor feed quality.

Crops
Final negotiations were completed for the formal launch of the fully corporate wheat 
breeding company, Australian Grain Technologies Pty Ltd, comprising the South 
Australian Government, the University of Adelaide and the Grains Research and 
Development Corporation. The company is one of three new Australian wheat breeding 
entities supported by the Grains Research and Development Corporation, each of which 
will compete nationally to produce the best regionally adapted, but world competitive, 
wheats for the Australian and overseas markets worth $5.7 billion annually to Australia. 
Staff from SARDI’s Grain Quality Laboratory will join the company with other SARDI 
services being contracted on an ‘as needs’ basis. (see also Agricultural Industries)

Cereal crops
As part of the Malting Barley Quality Improvement Program two new malting barley lines 
(WI3102, WI3167) are to be commercially released from the University of Adelaide’s 
Waite Program supported by SARDI.

Genetic resistance to yellow leaf spot, scald, Septoria and net blotch were identified 
by SARDI and field nurseries in many barley breeding lines. A molecular marker for 
resistance to spot form net blotch in the barley variety Tilga has been identified and will 
be used to help develop malting barley varieties with improved resistance to this disease. 
The genetic location for a gene resistant to spot form net blotch in a Japanese barley line 
was identified and is being used by the New South Wales Barley Breeding Program. 
SARDI has also discovered that some specific barley scald resistance genes can be 
accurately identified in breeding lines using specific single spore isolates of the fungus 
Rhynchosporium secalis which will facilitate the development of scald resistance and 
enable the identification of adult plant resistance genes at the seedling stage.
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New oat germ plasm was obtained from Canada, United States, United Kingdom, and 
Brazil for oaten grain and hay breeding end-uses.

Wheat harvest records were set at the Minnipa Agriculture Centre for the 2001 season 
where a record mean wheat yield of 2.53 tonnes per hectare (80 per cent of the potential 
yield) was achieved with a mean protein content of 12 per cent.

Pulse and oilseed crops
Pulse Diagnostics processed 98 seed samples during the summer and autumn; 56 were 
lentil seed. Ascochyta lentis was the main disease detected and two samples from Bute 
registered extreme levels of infection. Only a few samples were infected with Botrytis, the 
higher levels coming from Horsham. Fabas, clover, medic and lucerne seeds have been 
tested for the presence of Ditylenchus species and all results have been negative.

A total of 120 faba bean breeding lines were screened for resistance to Botrytis fabae, with 
21 lines identified as having useful resistance.

Field pea breeding lines at Charlick Research Farm were assessed for powdery mildew 
resistance with 24 lines found to be resistant and four lines identified as having 
intermediate resistance. In addition 176 field pea lines were assessed for downy mildew 
and powdery mildew resistance in controlled environment conditions — 45 were resistant 
to downy mildew, 47 resistant to powdery mildew and 11 were resistant to both mildews. 
In the case of black spot, eight lines had reduced disease levels, particularly on the stems at 
Balaklava.

In lentils, the S2, S3 and S4 breeding trials at Kingsford Research Station were rated 
for reaction to Botrytis grey mould. Most lines were susceptible but a few were an 
improvement over the currently popular Northfield variety.

Chickpeas at two disease nurseries at Kingsford Research Station were assessed for 
resistance to Ascochyta rabiei. With very high-disease pressure, many lines showed good 
resistance in both local and overseas germ plasm collections.

A preliminary predictive model for blackspot of peas dependent upon degree days and 
rainfall before and after sowing was produced.

Field Crop Evaluation and Agronomy Group
The Field Crop Evaluation and Agronomy Group operates throughout the state using 
mobile equipment. During the year various varieties and breeders lines across 13 crop 
species were sown in more than 100 field trial sites and 40 000 small trial plots, mostly on 
private properties. Ongoing grain quality testing of wheat, oats and pulses continued for the 
national and locally based plant breeding programs; grain samples have been tested in all 
crops. No major disease or grain quality problems were experienced, although there was 
major head loss in barley and oat plots that were not harvested until late December.

Pathology
Trial sites were selected and established to assess tolerance of wheat and oat varieties to 
cereal cyst nematode and oat varieties to stem nematode (in collaboration with the South 
Australian Wheat and Oat Breeding Programs). In December screening for cereal cyst 
nematode was completed in 120 000 plants, wheat varieties to Pratylenchus neglectus 
and P. thornei (8000 plants) and oat varieties to stem nematode (4000 plants). Crops from 
the first year of two-year field trials with the Minnipa Agricultural Centre were harvested 
on upper Eyre Peninsula to assess the effect of P. neglectus in wheat, barley, triticale, 
oat, oilseed and pasture varieties. Good multiplication of P. neglectus was observed in 
susceptible varieties and sites will be used to assess yield loss in the 2002–03 season. A 
two-year field trial to assess resistance and tolerance to stem nematode was also harvested 
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on Yorke Peninsula; minimal multiplication or damage was observed due to unfavourable 
conditions for nematode development.

In the case of rust, breeder’s lines were successfully screened for resistance to leaf rust, 
stripe rust, Septoria tritici blotch, scald, spot form net blotch, net form net blotch, common 
root rot, take-all, covered smut, bunt, flag smut and loose smut.

Entomology
A full patent has been taken out by SARDI on a European wasp bait dispenser and it is 
aimed to make it commercially available in Adelaide for summer of 2002–03.

In July, approximately 60 canola crops were inspected across the state for various insect 
pests as part of a Grains Research and Development Corporation project. Similar work is 
being carried out in Western Australia and Victoria and it seems that slugs warrant a major 
new initiative across southern Australia.

Significant progress was made in developing effective control measures for white snails 
in South Australia’s crops and pastures. It is now recommended that baiting should 
occur early in the growing season (April and May) when mostly large snails, which are 
vulnerable to baits, are present. If the control is correctly timed, most large adult snails are 
eliminated before the commencement of egg laying and the potential for any reproduction 
and build up of the next generation is dramatically reduced. This new strategy was 
practiced by a small number of farmers during 2001 and proved to be very effective.

Foundation Seed Scheme
The Foundation Seed Scheme managed the 2002 winter multiplication of a new wheat, 
RAC 892 (Stylet), to be considered for release for the 2003 season. The over summer and 
subsequent winter multiplication of another new wheat, RAC 891, was also managed.

Following an extremely favourable report on the milling potential of a new oat line, 
SARDI will proceed with its commercialisation.

Seed allocation for the 2002 production of the new hay oat Wintaroo was completed. A 
total of 120 tonnes of seed will be grown by seven hay exporters in South Australia and 
one in Victoria, and six tonnes will be grown in Western Australia.

Horticulture
The Riverlink Council met in February, to develop a work plan for 2002 and to present 
awards to Riverlink research and extension staff. A SARDI entomologist was given an 
award for collaborative research with the Victorian Department of Natural Resources and 
Environment to develop integrated pest management systems for the control of Kelly’s 
citrus thrips.

Field testing of the SARDI spray fan has provided improvements in spray coverage, 30 per 
cent increased air volume and improved turbulent airflow. It is intended to manufacture the 
improved fan by an independent company prior to the next season.

Tree crops
The South Australian cherry industry predicts that the expansion in production and 
consequent increased volumes of fruit in Australia likely to occur over the next five years 
will significantly depress grower returns from domestic market sales. The development of 
reliable sea freight protocols to deliver high-quality fruit to export markets is seen by the 
local industry as a method of countering the likely low-domestic prices. The industry has 
invested in research and development to support this with results providing information 
that will be incorporated into a comprehensive handling protocol for testing and refinement 
during the 2002–03 season.
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Research to improve pollination and fruit set on new and imported cherry varieties has 
established that the variety Stella is an ubiquitous pollinator, however more than one 
pollinator variety should be planted to ensure overlap of bloom times.

Research to find alternatives to the chemical diphenylamine (DPA) for controlling 
superficial scald on apples has shown propanol to effectively control scald for nine months 
in cool storage. However, tainting of the fruit could be detected and further work is 
planned. Guidelines for using DPA were revised and distributed to growers.

Citrus
Australian navel oranges and mandarins have out-turned in excellent condition in the 
United States this season selling at premium prices due to consistency of supply of quality 
fruit. Major contributions to the success of the program included improved citrus rind 
quality and adoption of protocols to control light-brown apple moth and snails. Fruit size 
and uniform colour are critical to successful marketing, and ongoing research by SARDI 
staff will address these issues.

Red flesh grapefruit trees were planted as part of a research program to evaluate new 
grapefruit varieties. The national trial established that returns from red flesh grapefruit 
were three times that from the traditional white variety Marsh, and Oroblanco, despite its 
superior flavour, is difficult to market because of its thick skin.

Ornamentals
Variety descriptions for eight Ixodia (Hills daisy) selections have been prepared to facilitate 
the release of varieties suitable for commercialisation.

Vegetables
Crop scouting and pest management advice were provided for the first tomato crop grown 
in the Greenhouse Modernisation project Azrom greenhouse at Virginia. The crop was 
successfully steered through to harvest without the need for any insecticide treatments.

Research into leek production in South Australia has identified fusarium foot rot as the 
most significant cause of crop losses and that the fungicides Octave and Bavistan have 
potential for disease control. 

Viticulture
Experiments during the 2001–02 production season demonstrated that pre-flowering sprays 
of molybdenum applied to cultivar Merlot wine grapes achieved large and significant 
(222–750 per cent) increases in bunch yield per vine. 

Research carried out by SARDI to evaluate the hydro-smart system for treating hard saline 
water for irrigation of vines established some significant effects on grape berry chloride 
levels and some differences in soil nutrient parameters.

Livestock systems
Pigs and poultry
The appointment of a leader for the Pig and Poultry Production Institute has brought a new 
capacity to develop production and management skills for the expanding pork industry. 
New programs are planned for effluent management, a high priority identified by industry 
to underpin sustainable expansion of the South Australian (export) industry.

Trials to reduce airborne pollutant concentrations in pig sheds were completed and a 
protocol for assessing buildings for hygiene and air quality was developed.
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The Poultry Nutrition Research Team completed apparent metabolisable energy bioassay 
evaluations of sorghum, wheat and commercial diets were carried our for three companies. 
Other projects completed included 

rapid prediction of reactive lysine in heat-processed feed ingredients used in pig diet; the 
Australasian Livestock Feed Ingredient Database; and the nutritive value of Nupro 2000 
for weaner pigs (Alltech).

Air quality assessments were made in 29 layer and broiler sheds as part of a reduction of 
dust emission from poultry sheds project; the data is being analysed to identify risk factors 
associated with high airborne dust levels. A trial is being set up to fine-tune oil spraying in 
broiler facilities and promote as a viable dust reduction strategy. 

The construction of the first prototype of the new air quality monitoring machine as part 
of the establishment of a national air quality and housing expert network project was 
completed. The new instrument has been trialled at the Roseworthy Piggery with positive 
results.

Dairy
Projects on bloat-safe lucerne varieties, supplementing colostrum with rennet and 
optimising protein absorption from colostrum by calves have been completed. Soil cores 
have been sampled from dairy farms in the South East to evaluate nutrient loss and 
movement of food borne pathogens through the soil from different production zones. The 
economic analysis of the current Flaxley Farmlet Program is being extended to include 
case studies of commercial dairy farms proposing to increase stocking rates. 

Meat and wool
There has been a major expansion of industry-funded projects in the meat and wool area 
including ovine gene marker for meat production, sustainable parasite control programs, 
identification and control pigmented fibres in the Australian wool flock and meat quality 
and parasite projects in the Sheep and Beef Cooperative Research Centres.

Final reports were completed for the maternal central progeny test project, the testing of 
pesticides against lice in laboratory bioassays, and the study of the temporal relationship 
between louse infestation and fleece derangement.

Biochemistry
Four investigations (sampling rounds) of the health and mineral needs of dairy cows in 
the Lower Murray Irrigation Area have been completed as part of a collaborative program 
investigating the reduction of nutrient load to the Murray River. Field investigations of 
the usefulness of milk B12 levels as an indicator of the B12 status of dairy cows were 
completed. 

Animal breeding and genetics 
Over 1000 wool samples were processed as part of a collaborative project on wool sulphur 
content as an indicator of wool production and parasite resistance.

Pastures
Super 10 lucerne cultivar is performing very well and the first commercial sale will be in 
autumn 2002.

A rhizobially promiscuous medic has been developed and could result in the first plant 
bred for rhizobial promiscuity in Australian agriculture. A strand medic line with high-level 
tolerance to root lesion nematode (Pratylenchus) has been identified.
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Sustainable resources
Summer crop trials had mixed results in a season with a wet, cold start but extremely dry 
finish. Forage yields of up to 10 tonnes per hectare highlight the potential of summer forage 
crops to provide abundant green feed in the traditional late summer–autumn feed gap.

TARGETS FOR 2002–03
• Commercialise and release to the floriculture industry improved Ixodia selections.

• Establish at least five new potentially useful apricot cultivars on commercial orchards 
throughout South Australia for industry evaluation.

• Contract a commercial partner for the national evaluation of new apricot cultivars (and 
possibly international).

• Further evaluate the foliar application of molybdenum to improve Merlot bunch set.

• Consolidate the Animal Biotechnology Program at Roseworthy Campus.

• Commercialise (IVF-based) advanced breeding technologies for sheep and cattle.

• Establish the proposed Sustainable Resources Strategic Research Area.

Strategic priority 2 — INNOVATION INDUSTRY — we 
promote and facilitate new and value-adding industry 
that builds on the States’ knowledge, infrastructure and 
innovation capability
Aquatic sciences
Methodologies for the determination of age in juvenile and larval pilchards have been 
developed and are being used to implement an age-structured stock assessment model.

Following extensive consultation with industry a new project proposal on the investigation of 
the genetic loads of the farmed Pacific oysters and the development of the technology(ies) to 
produce highly inbred lines has been developed and submitted to the Fisheries Research and 
Development Corporation.

A new project has been initiated to develop novel methodologies for the rapid assessment of 
sediment biota associated with tuna cages and aims to provide substantial savings in relation 
to routine environmental monitoring and assessments.

Crops
Australia’s first two-doubled haploid populations for gene mapping in oats were generated. 
In wheat well-adapted germ plasm with high yield and significantly higher grain protein 
than found previously has been identified. A molecular marker for resistance to Cereal Cyst 
Nematode in the introduced line Iraq48 (AUS4930) has been identified. A total of 4000 
barley doubled haploids have been generated for winter breeding programs. A new technique 
was developed for tissue culture of lentils.

A DNA assay for detection of branched broomrape in soil was developed and will be used 
to monitor seed bank decline of branched broomrape. A DNA test for stem nematode was 
developed and will be used to survey South Australian soils for stem nematode levels.

Horticulture
Improvements have been to temperature monitoring and modified atmosphere systems in 
shipping containers. An innovative packaging system using modified atmosphere plastic 
punnet packs was evaluated for cherries.
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The National Registration Authority has approved the registration of the chemical Rugby for 
use by Australian citrus growers to control citrus nematodes following research by SARDI.

TARGETS FOR 2002–03
• Support the ongoing development of near-commercial scale marine research and 

development facilities within South Australia.

• Evaluate modified atmosphere punnet packs for a range of horticultural crops.

Strategic priority 3 — RISKS AND BIOLOGICAL 
CONTAMINANT THREATS — we successfully manage 
risks including, biological and contaminant threats, to the 
environment, production efficiencies and market access
Aquatic sciences
SARDI Aquatic Sciences has taken a leading role in scientific research to eradicate the 
invasive seaweed Caulerpa taxifolia, determining the extent of the infestations within West 
Lakes and the Port River as well as studies on a range of potential eradication or control 
options. Extensive consultation has occurred with stakeholders to ensure broad community 
understanding of the scope of the problems and the consequences of eradication strategies. 
(see also Fisheries and Sustainable Resources)

Crops
Two releases of the dung beetle, Geotrupes spiniger, were made on the Fleurieu Peninsula. 
High-risk sites for fireants were surveyed, such as the Adelaide Airport, Port Adelaide 
container depots and port facilities, and nurseries that import plants from the Brisbane area.

Horticulture
SARDI oversaw the release of sterile male Mediterranean Fruit Flies in spring to combat any 
future infestations. The release of two million sterile flies a week will replace the use of cover 
sprays of insecticides previously used in fruit fly eradication programs. A seminar on the 
sterile insect technique was held at the Plant Research Centre in July.

Partial rootzone drying technology has been successfully established in the wine grape 
industry on a large scale to reduce water use by 30–50 per cent without any reduction in yield. 
Similarly regulated deficit irrigation has reduced water usage in vineyards while improving 
the quality of white wines produced from participating vineyards. Salt tolerance studies with 
vines have shown that saline water irrigation may not significantly effect yields during the 
season of application, but vines can take up to three years to recover, with yield impacts in 
this recovery phase.

Livestock systems
Food Safety Research Group
A pilot study was completed for AusBulk on the microbiological food borne hazard status of 
snail contaminated grain at receival.

A pilot food safety risk assessment of commercially harvested mud cockles (Katelysia 
species) in the lower Port River was undertaken to examine a range of food safety hazards 
including heavy metals and organochlorines.
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A through-chain food safety and shelf-life risk assessment is being conducted for the 
Spencer Gulf and West Coast Prawn Association to evaluate quality assurance systems and 
provide information for national food safety standards setting processes.

Meat and Livestock Australia has selected SARDI’s Chief Scientist, Livestock Systems, as 
facilitator for a through-chain food safety risk profile project for the red meat industries to 
plan risk assessments and research and development priorities.

TARGETS FOR 2002–03
• Develop a broader capability in the assessment and eradication of invasive marine 

pests and related bio-security hazards in South Australian coastal waters.

• Develop new projects for the Viticulture industry relating to the impact of drip 
irrigation on soil structure and sub-surface irrigation techniques.

Strategic priority 5 — ECOLOGICALLY SUSTAINABLE 
DEVELOPMENT — we enhance the capacity of 
community and industry to integrate, achieve and report 
against environmentally sustainable development 
principles
Aquatic sciences
Environment and Ecology Program
The Environment and Ecology Program was established with a principle focus on 
environmental sustainability and will deliver research and development to support the 
sustainable use of natural systems, the restoration of degraded aquatic systems and an 
improved understanding of the unique aspects of the biodiversity of southern temperate 
aquatic ecosystems.

Broad surveys of benthic habitats in Gulf St Vincent were conducted and show substantial 
changes since the last complete survey in 1964–69. In particular large areas of deep-
water Heterozostera in the southern portions of the Gulf and in Investigator Strait have 
disappeared, as have Malleus assemblages in the southeastern part of the gulf. The 
distribution of bryozoan dominated assemblages has also been substantially reduced. Of 
particular relevance to the prawn industry, there are only a few small areas where cover 
exceeds 5 per cent, which suggests that bryozoans do not appear to have a negative impact 
on prawn numbers.

Great Australian Bight and Shelf Seas Program
The wild fisheries research programs have been restructured to support the shift towards 
ecosystems based management of fisheries and their supporting environments. Two 
new programs have been established comprising the Great Australian Bight and Shelf 
Seas Program (incorporating rock lobster, abalone and pelagic resources) and the Gulfs, 
Estuaries and Inland Waters Program (incorporating marine scalefish, prawns, blue crabs 
and inland waters including the Lakes and Coorong Fisheries).

A risk sustainability analysis of the southern rock lobster resources in South Australia and 
a project assessing the impact of a sample of proposed Marine Protect Areas on South 
Australian rock lobster catches was conducted. An analysis of data relating to escape gap, 
selectivity and by-catch reduction has also been completed. Substantial progress was made 
within the abalone sub-program; independent surveys have been completed and the 2001 
Stock Assessment Report completed.

An assessment of the performance of the Great Australian Bight Marine Park is being 
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undertaken and aims to establish a broad based capability in performance assessment of 
Marine Protected Areas to support both state and national programs in this area.

A project to assess the potential risks of beach sand replenishment dredging on the Section 
Banks has been completed and identified habitats of conservation significance, which 
require a precautionary approach to dredging. 

Gulf Waters and Estuaries Program
SARDI participated in a tri-state project to monitor fish communities and fish movement 
near Lock 1 (Blanchetown) as part of the Murray-Darling Basin Commission’s 
development of fish passageways along the River Murray.

Strategic priority 7 — BUILDING COMMUNITY CAPACITY 
— we build capacity, leadership and global awareness in 
industry, and rural and indigenous communities
Aquatic sciences
Aquatic Sciences organised a display at the Royal Adelaide Show in conjunction with 
sectors of the state’s commercial fishing industry.

Strategic priority 8 — PARTNERSHIPS — we negotiate 
effective partnerships with industry, rural and indigenous 
communities, Commonwealth Government and local 
government for regional and industry development
Aquatic sciences
Verification of data on catch, effort and recreational expenditure was completed for the 
National Recreational and Indigenous Fishing Survey project. A project to design and 
construct a finfish broodstock spawning tank system for the Marine Aquaculture Centre, 
Singapore, was completed and provided opportunities for South Australian companies to 
enter into joint ventures with Singapore manufacturers for the construction of many of the 
facilities.

Crops
Collaboration continued with local and interstate plant breeding programs through 
exchange of both early and advanced breeding lines for evaluation within South Australian 
cropping environments, and with plant breeders, pathologists and chemists during the 
October public release of Wintaroo oats and Stylet wheat.

SARDI is working with the Fleurieu Beef Group to introduce two new species of autumn 
and winter active dung beetles to compliment the summer active species already widely 
established. The contract is to provide advice on biology, release and surveying procedures.

New programs are being developed for low-rainfall pea breeding program to service the 
low-rainfall regions of southern Australia and for wheat and barley breeding. Six new 
project proposals were lodged with the Grains Research and Development Corporation for 
funding under the new Strategic Initiative Program.
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Horticulture
Tree crops
The Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research approved funding for a 
collaborative apricot and plum-breeding project with China. The project will provide 
$800 000 of funding over four years and is expected to commence early in 2002.

Contributions have been made to the Air And Sea Freight Export Development Councils’ 
production of numerous information packages, particularly relating to the cold chain 
handling of perishable products. In addition SARDI has been involved in the delivery of 
sections of a cold chain logistics training course in collaboration with Douglas Mawson 
Institute of TAFE.

TARGETS FOR 2002–03
• Prepare guidelines for the preparation, transportation and retail handling of perishable 

produce into the remote regions of South Australia.

• Investigate the potential for a national collaborative centre for tree crop molecular 
biology to service the tree crop breeding programs in Australia.

• Actively participate in the formation and development of the proposed Vegetable and 
Potato Agricultural Research Advisory Councils in South Australia.

• Facilitate the formation of a viticultural research and development reference group in 
South Australia.

Strategic priority 9 — ACCESS TO INFORMATION AND 
SERVICES — we improve industry and regional access to 
information that supports better business decisions
SARDI was a key participant in farmer, industry, and research and development extension 
forums throughout the year such as field days, workshops, conferences and GRDC (Grains 
Research and Development Corporation) Updates and Expos.

Aquatic sciences
The Coastal finfish hatchery manual: King George whiting was released. The South 
Australian Aquatic Sciences Centre finfish hatchery was used to host a national live feeds 
workshop for industry hatchery technicians.

Crops
SARDI presented oat hay information at the GRDC Expo, Glimac Growers Day, GRDC 
Update, to the Australian Fodder Industry Association and at the various field days. 
Articles were written for the Crop harvest report and the Post harvest report, and the 
Oat Newsletter was published. SARDI participated in an Australian Crop Accreditation 
System review of the Western Australian Department for Agriculture, a Pulse Australia 
strategic planning session and initiated discussions on a possible joint low-rainfall pulse 
improvement program.

The Vetch annual report was completed. A paper was prepared for the Chickpea 2001 
Conference, staff attended a high rainfall research priority planning workshop and the 
National Canola Pathology Collaboration meeting, presenting South Australian blackleg 
research.

SARDI attended the Warooka Yorke Peninsula Agricultural Bureau Conference 2002, 13th 
Biennial Plant Pathology Conference and 12th Australian Research Assembly on Brassicas. 
The national pulse breeding meetings for peas, chickpeas and lentils were held at SARDI. 
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Two new extension articles were co-authored on lentil and faba bean disease management. 
Screening trials of field peas, lentils and chickpeas were inspected at the Victorian Institute 
of Dryland Salinity, Horsham.

Climate risk management project work was featured in a display at the GRDC Expo, in 
seminars organised by the Australian Institute of Agricultural Science and Technology 
and in the ANZ Royal Farm Expo Seminar. A paper on South Australian work on climate 
risk management training and information delivery to grain growers was presented at the 
ANZ Climate Forum. A workshop to review the climate variability in agriculture program 
was attended. Reports reviewing 2001 seasonal conditions and the success of forecasting 
systems in predicting these were written for the PIRSA crop harvest report and Eyre 
Peninsula farming systems summary books and presented at a GRDC Update.

The final report for the project Overcoming Constraints on Lupin Production in the Lower 
Eyre Peninsula was presented to the South Australian Grains Industry Trust Fund.

SARDI presented posters on the theme of milling and baking quality within historic wheats 
at the 51st RACI Cereal Chemistry Conference, attended the Australian Barley Technical 
Symposium and Australian Wheat Breeding Assembly, and participated in a Field Crop 
Evaluation Workshop and the development of a coordinated national approach to crop 
evaluation. The SA crop variety sowing guide for 2002 booklet was compiled and sent to 
8000 farmers and advisers throughout the state.

A promotional pamphlet on the Nematode Diagnostic Service, an article in the Minnipa 
Field Day handbook, Cereal variety disease guide — cereal seed treatments Fact Sheet 
and a range of media articles were produced. Posters were presented at the Australian Plant 
Pathology Symposium and the Minnipa Field Day. A soil biology workshop was attended 
and information was presented at the Interstate Oat Variety Tour. Information on nematode 
resistance and tolerance for the Cereal variety disease guide was updated and published.

Entomology staff visited the Western Australian Department of Agriculture to inspect 
the factory used to produce sterile male Mediterranean fruit flies. A report was submitted 
to Aventis Crop Science on the European wasp baiting studies conducted in July. A 
workshop on identifying insects on sticky cards, with emphasis on western flower thrips 
identification, was conducted. The annual meeting of Commissioners of the Australia 
Plague Locust Commission was attended; locust activity has been very low throughout 
southeastern Australia during 2001 but there was a major control effort conducted in 
Western Australia during the spring of 2001. Staff exhibited at the GRDC Expo launching 
an insect identification kit. Three integrated pest management workshops were presented 
for New South Wales brassica vegetable growers and staff attended the 4th International 
Diamondback Moth Workshop and convened a special meeting for brassica growers at 
Virginia. Presentations were given at the Australasian Postharvest Horticultural Conference 
and the Light Brown Apple Moth Market Access Committee. Updates on current protocols 
to reduce light brown apple moth, including the use of postharvest oil, were presented at a 
National Citrus Packers meeting.

SARDI attended a National Quarantine Entomologist meeting and was involved in an 
integrated approach to snail management workshop. A series of meetings were held on the 
Snail Management project. Presentations were made to a Consultative Oilseeds Committee 
meeting, and a South Australian Farmers Federation Oilseeds and Pulses Committee 
meeting, and to various groups in the Riverland, Struan and Appila. Two pest management 
workshops on the small brown snail in citrus were presented in Victoria and New South 
Wales. A paper was presented on false wireworms and slugs as pests of emerging canola 
crops at the GRDC Adviser Update. Presentations were made in several States on the 
Diamondback Moth project, at three interstate grower workshops and at an agronomy 
meeting in Western Australia. A talk on snails was presented at the Warooka Agricultural 
Bureau Conference and three snail workshops were run. Presentations were given on false 
wireworms and slugs in canola at a South Australian Farmers Federation – GRDC Update. 
A paper, ‘Insecticide modes of action and the possibilities of insecticide resistance in broad 
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acre crops’, was produced. Articles on snails, thrips and mealybugs were produced for 
several magazines including Grower and Citrus insight.

SARDI gave presentations at a nationwide Landcare conference in Port Lincoln on ‘The 
sustainability of agriculture on Eyre Peninsula’ and attended numerous field days. The 
regional Farming systems research summary for 2001 was produced and distributed to 
every farmer on the Eyre Peninsula. Regional farming systems group meetings were held 
throughout Eyre Peninsula to plan the 2002 research program with farmers, extension 
specialists and scientists. The 2001–02 Plant breeder’s rights brochure was updated for 
inclusion into the Field crop variety guide. A series of meetings were conducted with the 
South Australian Field Crop Association seeking expressions of interest in growing two 
varieties in South Australia in 2002 and to determine a contract growing fee. A report 
outlining progress with seed multiplication of potential new varieties was given. A meeting 
of farmers, consultants and researchers interested in diagnostic and decision support tools 
to assist management of soilborne diseases was held at SARDI.

Horticulture
The Australasian Postharvest Conference was hosted by SARDI, CSIRO and the 
University of Adelaide. SARDI attended the annual conference of the Australian Stonefruit 
Growers Association and is training cherry growers in best practice production and 
postharvest handling technology to assist the industry in accessing international markets. 
The Cool Chain Handling for Stonefruit project, to improve the quality of fruit reaching 
consumers, was completed. Outcomes included the publication of information kits, pocket 
guides, videos, newsletters and a web page.

Citrus
Alternative disinfestation treatments for citrus were discussed at a workshop in New 
South Wales. The Citrus Board of South Australia was briefed on postharvest handling, 
disinfestation, thrips and snail control, and technology delivery. Two workshops were 
attended in New South Wales on citrus breeding and evaluation, and disinfestation. 
The results of trials using growth regulators to increase the size of navel oranges were 
presented at a Fruit Size Field Day.

Ornamentals
SARDI arranged technical information and training sessions on integrated pest 
management in nurseries, shadehouse hygiene, beneficial insects and environmental 
weeds.

Vegetables
Key outcomes of research to improve the control of the brassica vegetable pest 
diamondback moth include the production and distribution of the Brassica integrated 
pest management handbook, demonstration of best-practice spray application and the 
assessment of five new insecticides. The Western Flower Thrips Management Program 
was launched and includes training programs supported by a manual compiled in several 
languages.

Viticulture
A seminar was held at the Plant Research Centre to review future directions for research on 
Australian grapevine yellows.
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Livestock systems
Pigs and poultry
Papers were presented at the European Association of Animal Production Conference and 
the Agribuildings 2001 Conference. Staff also participated in the annual general meeting of 
the International Commission of Agricultural Engineering and the post-conference meeting 
to discuss opportunities for research collaboration. SARDI participated in the Integrated 
Management Systems for Livestock Conference, and the 4th International Symposium 
on Epidemiology and Control of Other Food Borne Pathogens in Pork. Discussions were 
held with regulators and researchers in Denmark and the Netherlands on Salmonella 
surveillance and control measures, and visits were undertaken to a number of piggeries and 
abattoirs. A final seminar was presented on factors influencing air quality in pig sheds.

Staff attended the 2001 6th European Symposium on Poultry Welfare, presenting papers 
and posters on current projects. A national workshop for industry experts on beak trimming 
was organised. Staff coordinated an ostrich research management meeting in Geelong to 
develop nutritional strategies to reduce the cost of feeding ostriches. Several papers were 
presented at the Australian Poultry Science Symposium. A variety of workshops were 
attended.

Dairy
Presentations were made by SARDI to the Dairy Industry Development Board, and on 
research at Flaxley to the South Australian Dairy Network Workshop. An Innovation Day 
was held at Flaxley.

Meat and wool
A field day was held at Struan Agricultural Centre on the techno-grazing system. A best 
practice dairy beef manual was published. A merino breeders course was organised.

Biochemistry
SARDI gave presentations to the Australian Alpaca Association workshop on the mineral 
and vitamin needs of alpacas at Margaret River, Western Australia, and at the New Zealand 
Society of Animal Production Conference.

Animal breeding and genetics 
Presentations were made at the Breeding Technology Workshop and to visiting producers 
from Victoria. Staff attended an International Embryo Transfer Society meeting.

Pastures
Presentations were given at the Minnipa and Walpeup Field Days. A field day was led by 
SARDI at a large pasture demonstration site at Lameroo. SARDI hosted a workshop for 
members of the Cooperative Research Centre for Plant-based Management of Dryland 
Salinity and a National Annual Pasture Legume Improvement Program meeting.

Sustainable resources
SARDI participated in a three-week study tour of South Africa and South America 
inspecting no-till farming systems and an international symposium in Scotland discussing 
nutrient losses from agricultural systems. Many presentations were given at a wide range 
of field days.
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TARGETS FOR 2002–03
• Pursue the development of electronic information services both internally and to 

stakeholders.

• Commence a potato production guide for processing growers in the South East.

• Produce an information package for shippers and transporters with simple and 
effective guidelines on the appropriate vent settings for refrigerated shipping 
containers.

Strategic priority 12 — WE GROW AND HARNESS OUR 
KNOWLEDGE — our knowledge is a key business asset
In March SARDI upgraded its internet site. New and improved features include a complete 
update and increase of information available; consistent design and navigation; increased 
speed; site search facilities; and site map.

Strategic priority 13 — WE BUILD COLLABORATIVE 
RELATIONSHIPS WITH OTHERS — our success 
depends on building and maintaining our relationships with 
clients, stakeholders and the community
Aquatic sciences
SARDI took a leading role in the Encounter 2002 celebrations by hosting 30 marine 
scientists (including overseas and interstate participants) for a 15-day natural history 
expedition to the Nuyts Archipelago. The expedition spawned many new collaborations 
and provided a high profile for SARDI.

Crops
Four papers were presented by SARDI staff at an International Leaf Blights Workshop at 
the International Centre for Agricultural Research for Dry Areas in Syria.

Dr Wang from the Chinese Academy of Agricultural Sciences was hosted for three months 
to study molecular methods of detecting pathogens on seed. Dr Alexandra Schoeny, 
from the Institute of Research in Agronomy, France, visited SARDI for over six months 
to investigate the development of a model for blackspot of peas. Dr Carl Childers from 
Florida State University, United States, was hosted for approximately eight weeks, 
contributing to a study on thrips that affect citrus. Dr Wang Xiaoming from the Chinese 
Academy of Agricultural Sciences, Beijing, was hosted for three months, researching areas 
of interest in seed pathology and the application of molecular techniques to seed health.

SARDI contributed to a review of snail work being conducted by a scientist in the United 
Kingdom.

A paper was presented at the Fluid Fertilizer Foundation Forum at Scottsdale, Arizona, 
and. discussions held with faculty members of universities, contractors and consultants on 
ways of improving the research program in South Australia, through cooperation and better 
technology.

Horticulture
Dr Carl Childers, from the University of Florida, assisted with the development of 
techniques for studying soil-dwelling predators, some of which are thought to be important 
biocontrol agents of Kelly’s citrus thrips. Wayne Wilcox from Cornell University, United 
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States, completed a six-month sabbatical working with SARDI on the management of 
grape vine diseases.

Livestock systems
Two students from the Ecole Supérieure d’Agronomie de Rennes (ENSAR), France, spent 
six months at Roseworthy on a research training programs investigating factors associated 
with water consumption in pigs, and the use of oil sprays to reduce dust and in-door 
pollution in pig and poultry sheds. A joint research trial was completed with a United States 
based company to evaluate the potential of using low-levels of ozone to reduce odour and 
noxious gas concentrations in pig sheds. 

A joint project was conducted with the Australian Wool Testing Authority Ltd to assess in-
bale contamination of wool from merino ewes with different exposure to Damara fat tail 
rams and their crossbred lambs. A report on this research was submitted at the meeting of 
the International Wool Textile Organisation in Nice, France.

SARDI as lead agency for the Lucerne for Adverse Conditions in China and Australia 
project hosted project meetings and organised a short course.

TARGETS FOR 2002–03
• Pursue the further development of collaborative networks established in 2001–02 

in relation to the reefer containers, sea freight of fresh produce and improved spray 
application technologies.

• Explore the opportunity of establishing a collaborative Cold Chain Initiative with 
Warehouse Logistics Net Asia, Singapore.

SUSTAINABLE 
RESOURCES
The Sustainable Resources Group ensures that government 
policy and investment promotes healthy and prosperous 
primary production industries in South Australia that 
deliver safe produce, fulfil the current and future needs of 
South Australians, and incorporate economic, social and 
environmental aspects of resource use into management 
plans. Much of the group’s activities are delivered through 
partnerships with primary producers, industry organisations, 
resource managers, the community and other government 
sectors. The group facilitates improvement in the business and 
planning skills used in managing the state’s primary industries 
resource base. It develops and promotes technologies that 
support the use of the state’s natural resources up to their 
sustainable productive capacity. The group recognises the 
value of human resources and encourages its staff, industry 
and communities to work to their potential.

In line with improved understanding of natural resource 
management, the group has embraced the change towards 
systems thinking, integrated natural resource management, 
decision-making within an ecologically sustainable 

development framework and management at the landscape and ecosystem level. The group 
operates under seven programs — Animal and Plant Control; Land Management and 
Revegetation; Marine Habitat; Pastoral Management; Rural Communities and Education; 

10
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Strategic and Environmental Services; and Water Management. The following functions 
were transferred to the new Department of Water, Land and Biodiversity Conservation 
(DWLBC) — Pastoral Management; Water Management; Animal and Plant Control; Land 
Management and Revegetation; Strategic and Environmental Services (excluding Policy, 
Planning and Environmental Services); and Landcare and Landcare education — but for 
the purposes of this annual report all activities of the former Sustainable Resources Group 
are reported here.

Performance measure highlights
Customer survey results
Sustainable Resources undertook a number of surveys of its customers and stakeholders 
to assess the level of satisfaction with the group’s programs and services. Three programs 
(Animal Plant Control, Pastoral Management and Rural Communities and Education) 
were selected for survey and two independent research companies, Truscott Research and 
Harrison Research, were commissioned.

For Rural Communities and Education three surveys addressed the uptake of various 
aspects of training programs.

• In February 1005 land managers were surveyed about FarmBis: 62 per cent had 
attended FarmBis-funded training, with 88 per cent acknowledging that they have 
been positively influenced (65 per cent of those influenced to a ‘moderate’ or ‘great 
extent’) by it.

• In November 174 landholders living within the Central North East Farm Assistance 
region were surveyed: 77 per cent were aware of the program, 89 per cent were 
satisfied with the application process, 82.5 per cent had a positive attitude to the 
overall program, 51 per cent still intended to participate and 62 per cent cite the time 
to complete the application as the biggest barrier to participation. In relation to the 
most important issue that training addresses, 27 per cent cited weeds (particularly 
onion weed) as the most important issue.

• In August 150 farm business managers in the Murray Mallee were surveyed: results 
indicated that time was the largest barrier to attending farm management training 
followed by travel distance and cost. While 79 per cent of participants believed that 
training would give them an edge over competitors and is the key to their future more 
than 40 per cent saw natural resource management and financial and business planning 
as priorities for the next three years. When considering access to online training, it 
was found that 81 per cent of participants had a personal computer and 68 per cent 
were connected to the internet. Of those with personal computers, 64 per cent use farm 
financial software. Of the 68 per cent with internet access, 19 per cent spent 5–10 
hours per week accessing it, and 49 per cent spent 1–5 hours.

Satisfaction surveys were conducted for the Animal and Plant Control’s Branched 
Broomrape Eradication Program and the Pastoral Management Program. Interviews were 
held with 52 people living on properties in branched broomrape affected areas. ‘Excellent 
to good’ satisfaction levels were at: 80 per cent with the level of information received 
about branched broomrape; 68 per cent with the level of consultation by program staff 
with landholders; 58 per cent with the process for detecting branched broomrape; 54 per 
cent with the level of landholder compliance with the code of practice; 48 per cent with the 
research into the eradication of branched broomrape; and 22 per cent with the process of 
eradicating branched broomrape.

The Pastoral Management Program was assessed through 50 interviews with lessees and 
13 with other stakeholders, such as soil conservation boards. Over half of the survey 
respondents (59 per cent) rated the performance of the program as ‘excellent’ or ‘good’. 
Eleven aspects were considered and ‘excellent to good’ satisfaction levels were at: 79 per 
cent for ability to access the Pastoral Board; 65 per cent with the level of communication 
with lessees; 62 per cent with other aspects of the pastoral inspection service; 59 per 
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cent with the frequency of pastoral inspections; 56 per cent with the usefulness of 
mapping products; 56 per cent with the standard of assessment reports; 53 per cent with 
photopoint networks; 47 per cent with the process of monitoring land condition; 44 per 
cent satisfaction with the public image of the program; and 26 per cent satisfaction with the 
public access decisions.

Strategic Priority 1 — INDUSTRY DEVELOPMENT — 
provide support for industry and regional development that 
focuses on global market opportunities
Techniques, natural resource technologies and information
The Sustainable Resources Group continued to provide a wide range of techniques, natural 
resource technologies and information which enables South Australian industry to be more 
globally competitive. This year agricultural soil resource information was made available 
to support industry planning and investment.

Seventeen species of Australian native plants sent to Israel for trial by State Flora Australia 
are now being offered commercially via contracted arrangements. A second royalty 
payment has been received from Israel, part of which has been distributed to a plant 
breeder at Coonalpyn.

A technical report on revegetation for the Eyre Peninsula region has been completed, which 
will assist the regional Integrated Natural Resource Management body and support broader 
integrated natural resource management planning efforts on Eyre Peninsula.

Two research initiatives for low-rainfall areas were completed. The first identified the 
potential role of alley farming in areas close to the River Murray in the Murray Mallee, to 
contribute to improved river water quality. The second has shown field crop yield increases 
due to the presence of windbreaks.

TARGETS FOR 2002–03
• Assist landholders to develop more profitable and sustainable grazing systems on 

saline land through a collaborative project involving landholders, PIRSA, Land and 
Water Australia, and the Wool Initiative.

• The Pastoral Board will continue a scientific trial to test the impact of goat grazing in 
the Rangelands (DWLBC).

• Undertake a feasibility study for biomass-based industries in the Mallee – Upper South 
East (DWLBC).

Strategic Priority 2 — INNOVATION INDUSTRY — 
promote and facilitate new and value-adding industry 
that builds on the States’ knowledge, infrastructure and 
innovation capability
The Sustainable Resources Group has facilitated a range of opportunities to encourage new 
industry development opportunities as well as encourage the development of innovative 
approaches to the management of the state’s natural resources.

Low rainfall, perennial biomass trials have been established on the Eyre Peninsula and in 
the Murray Mallee to provide information on the productivity and adaptability of species 
being used commercially in Western Australia as the basis of new biomass industries.

A new project, Florasearch, has been initiated with the aim of developing new broadscale, 
commercially viable industries in low-rainfall areas based on perennial woody crops. The 
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project is led by PIRSA and involves multi-state collaboration under the auspices of the 
Cooperative Research Centre for Plant Based Management of Dryland Salinity.

The establishment of a Natural Resources Centre of Excellence was endorsed by the state 
and Commonwealth governments and an executive manager has been appointed. The 
centre will broker research and development opportunities to address the cause, symptoms 
and indicators of success in natural resource management.

Continued collaboration to identify opportunities for joint action has occurred through the 
operation of the Land Technologies Alliance in association with the University of Adelaide, 
CSIRO Land and Water, and Natural Resources and Environment (Victoria).

TARGETS FOR 2002–03
• Release the outcomes of a joint project investigating opportunities for the development 

of saline resources.

• Encourage private sector investment into the development of biomass-based 
industries, including further trials of lower rainfall perennial biomass crops in regional 
South Australia.

• Complete the first stage of Florasearch including identification of products and 
markets, initial screening of species from southeastern Australia and initial testing of 
biomass properties.

• Establish an Investment Board for the Natural Resources Centre of Excellence and 
implement research.

Strategic Priority 3 — RISKS AND BIOLOGICAL 
CONTAMINANT THREATS — successfully manage 
risks including, biological and contaminant threats, to the 
environment, production efficiencies and market access
Assessing identified marine threats
Following the discovery of the introduced invasive seaweed Caulerpa taxifolia in West 
Lakes and the upper reaches of the Port Adelaide River, the Marine Habitat Program 
coordinated an underwater survey of the area and adjacent waters of Gulf St Vincent to 
determine the extent and a response to the incursion. (see also Fisheries and SARDI)

Risk assessment
The application of weed risk assessment to revegetation and farm forestry was completed 
and a draft technical report prepared.

A model assessing the risk to the environment from farmed goats was developed in 
consultation with stakeholders. Risk assessments were also conducted for 12 exotic animal 
species, on stipoid grasses and to assess the weed potential of 20 plant species used for 
revegetation and farm forestry.

Branched broomrape
A total of 150 new infestations of branched broomrape were discovered on 32 new 
properties during the spring surveys of 331 000 hectares of crops and pastures across South 
Australia (and into Victoria). There are now 389 infested paddocks on 167 properties. 
Results suggest that branched broomrape only occurs in a 70-kilometre radius zone around 
the original discovery close to Murray Bridge.

The broad host range for branched broomrape was confirmed and herbicides that provided 
excellent control of host plants were identified. Nineteen kilometres of roadside and two 
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paddock infestations were effectively treated with methyl bromide gas. Fencing has been 
completed on four roadsides, covering a total of approximately 14 kilometres.

A consultant study of the economic impact of the Branched Broomrape Program concluded 
that producers are suffering some financial loss, but this is compensated by the benefits of 
expenditure on the program in the region.

Weeds Advisory Committee
The South Australian Weeds Advisory Committee was convened to scope and prioritise 
activities outlined in the South Australian Weed Strategy. Salvinia and Equisetum, two 
serious proclaimed weeds, were discovered in the nursery trade and removed. This 
highlights an ongoing problem with the distribution and sale of ornamental plants that are 
also significant weeds. An additional 15 plant species were proclaimed to comply with 
national agreements on weeds of national significance.

Integrated natural resources management
The Animal and Plant Control Commission and Soil Conservation Council jointly 
sponsored seven forums to consult the community about proposed amalgamation within a 
broader natural resource management framework.

Control activities
Feral deer control programs were developed and implemented with stakeholders and 
animal and plant control boards in the Mid North, the South East and on Kangaroo Island. 
A policy on the control of camels was completed, while the dingo policy review was 
deferred.

Targeted projects on pest birds and rabbit calicivirus were commenced in order to 
develop more effective control mechanisms. The group also contributed to the Abundant 
Bird Reference Group (Department for Environment and Heritage) and development of 
guidelines for best practice bird management in a variety of horticultural crops.

The Animal and Plant Control Commission’s strategic plan has been complemented by the 
preparation and use of more specific plans by all animal and plant control boards.

Dog Fence Board
A book on the history of the Dog Fence Board was published by the board with joint 
funding from the Centenary of Federation Council.

The Dog Fence was maintained and upgraded, including replacing 3000 posts on Mabel 
Creek Station, rebuilding nine floodways along Moolawatana fence and replacing four 
kilometres of fence at Callana Station with ten-wire solar-electric. A further 11 kilometres 
of fence was upgraded to ten-wire solar electric by the Fowlers Bay Local Dog Fence 
Board.

TARGETS FOR 2002–03
• Eradicate Caulerpa taxifolia throughout West Lakes and the upper reaches of Port 

Adelaide River, beginning with trials in West Lakes to test a preferred method.

• Promote the weed risk assessment model to the revegetation industry (DWLBC).

• Continue ongoing maintenance and upgrading of the Dog Fence (DWLBC).

• Implement an expanded program of surveillance and support for landholders affected 
by branched broomrape (DWLBC).
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Strategic Priority 4 — INTEGRATED POLICY 
FRAMEWORK, REGULATION AND COMPLIANCE 
— create through consultation, effective policy and 
regulatory frameworks to enhance industry and community 
confidence
The Sustainable Resources Group, through a consultative approach with clients and 
stakeholders, continued to implement an integrated policy framework for initiatives in 
ecologically sustainable natural resource management.

Natural resource management
The Natural Resource Management Secretariat was established on behalf of the South 
Australian Government and replaces the Natural Heritage Trust Secretariat. The secretariat 
will coordinate policy development, manage the operational elements of the Natural 
Heritage Trust and National Action Plan for Salinity and Water Quality, and provide 
administrative and logistic support to the various inter-agency committees and groups on 
behalf of all relevant agencies. 

The Integrated Natural Resource Management Bill was submitted to Parliament.

National Action Plan for Salinity and Water Quality and Natural 
Heritage Trust
A bilateral agreement for the National Action Plan for Salinity and Water Quality was 
negotiated and an initial round of priority projects endorsed. Funds have been sourced for 
major works including salt interception schemes, Lower Murray Swamps Rehabilitation 
and an aerial salinity mapping survey.

The Mount Lofty Ranges Interim Integrated Natural Resource Management group 
continued its preparation of a plan for the Mount Lofty Ranges region. Similar plans 
are being developed for the South East, Murray-Darling Basin, Kangaroo Island and 
the Northern and Yorke Agricultural Districts. As part of this process, draft regional 
salinity management plans were prepared for Eyre Peninsula, Kangaroo Island, Mount 
Lofty Ranges and Northern and Yorke Agricultural Districts. The South Australian 
Government has agreed to administer the Australian Government Envirofund as part of the 
implementation of the extension to the Natural Heritage Trust.

Sustainable use of the state’s Rangelands
Thirty pastoral leases were inspected and reports prepared to ensure compliance with the 
Pastoral Land Management and Conservation Act 1989.

Land and revegetation initiatives for sustainable resource use
The South Australian Dryland Salinity Strategy was completed and released by the Premier 
in November. A subcommittee of the Soil Conservation Council has been established and 
is overseeing the implementation of the strategy.

A state-wide assessment of revegetation planting for the year 2001–02 was completed. 
This follows assessments for the previous two years and trends in revegetation activity 
across the state are becoming evident.

A PIRSA Biomass Industries Working Group was formed in 2001 to ensure an integrated 
approach is taken to the development of biomass industries as a potential greenhouse sink 
opportunity. The working group has finalised plans for developing regional feasibility 
studies for the development of multi-benefit industries based on plantation grown biomass, 
particularly in low-rainfall areas with dryland salinity or water quality issues.
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Planning
Policies were developed to guide land use development in rural areas to address the impact 
on food and fibre industries’ interests.

The Sustainable Resources Group contributed to the development of the draft Planning 
strategy for the development of regional South Australia and supported this with codes of 
practice for a range of food and fibre industries. The group also coordinated the provision 
of advice to planning authorities on land management and environmental hazard issues 
associated with development proposals, which had the potential to impact on matters 
affecting food and fibre industries’ interests.

An environmental reference metadatabase has been designed and partially populated to 
assist the mineral and petroleum industries.

TARGETS FOR 2002–03
• Negotiate bilateral arrangements between South Australia and the Commonwealth 

for the implementation of the extension of the Natural Heritage Trust and commence 
implementation of the regional planning process and priority projects (DWLBC).

• Obtain accreditation from state and Commonwealth governments for integrated natural 
resource management plans for the three National Action Plan for Salinity and Water 
Quality regions (DWLBC).

• Continue to implement activities to achieve the outcomes of the National Action Plan 
for Salinity and Water Quality and Natural Heritage Trust through interim integrated 
natural resource management groups and effective and efficient administration. 
Support the implementation of the second round of priority projects (DWLBC).

• Inspect and report on 90 pastoral leases for assurance of adequacy of pastoral lease 
management.

• Establish clear process for input to greenhouse matters and extend existing greenhouse 
networks to cover both PIRSA and DWLBC.

• Complete the first report on land condition in the agricultural lands of South Australia.

Strategic Priority 5 — ECOLOGICALLY SUSTAINABLE 
DEVELOPMENT — enhance the capacity of community 
and industry to integrate, achieve and report against 
environmentally sustainable development principles
Ecologically sustainable development in primary industries
The Celebration of 100 Years of Food and Fibre since Federation project engaged 
government, business, the media, regional bodies and the South Australian community in 
a major celebration of the importance of food and fibre industries to South Australia. It 
included a major display at the Royal Adelaide Show and a dinner hosted by the Premier. 
The events were aimed at increasing awareness of progress made towards sustainable use 
of the state’s natural resources (soil, water, flora and fauna) in food and fibre production 
activities and their contribution to the economic wealth of South Australia.

Successful sustainability outcomes in water management
Phase 3 of the Mount Lofty Ranges Catchment Program received funding through the 
Natural Heritage Trust for the implementation of on-ground works and other associated 
initiatives.

The Mount Lofty Ranges Catchment Program continued to operate its highly successful 
devolved grants program, enabling community groups ready access to funding to assist 
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with priority actions to improve the sustainable management of local resources. Since 1998 
the program has funded 109 community-based projects, representing a total expenditure of 
$3.88 million. A further 16 projects to the value of $814 000 have been funded under Phase 
3 of the program.

In July PIRSA formed part of a syndicate to attract co-funding from the Murray-Darling 
Basin Commission for a three-year, $2.8 million project on developing a geographic 
information based system for (pressurised) irrigation performance reporting. The system 
is expected to be advantageous to growers, processors, water agencies and for the 
environment.

Ecological sustainability of pastoral leases
A total of 184 reference sites and enclosures were established throughout the state’s 
pastoral leases which can be used for un-grazed or lightly grazed reference points for 
future monitoring. The first round of land condition assessments and reports for all pastoral 
leases in the state was completed. Monitoring of the southern Gawler bioregion, comparing 
data collected in early 1990s with 2001 data, showed a significant increase in desirable 
perennial cover.

Integrating fish habitat issues into regional strategies
A project was implemented to integrate fisheries issues into South Australian regional 
strategies and increase awareness amongst regional planners and decision makers of 
how development can threaten fish habitats and biodiversity. A Fish habitat handbook, 
explaining activities that potentially impact on marine ecosystems, and suggesting methods 
of minimising damage to fish habitats and biodiversity, was produced to ensure that the 
importance of fish habitats is recognised and considered by local government through 
regional planning processes.

Inventory of important fisheries habitats
The sustainable use of fisheries resources requires protection and sustainable use of the 
habitats that the fish species rely on for survival. To effectively manage this resource, an 
inventory of important South Australian coastal fisheries habitats has been compiled and 
forms the basis of a sustainability strategy for fisheries habitats. A series of fisheries habitat 
areas were created and information on fisheries values and threats included.

TARGETS FOR 2002–03
• Complete Phase 3 of the Mount Lofty Ranges Catchment Program and the associated 

on-ground works investment initiative (DWLBC).

• Complete a report on pastoral lease land condition trend in the Gawler Ranges and 
Kingoonya Soil Conservation Districts for use as a tool for sustainable management.

• Release the Fisheries habitat inventory.

• Complete the first fisheries habitat management plan.

Strategic Priority 6 — REMEDIAL ACTIONS — harness 
community and government resources to rehabilitate 
degraded systems and sites
Addressing degraded water issues
Rehabilitation concept options have been developed for nearly one-third of the Lower 
Murray Irrigation District and a nominal construction program has also been developed.
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The Salinity Mapping and Management Support project was developed and funded through 
the National Action Plan for Salinity and Water Quality. Ground truthing, data collection, 
preliminary modelling and acquisition of airborne geophysics have commenced.

The rehabilitation of the supply headworks for the Loxton Irrigation District was 
accelerated with the completion date being brought forward to June 2003.

Agreements were reached at the Murray-Darling Basin Ministerial Council to commence 
community consultation on the allocation of water for environmental flows into South 
Australia.

The Qualco–Sunlands Groundwater Control Scheme was formally opened in May 2001 
completing six years of investigations, planning, design and construction. PIRSA and the 
design and construction management consultants were awarded a ‘high commendation’ 
achievement for it from the Institution of Engineers-Australia and the Australian Institute 
for Project Management.

Addressing Rangeland degradation
A total of 305 priority disturbed areas were identified and rehabilitation strategies 
negotiated.

Addressing degraded land and vegetation sites
Technical and coordination support were provided to regional Natural Heritage Trust 
funded on-ground works projects and included 30 major regional projects and over 100 
Landcare groups.

The Notice of Intent for construction of Stage 3 of the Upper South East Dryland Salinity 
and Flood Management Program was submitted and approved by the Commonwealth 
subject to a broad range of conditions. An application for National Action Plan for 
Salinity and Water Quality funding was submitted to enable work to commence on the 
environmental management components of the approval, including the preparation 
of a water management plan and ecosystem monitoring program. The management 
arrangements for the program were reviewed and new structures established, including the 
formation of an Environmental Management Advisory Group.

TARGETS FOR 2002–03
• Complete the acquisition of airborne geophysics data for the Salinity Mapping and 

Management Support project and prepare preliminary salinity reports for the Murray-
Darling Basin, Mount Lofty Ranges, Northern and Yorke Agricultural Districts 
(DWLBC).

• Release a restructuring and rehabilitation package for the dairy industry on the Lower 
Murray Reclaimed Irrigation Area for water reform (DWLBC).

• Deliver high-pressure water to all growers served by the Loxton Irrigation Scheme 
(DWLBC).

• Decommission Loxton’s open channel irrigation system (DWLBC).

• Achieve a five per cent reduction in priority-disturbed Rangeland areas.

• Provide technical and coordination support in land management for major regional on-
ground works projects and Landcare projects (DWLBC).

• Continue the implementation of the Upper South East Dryland Salinity and Flood 
Management Program, including drain construction and environmental management 
(DWLBC).
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Strategic Priority 7 — BUILDING COMMUNITY CAPACITY 
— build capacity, leadership and global awareness in 
industry, and rural and indigenous communities
Building community capacity in salinity and water management
Assistance was given with the preparation of a community support strategy for project 
coordinators and facilitators in the Murray-Darling Basin.

A Dryland Salinity Response Team was established through the National Action Plan for 
Salinity and Water Quality and the team commenced supporting regional communities to 
prepare and implement regional integrated natural resource management plans in the three 
priority areas (Mount Lofty Ranges; Northern and Yorke Agricultural; and Kangaroo Island, 
South East and lower Murray regions).

Building community capacity in Rangeland management
To encourage coordinated support for people from the pastoral regions of the state, 
Sustainable Resources encouraged and facilitated the development of the Outback SA concept 
and joint office facilities in Adelaide for the Pastoral Management Program, Arid Areas 
Catchment Water Management Board and the Outback Areas Community Development Trust. 
This approach was further established with the formation of the Outback SA Community 
Board.

Building community capacity in land and vegetation management
The South Australian Landcare Awards recognising outstanding commitment and 
achievement in caring for the land were presented in August. Categories are Research, 
Individual Landcarer, Bushcare Nature Conservation, Media, Local Government, Primary 
Producer, River Care, Education and Community Group.

The 9th Community Landcare Conference of South Australia was held in Port Lincoln in 
October and attracted 250 people from around South Australia.

Community Landcare workshops were facilitated through the National Landcare Program 
Coordination project. Two workshops were held for community Landcare officers in June and 
one for all integrated natural resource management officers in December. 

Community building capacity — rural communities and education
The FarmBis Skilling Farmers for the Future program commenced as a successor to the 
Property Management Planning and original FarmBis programs. It is funded by the state and 
Commonwealth governments and supports farmers, fishers and natural resource managers 
in building their management competencies. More than 21 000 participant enrolments were 
received in the first year of the program.

Training programs also continued to be supported through the Central North East Farm 
Assistance which was extended by a year following ongoing poor seasonal conditions. Forty 
participants undertook the South Australian Rural Leadership course.

A collaborative project to facilitate improved school environmental education programs was 
commenced. The Rural Industry Research and Development Corporation Rural Women’s 
Award was coordinated together with the Rural Legend Awards.

Natural resource management
The ‘Getting it right’ conference was held in March and attracted people from all over 
Australia. 
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TARGETS FOR 2002–03
• Continue FarmBis training with an emphasis on capability development among youth, 

women and indigenous sectors as well as where the greatest impact can be made in 
regional communities and industry.

• Coordinate a South Australian Rural Leadership course.

• Finalise the Central North East Farm Assistance program.

• Coordinate the Rural Industry Research and Development Rural Women’s Award.

• Develop a process which rural communities can use to assess their capability to achieve 
their desired future.

• Publish a directory of available informal leadership programs for rural South Australians.

• Implement a community support strategy for project coordinators and facilitators in the 
Murray-Darling Basin.

• Complete regional dryland salinity management plans, develop targets and incorporate 
into accredited integrated natural resource management plans in the Murray-Darling 
Basin, Mount Lofty Ranges and Northern Agricultural Districts (DWLBC).

• Hold the inaugural meeting of the Outback SA Community Board.

Strategic Priority 8 — PARTNERSHIPS — negotiate 
effective partnerships with industry, rural and indigenous 
communities, Commonwealth Government and local 
government for regional and industry development
Partnerships were established to deliver skills and education training to indigenous land 
managers (with the Indigenous Lands Corporation) and to develop strategies to ensure more 
effective delivery of natural resource management education in the formal education sector.

The Cooperative Research Centre for Plant Based Management of Dryland Salinity 
commenced operations in July. Two funding proposals submitted by PIRSA were funded and 
two others are being assessed. A partnership was maintained for the South Australian based 
Dryland Salinity Communications Program.

A Pastoral Public Access Strategy scoping study was completed and 10 new access routes 
gazetted. Three Aboriginal heritage sites on pastoral leases were protected.

TARGETS FOR 2002–03
• Focus indigenous land management training to achieve Indigenous Lands Corporation 

and PIRSA outcomes.

• Develop a research project through the Cooperative Research Centre for Plant Based 
Management of Dryland Salinity to improve the sustainable and productive management 
of saline lands (DWLBC).

• Establish the Outback SA Port Augusta Centre, including the relocation of components 
of the Pastoral Management Program and staff to Port Augusta.

• Implement recommendations to resolve issues relating to public access to the state’s 
pastoral leases (DWLBC).
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Strategic Priority 9 — ACCESS TO INFORMATION AND 
SERVICES — improve industry and regional access to 
information that supports better business decisions
The SaltControl SA website was expanded and updated as the central site for information 
and news on dryland salinity in South Australia. The Rangelands South Australia website 
was revamped. Land management and revegetation information is being evaluated in 
preparation for being made available on the PIRSA website.

Stage one of the Pastoral Management Information System upgrade was completed, which 
was aimed at streamlining accessibility of Pastoral Board data sets to land holders and other 
users.

The South East Resource Information Centre was established to facilitate regional access 
to natural resource information. Consultation has occurred in the Murraylands and Eyre 
Peninsula regarding the formation of similar centres.

TARGETS FOR 2002–03
• Continue to update information the SaltControl SA website (DWLBC).

• Complete stage two of the Pastoral Management Information System, including 
integration of spatial and textual data sets (DWLBC).

• Increase online access to extensive information on soil conservation and sustainable soil 
and revegetation management.

• Build Landcare partnerships in urban and rural schools (DWLBC).

• Evaluate the potential to establish resource information centres in the Murraylands and 
Eyre Peninsula.

Strategic Priority 11 — WE MANAGE RESULTS 
— we manage our resources well; we provide 
leadership; our business processes are effective 
and efficient
The Australian Quality Council’s self-guided assessment was repeated by 
the Sustainable Resources Group following the initial assessment in 1999–
2000. Two task teams reported on key areas of improvement — people in 
the work environment and aligning our business.

TARGETS FOR 2002–03
• Extend Australian Quality Council organisational 

assessment processes to a program level and 
encourage staff to initiate process improvement 
projects as part of the establishment of a culture of 
continual improvement.

MINERALS AND 
ENERGY RESOURCES
The Office of Minerals and Energy Resources incorporates 
the Mineral Resources and Petroleum Groups.
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Mineral Resources
The Mineral Resources Group is a key group for facilitating mineral exploration and 
development, and is focused on increasing the prosperity of South Australians by ensuring 
responsible development of South Australia’s mineral resources within a sustainable 
framework. It provides geoscientific and specialist services as part of a process to acquire 
and update geological, geophysical and engineering data. The group is also responsible for 
industry regulation, legislative development and review, policy development and provision 
of advice.

Strategic priority 1 — INDUSTRY DEVELOPMENT — 
provide support for industry and regional development that 
focuses on global market opportunities
Resources Task Force
The State Resources Plan was developed in response to the Resources Task Force 
recommendations to address constraints on the resources sector operating in South 
Australia. Year two progressed projects aimed at addressing the priority objectives of 
improving access to land for resource developments, stimulating vibrant exploration 
activity and developing a more supportive and responsive government.

Planning approvals
Planning circulation procedures for park proclamations and park creations have been 
written. Input into the Department for Environment and Heritage’s park procedures 
commenced and will enable PIRSA to assess the mineral and petroleum potential of 
proposed areas at an early stage of consideration.

Olympic Dam
Two spills investigated within the Olympic Dam plant area had minimal environmental 
impact and raised no major operational issues under regulation of the Olympic Dam Mine 
site. Western Mining Corporation’s Environmental Management Program for the period 
March 2002 to February 2005 was submitted for approval. A major fire in the solvent 
extraction portion of the plant was investigated by a number of agencies and plans are 
currently in place to include a number of additional safety features in the rebuild of the new 
plant.

Challenger
Dominion Mining Ltd was granted a mining lease in October and has commenced pre-
mining operations at the Challenger Project located 150 kilometres southwest of Coober 
Pedy. Stage 1 of the project, expected to commence in October 2002, is the development of 
an open pit to extract 580 000 tonnes of ore containing 105 000 ounces of gold.

Beverley
The commissioning phase of the Beverley uranium mine has continued. Several reportable 
spills at the mine resulted in the South Australian Government sending a high level 
task group of officials to assess the mining operation. The spills did not result in any 
environmental damage or expose any personnel to a hazard, however the group has made 
10 recommendations to be implemented.

Honeymoon
Southern Cross Resources Australia Pty Ltd has gained all necessary approvals to develop 
the Honeymoon uranium mine using in situ leach technology; a state and Commonwealth 
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environmental impact assessment was completed in November. Commercial production is 
expected to begin in 2003. With a mine life of up to 30 years, the project will provide direct 
employment for around 80 people and jobs in service and supply industries for at least 120 
more. It will realise monetary and other benefits for native title claimants, generate around 
$45 million per year in export revenue, and make substantial contributions to government 
revenues.

Mindarie
Southern Titanium NL has applied for a series of mineral leases over mineral sand 
deposits at Mindarie, 150 kilometres east of Adelaide, to provide for the first three years 
of production, expected to begin early in 2003. The mineable reserve has been upgraded to 
44.71 million tonnes grading 4.15 per cent heavy minerals. The company plans to produce 
about 150 000 tonnes of heavy mineral products per year and has signed a memorandum of 
understanding with a private Austrian company for the sale and purchase of all production.
Dimension stone

The South Australian dimension stone CD was released in collaboration with the South 
Australian Stone Industry Association.

Leigh Creek coalfield
Production at the Leigh Creek Mine continued at record levels during the year with 
production being in excess of 3 million tonnes per year. The geotechnical engineering 
investigation into the low-wall failure in the ‘Upper Series’ was completed and remedial 
action begun.

TARGETS FOR 2002–03
• Facilitate access to protected areas (i.e. land proclaimed or reserved for conservation 

purposes) — develop a memorandum of understanding with the Department for 
Environment and Heritage for the development of joint policies incorporating 
ecologically sustainable development – triple bottom line principles; and identify 
strategic prospective zones.

• Publish a resource development checklist or flowchart of the government approval 
process.

• Complete a submission for an independent review of incident reporting from South 
Australia’s uranium mining.

• Release the second edition of the dimension stone CD in late 2002.

Strategic priority 2 — INNOVATION INDUSTRY — 
promote and facilitate new and value-adding industry 
that builds on the States’ knowledge, infrastructure and 
innovation capability
Magnesium metal project
PIMA Mining NL’s SAMAG Magnesium Metal project continued to advance towards its 
goal of a commercial magnesium refinery near Port Pirie, fed with magnesite ore either 
from large known deposits in the Willouran Ranges (northern Flinders Ranges) or from 
recently outlined deposits east of Port Pirie. Stage 1 of the project, aimed at producing 
65 000 tonnes per year of magnesium metal, is expected to commence at the end of 2002. 
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Steel and energy project
The SASE (South Australian Steel and Energy) project is a joint venture between AuIron 
Energy (90 per cent) and Ausmelt with plans to ultimately produce 2.5 million tonnes per 
year (Mt/y)of pig iron, worth around $400 million, utilising iron ore and coal resources 
located south of Coober Pedy. Proposed elements include a 3.5 million tonnes per year 
(Mt/y) coal mine, a 4 Mt/y iron ore mine, a 2.5 Mt/y pig iron smelter and a limestone mine 
and associated infrastructure. The demonstration plant at Whyalla has been successfully 
tested using coal from New South Wales, Leigh Creek and Ingomar with iron ore from the 
Middleback Range. Following a business case review AuIron has announced it is seeking a 
strategic partner to progress the project to full-scale commercialisation.

Strategic priority 3 — RISKS AND BIOLOGICAL 
CONTAMINANT THREATS — successfully manage 
risks including, biological and contaminant threats, to the 
environment, production efficiencies and market access
Rehabilitation of the historic Brukunga Mine site continued. Two projects — to divert 
Dawesley Creek water past the mine site, and to commission a supplementary acid-water 
treatment plant — aim to reduce heavy-metal pollution in Dawesley Creek to achieve 
water quality suitable for livestock watering and irrigation use.

TARGET FOR 2002–03
• Continue to progress the Brukunga Mine site rehabilitation — develop a 

community consultation forum for the Brukunga Diversion Channel project; assess 
recommendations of the consultant’s water supply report; complete downstream 
remedial works; and substantially progress the Dawesley Creek diversion channel.

• Complete the Abandoned Mine Sites database.

Strategic priority 4 — INTEGRATED POLICY 
FRAMEWORK, REGULATION AND COMPLIANCE 
— create through consultation, effective policy and 
regulatory frameworks to enhance industry and community 
confidence
Resource regulation planning services
The Mineral Resources Group has a key role in ensuring responsible and environmentally 
sound development of South Australia’s mineral resources by acting as the lead agency in 
coordinating the many interactions between government and individual project proponents. 
The agency facilitates this through timely assessment of all aspects of the mining proposals 
and the grant of necessary mining tenements and other approvals.

To facilitate responsible mineral exploration, assistance to industry is provided via 
information sheets, regulatory forms, guidelines and verbal advice. All information sheets, 
guidelines and forms for mineral exploration licences are on the Minerals channel of the 
PIRSA website and are regularly updated and improved to meet clients needs.

Licensing services
A total of 250 mineral exploration licence applications were received and processed, 
with 159 licences granted. Seventy-eight licences expired, 10 were fully surrendered 
and 35 partially surrendered. A total of 237 exploration licence renewals were assessed 
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for regulatory compliance and approved with appropriate terms, work programs and 
expenditure commitments. Of the 99 applications for work approvals on exploration 
licences, 70 per cent were assessed and approved within the targeted time frame.

At June 2002, 145 licence holders held 389 exploration licences with 263 301 square 
kilometres or 26 per cent of the state under licence. These measures of activity are 
significantly higher than for the previous year. Exploration expenditure by companies 
operating on exploration licences for calendar year 2001 was $29.6 million, a 33.5 per cent 
increase on 2000; indicating a substantial turn around in activity in the state.

A total of 74 mining tenements were granted or registered and 172 renewal applications 
were received. These tenements include mineral claims, mineral leases, extractive minerals 
leases, retention leases and miscellaneous purposes licences. Thirteen native title mining 
agreements were registered, and 11 notices commencing native title negotiations in respect 
of 26 mining tenements were lodged.

Compliance services
Regular inspections and audits of exploration activities were carried out to ensure 
adherence to standards specified in guidelines and licence and work-approval conditions. 
Mining operations were inspected for compliance at regular intervals and prior to renewal, 
transfer, expiry or cancellation. During the year 17 mining programs were approved. Of 
the 943 operating mine and quarry sites inspected, 80 per cent complied with approved 
conditions and rehabilitation requirements; 61 per cent of the 195 which did not comply 
have now been rectified. Ninety-eight per cent of the 6066 precious stone tenement 
(opal fields) sites inspected complied; 86 per cent of the 584 which did not comply have 
now been rectified. Eighty-six per cent of mineral exploration sites inspected were in 
compliance with approval conditions and rehabilitation requirements; 67 per cent of 
noncompliance cases requiring corrective action were resolved.

Statutory technical (geoscientific data) reports for 305 exploration licences were registered 
and reviewed to ensure compliance with licence conditions and reporting guidelines.

Legislation development and review services
Reviews of legislation
The National Competition Policy reviews of the Mining Act 1971, Opal Mining Act 1995 
and Mines and Works Inspection Act 1920, together with the Regulations under each 
of these Acts, continued. Some reform of legislation may be required, however, this is 
contingent on a broader policy review of the mining legislation being conducted.

New legislation
The Offshore Minerals Act 2000 came into operation on 4 May 2002 and applies to coastal 
waters from the coastal boundary of the state to 3 nautical miles beyond the baseline, 
including gulf waters.

Amended legislation
The Mining Act is being reviewed (excluding Part 9B dealing with native title), and an 
issues paper prepared for circulation to all stakeholders. Amendments will include the 
number and type of mining tenements available, environmental provisions, better public 
consultation, enhanced transparency and greater accountability.

The Mining (Miscellaneous) Amendment Bill 2001 has been revised and a new 
consultation period has commenced. The Bill outlines amendments to the Mining Act 
in relation to exploration licences, in particular reduced sizes, mandatory reductions in 
area, and increases in both rental payments and expenditure commitments in subsequent 
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years of the licence’s term. The Bill also provides for the introduction of GDA94, an 
inclusion into Part 9B to allow the Minister for Mineral Resources Development to grant 
a tenement where the applicant has a registered indigenous land use agreement under the 
Commonwealth’s Native Title Act 1993 and other minor administrative amendments.

TARGETS FOR 2002–03
• Identify and implement programs to stimulate mineral exploration activity in South 

Australia in line with the State Resources Plan.

• Assist the Resources Industry Development Board to develop priorities for industry 
development.

• Review the tenement award process and complete a definition of guidelines.

• Complete a desktop risk assessment of all mining operations to determine a schedule 
of inspections and mining plan reviews.

• Develop guidelines for preparation and assessment of mining plans.

• Introduce the Mining (Miscellaneous) Amendment Bill.

• Continue and progress the entire review of the Mining Act.

• Expand the features and range of tenement services and geoscientific information 
accessed online, and upgrade the mineral tenements database.

Strategic priority 5 — ECOLOGICALLY SUSTAINABLE 
DEVELOPMENT — enhance the capacity of community 
and industry to integrate, achieve and report against 
environmentally sustainable development principles
A key focus for the Mineral Resources Group is to increase the prosperity of South 
Australians whilst ensuring responsible development of South Australia’s mineral 
resources within a sustainable framework. Progress has been through:

• Ensuring ecologically sustainable development principles are incorporated as part of 
the Mining Act review.

• Actively developing and maintaining relationships with indigenous communities and 
landowner groups through consultation and by ensuring that information on mineral 
industry exploration and developments is communicated and disseminated.

• Facilitating working relationships with all stakeholders, and establishing and 
participating in community consultative committees in recognition of industry 
obligations towards the community.

• Contributing to the ongoing environmental management of internal and external 
exploration activities through initiatives such as the Land access procedures manual; 
the ongoing review and development of environmental guidelines; the adoption of and 
ongoing future development of a Minerals and Petroleum Industries Environmental 
Reference Metadatabase; the investigation and development of methods and 
techniques aimed at minimising exploration impacts; and by undertaking and 
facilitating studies into the rate of environmental recovery of areas that have been 
impacted by mineral exploration.

• Monitoring exploration and development activities to ensure that environmental 
requirements are met and better practice methodologies employed.
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TARGETS FOR 2002–03
• Continue to develop and maintain active working relationships and dialogue with 

the community, indigenous landowner groups, stakeholders, industry and other 
government agencies on minerals industry exploration and development.

• Ongoing review of mining legislation, policies and environmental management 
guidelines incorporating the principles of ecologically sustainable development.

• Build and maintain links and understanding between the conservation sector and the 
mining industry through the development of a framework for consultation, liaison and 
relationship development with key stakeholder groups.

Strategic priority 6 — REMEDIAL ACTIONS — harness 
community and government resources to rehabilitate 
degraded systems and sites
Extractive Areas Rehabilitation Fund
The Extractive Areas Rehabilitation Fund provides funding to rehabilitate land disturbed 
by mining, to implement measures designed to prevent or limit damage or impairment of 
the environment, and to research measures to reduce environmental damage or impairment 
resulting from mining operations. Fifty-three projects totalling $1 826 643 were approved 
during the year, the largest approval being $250 000 for rehabilitation of the old Emerald 
Quarry near Nairne in conjunction with Transport SA. Updates on the fund are provided in 
PIRSA’s MESA Journal.

TARGETS FOR 2002–03
• Continue to support progressive and final rehabilitation of extractive mineral leases 

and private mines.

• Complete a review of the funding process for rehabilitation of extractive mines and 
make recommendations.

• Complete a strategic study of extractive resources in the greater Adelaide metropolitan 
area and develop a land use policy in collaboration with other groups such as (e.g. 
Planning SA).

• Develop policies, procedures and appropriate inter-agency memorandums of 
understanding to permit use of clean and intermediate fill for mine rehabilitation.

Strategic priority 8 — PARTNERSHIPS — negotiate 
effective partnerships with industry, rural and indigenous 
communities, Commonwealth Government and local 
government for regional and industry development
Indigenous land use
Approval was given by the Anangu Pitjantjatjara for the acquisition of airborne 
orthoimagery data over Pitjantjatjara lands and the survey commenced in June 2002. 
The high-resolution photo–image and digital terrain data will be made available for all 
stakeholders and has application for land use management processes. An Aboriginal liaison 
officer was appointed and negotiations for regional bedrock and groundwater drilling 
programs with Anangu Pitjantjatjara were completed; drilling commenced in May.

Ongoing development and population of an Aboriginal Heritage Sites database and 
a spatial, topographic map index of traditional Aboriginal authority continued in 
collaboration with the Division of State Aboriginal Affairs.
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TARGETS FOR 2002–03
• Develop an Aboriginal futures partnership program that includes consideration of 

economic, social and environmental implications.

• Complete a desktop infrastructure study for the Musgrave Block in conjunction with 
the Department of Industry and Trade.

• Implement a trial regional mapping program in the Musgrave Ranges.

• Progress development of the Aboriginal Heritage Sites database.

Strategic priority 9 — ACCESS TO INFORMATION AND 
SERVICES — improve industry and regional access to 
information that supports better business decisions
Geoscientific information online
The South Australian Resources Information Geoserver (SARIG) went online in June 
2001, providing access to information and services relevant to mineral exploration and 
development. Significant upgrades have included an improved user interface, an increase 
in speed and access to the open file reports database (SAMREF).

Promotion
A major objective of the Mineral Resources Group is the effective promotion of the state’s 
mineral prospectivity and competitive advantage. Promotional exhibits were presented 
at the Prospectors and Developers Association of Canada 2002 Convention and Trade 
Show, Mining 2001; New Generation Gold Conference; Australian Platinum Conference; 
5th International Archaean Conference; and the South Australian Resources and Energy 
Investment Conference.

The Office of Minerals and Energy Resources hosted its second open day in March giving 
industry an insight into the future direction of agency work programs and an opportunity 
to meet staff. Community activities have included attendance at the Royal Adelaide Show, 
production of the PIRSA Minerals education kit and the continued Minerals and Energy 
Education program.

The new state 1:2 million and CALLABONNA 1:250 000 geological maps were launched 
in September. The quarterly MESA Journal was again acclaimed by customers in a survey 
carried out in December. Minerals and petroleum South Australia 2002 was published in 
June. Other promotional activities included advertising and editorial in key industry and 
research publications.

The Minerals channel of the PIRSA website is being restructured to include improved 
navigation and greater customer focus, based on the recommendations of the first external 
audit. New features to date include an online bookshop, What’s new, links to online data 
services, commodity reviews and updated information sheets.

TARGET FOR 2002–03
• Complete the restructure of the Minerals channel of the PIRSA website by October 

2002.

• Host an open day in March 2003.

• Exhibit and promote the state’s mineral resources at six key industry conferences.

• Publish a guide to mineral exploration and potential in South Australia.

• Develop a program to improve community awareness of the mineral industry.
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Strategic priority 11 — WE MANAGE RESULTS — we 
manage our resources well; we provide leadership; our 
business processes are effective and efficient
A new Mineral Resources Group strategic plan was developed and a marketing plan 
implemented.

TARGET FOR 2002–03
• Increase staff awareness and implement strategies of the group strategic plan to achieve 

planned outputs.

Strategic priority 12 — WE GROW AND HARNESS OUR 
KNOWLEDGE — our knowledge is a key business asset
Geological Survey
The Geological Survey Branch aims to focus South Australian mineral exploration in highly 
prospective areas of the state with major geological programs in the Curnamona, Gawler 
Craton and Musgrave areas, and strong emphasis on geoscientific information management.

Many projects have been funded by the four-year TEISA exploration initiative program which 
completed its final year of a $2.2 million minerals program. Projects were implemented to:

• Address significant knowledge gaps in key areas.

• Promote new and/or credible under-utilised exploration technology.

• Promote key prospective areas.

• Improve access and delivery of geoscientific information.

• Produce outputs likely to be taken up by clients.

Geoscientific information management
Surface geochemical database
The TEISA Surface Geochemical Database project involved the compilation of open-file, 
surficial geochemistry from regional investigations and company exploration. Over 50 000 
sites, primarily over the Curnamona and Gawler Craton areas, are now in the database.

Company exploration report scanning
The TEISA Company Exploration Report Scanning project has involved digital capture of 
all appropriate company technical data into a suitable format for fast and efficient retrieval 
by industry as well as ensuring secure archival storage and backup of these unique data sets. 
The data are accessible to stakeholders online via the South Australian Resources Information 
Geoserver. Upon completion of this project there will be approximately two million items for 
search and download. At the 30 June 2002, 130 000 pages of reports, maps and figures were 
available.

Musgrave Block
Magnetic and radiometric survey
The TEISA airborne magnetic and radiometric survey, located in the southern Musgrave 
Ranges, is designed to facilitate mineral and petroleum exploration in Pitjantjatjara and 
Maralinga lands and assist in land-use planning and management decisions. Preliminary data 
displays geological structural features never before recognised in the region.
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Bedrock and groundwater drilling
Over 5000 m of reconnaissance reverse circulation percussion and/or air core drilling 
was completed on the MANN, WOODROFFE and ALBERGA areas by 30 June. Whole-
rock and trace element analysis and petrology on bottom-hole samples, and trace element 
geochemistry on weathered basement profiles were undertaken. Groundwater was also 
sampled to facilitate planning for future development of indigenous communities; several 
holes intersected potable water.

Curnamona Province
Geological mapping of Willyama Supergroup rocks in the Olary region continued 
under TEISA. Reports were published on the nature of the boundary between the Olary 
and Broken Hill Domains, nomenclature of the basement inliers and use of ortho- and 
geophysical imagery in geological mapping. The stratigraphy of the Ethiudna Subgroup, 
and a collaborative study on the isotope geochemistry of the Willyama Supergroup and 
Mesoproterozoic granites were completed.

Basement geological mapping
Geological mapping of the Proterozoic basement, including the Willyama and Mount 
Painter Inliers, continued under TEISA. Outputs completed during this final year included 
mapping (Mingary and Billeroo South areas, Coppertop and Outalpa Inliers), an isotope 
and geochemical study of the Plumbago granites and metasediments, several summary 
technical reports and MESA Journal articles.

Sedimentary cover and regolith studies
The TEISA Sedimentary Cover and Regolith Studies project involved assessment of 
the sedimentary and regolith cover of the northern Murray Basin, Callabonna Sub-basin 
and Willyama Inliers. Current geological information and the potential for sedimentary 
uranium, heavy mineral sands and other commodities were re-assessed.

Broken Hill Exploration Initiative
Collaborative mapping and research with the New South Wales Department of Mineral 
Resources, Monash University, the University of Adelaide and the Cooperative Research 
Centre for Landscape Environments and Mineral Exploration on aspects of the regolith, 
tectonic history, geological architecture and associated mineralising systems of the Broken 
Hill area commenced.

Delamerian Orogeny
A three-year study with the University of Adelaide on the timing of deformation and syn-
metamorphic mineralisation in the Delamerian Orogeny is being supported by TEISA 
funding.

Pine Creek kimberlite
Ongoing regolith mapping, reverse circulation drilling, trenching and loam sampling of 
the Pine Creek kimberlite continued to test the primary dispersion of diamond indicator 
minerals.

Proterozoic sedimentary copper
The Australian Mineral Industries Research Association collaborative three-year 
Proterozoic Sedimentary Copper project, aimed at developing better exploration models, 
reached its first milestone with a workshop and associated fieldtrip (Willouran Ranges) to 
transfer new ideas.
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Gawler Craton
In association with Geoscience Australia scoping studies have been completed and some 
work released in the second year of a three-year Gawler Craton program. Projects include 
regional geology (adjacent to Olympic Dam), copper and gold mineralisation (Hiltaba 
Suite granites, Mulgathing Complex), prospectivity of komatiites (Lake Harris Greenstone 
Belt) and regolith studies.

Lake Harris Greenstone Belt
Phase 1 of the TEISA Greenstone Drilling project was designed to test prospective 
nickel and gold sequences in the Lake Harris, Hopeful Hill and Talia Hill – Mullina Well 
regions. Around 4952 metres of aircore – open hole percussion and 951 metres of diamond 
core were completed for 131 holes. Regional gravity and airborne electromagnetic–
aeromagnetic surveys were also undertaken. The program confirmed the existence of 
substantial komatiitic lavas, which have potential for nickel deposits. At 30 June a further 
2550 metres had been drilled under Phase 2 with every traverse being designed to extend 
the known strike length of the komatiite sequence.

The TEISA Landscape Evolution project aims to characterise the regolith within the 
Lake Harris Greenstone Belt and allow comparisons with regolith development in more 
established geochemical exploration regions in Western Australia. A good correlation has 
been established between depth of weathering and response to airborne electromagnetics.

The gold, massive sulphide and iron ore potential of the Lake Harris Greenstone Belt is 
being assessed through the application of a mineralising systems approach as part of a 
collaborative TEISA project. Visible pentlandite (nickel–copper sulphide) and anomalous 
gold values have been intersected in the first phase of drilling.

An explorers’ guide to mapping and logging the sedimentary cover is currently being 
prepared for the TEISA Sedimentary Synthesis project which aims to revise the geology 
covering the Lake Harris Greenstone Belt.

Kingoonya Palaeochannel
TEISA research on the Kingoonya Palaeochannel aims to define target areas with the 
potential for placer deposits (gold, diamonds, uranium and heavy minerals) and generally 
enhance the geological understanding of the area. Previously unrecognised palaeochannel 
systems have been identified following interpretation of geophysical and remote sensing 
data, relogging of existing drillholes and completion of five new drillholes

TARGETS FOR 2002–03
• Complete a metallogenic model, tectonic framework and a spatial information CD 

with detailed information on landscape evolution for the Lake Harris Greenstone Belt 
to encourage nickel and gold exploration.

• Develop an understanding of geological structures in the Musgrave Ranges.

• Implement a new approach to the Broken Hill Exploration Initiative emphasising 
cross-border cooperation, collaboration and coordination of research on shared 
geoscientific and exploration problems in the Curnamona Province.

• Produce a summary report on the drilling program and compile existing data for the 
northern Murray Basin.

• Produce a palaeochannel map and compile data for the Callabonna Sub-basin.

• Complete the Pine Creek Kimberlite project.

• Publish LINCOLN, MAITLAND and KINGSCOTE 1:250 000 geological maps.
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• Complete company report scanning and publish the resultant database.

• Complete the state 1:2 million scale tectonic map.

Strategic priority 13 — WE BUILD COLLABORATIVE 
RELATIONSHIPS WITH OTHERS — our success depends 
on building and maintaining our relationships with clients, 
stakeholders and the community
The Mineral Resources Group has many collaborative arrangements with external bodies. 
These include other government agencies such as the Department for Environment 
and Heritage, Environmental Protection Agency, Division of State Aboriginal Affairs, 
Geoscience Australia, universities throughout Australia, national and international mining 
companies, and negotiations with indigenous groups such as the Anangu Pitjantjatjara 
people. Close ties are also maintained with rural and urban community groups and schools.

PIRSA is one of nine organisations in a Cooperative Research Centre for Landscape 
Environments and Mineral Exploration to exist for seven years from June 2001. 
Collaborative projects under way in the central Gawler Craton, Olary district and Musgrave 
Ranges aim to make breakthroughs in mineral exploration in areas masked by sediment 
and weathered rock. Geophysical techniques being investigated also have application for 
monitoring dryland salinity and trial flights to collect and evaluate data have commenced 
in the Mid North. The work is a collaborative effort with CSIRO and the Commonwealth 
Bureau of Rural Sciences and is managed through the Department of Water, Land and 
Biodiversity Conservation.

TARGETS FOR 2002–03
• Strengthen and expand ties with industry, community and government organisations.

• Increase the level of funded, collaborative research in key areas for mineral 
exploration.

• Promote the effective outcomes of collaborative arrangements and encourage uptake 
of new techniques and ideas.

PETROLEUM
The Petroleum Group is the lead agency in facilitating 
petroleum activities in the state. Since 1964 the total 
petroleum industry investment in South Australia in today’s 
dollars is $11.6 billion, concentrated largely in the Cooper 
and Otway Basins. The Petroleum Group’s mission is to 
maximise the community’s net benefits from the state’s 
ownership of the rights to petroleum and geothermal 
resources. The targeted outcomes are a well-regulated and 
well-respected resource industry that generates royalty 
income, community wealth and jobs through ecologically 
and economically sustainable development.

Performance measure highlights
The Petroleum Group sponsored an independent customer 
survey of companies involved in the upstream petroleum 
industry in South Australia in mid 2001 to gauge customer 
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satisfaction with services provided by the group and to guide future research and marketing 
directions. This survey is the latest in a program to gather industry feedback on Petroleum 
Group’s performance every two years (Fig. 2). In general the group rated very well, being 
perceived as consistently the best overall in Australia again, as well as best (by those 
surveyed) in all aspects of interaction with the industry (regulation, promotion, data and 
service quality).

Strategic priority 1— INDUSTRY DEVELOPMENT — 
provide support for industry and regional development that 
focuses on global market opportunities
Native title
Establishing the right of access for exploration in relation to the Native Title Act 1993 
(Cwlth) is a necessary prerequisite for the grant of onshore petroleum exploration licences 
in South Australia. The Act requires that access agreements be concluded between 
registered native title claimants and those wanting access to explore for and produce 
natural resources. Two processes are currently recognised as acceptable pursuant to the 
Act. These are indigenous land use agreements and the right to negotiate process leading to 
access agreements.

A lengthy and complex tripartite right to negotiate process proved to be effective for 
10 Cooper Basin petroleum exploration licence applications (CO98). Three separate 
Aboriginal claimant groups (the Edward Landers Dieri, Yandruwandha–Yawarrawarrka 
and Wangkangurru–Yarluyandi peoples), six companies and the South Australian 
Government took almost three years to conclude (in October 2001) the CO98 access 
agreements now recognised nationally as leading-edge. These agreements are an Australian 
first and can logically form precedents for future native title negotiations throughout the 
country.

The CO98 agreements enable land access for all phases of petroleum exploration, 
development and production (e.g. are conjunctive) and provide recompense for impacts on 
native title rights within defined petroleum exploration licence areas, while those defined 
licences or their derivatives exist. The work programs committed for the 10 licences 
amounts to $84 million of which $31 million is guaranteed. 

The right to negotiate processes for 16 other Cooper petroleum exploration licence 
applications (CO99, CO2000) are in progress and will involve work programs 
approximating $200 million. The government’s goals in respect to the process remain 
outcomes that are both fair to the claimants and sustainable in relation to continuing 
development of the state’s petroleum resources.

Licensing
Tenement status for 2001–02 is summarised in Table 2. Petroleum exploration licences 
were granted in October for 10 out of 11 Cooper Basin blocks offered for bids in 1998, 
with the remaining CO98 block still subject to further negotiation. Three new licences to 
explore for geothermal energy in the Nappamerri Trough of the Cooper Basin form the 
first of their kind to be granted since the introduction of the Petroleum Act 2000. Two 
petroleum exploration licences in the Otway Basin and one exploration permit in the 
Duntroon Basin were granted following release of areas for competitive tender in 2001.

A new acreage release in the Cooper Basin was announced at the APPEA Conference 
in April with a re-release of six small CO2001 blocks as a single petroleum exploration 
licence; bids close on 22 August 2002. Eight offshore South Australian application areas 
(three Otway Basin, five Bight Basin) form part of the 2002 Australian Release of Offshore 
Petroleum Exploration Areas; bids close in April 2003.
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Two petroleum exploration licences in the Otway Basin were cancelled due to non-
fulfilment of licence conditions.

Pipelines
A pipeline licence (PL 13) was granted to construct a pipeline from the Victorian border 
near Penola to Torrens Island. There were three variations to the Moomba to Adelaide gas 
pipeline licence (PL 1) to allow construction of lateral pipelines from the existing route.

TEISA research projects
A number of research projects were completed during the final year of the four-year TEISA 
exploration initiative program to address knowledge gaps in key petroleum basins as 
identified in industry surveys. Results from these projects were disseminated to industry 
at a number of workshops and conferences. These projects included Triassic seals study, 
Warburton and lower Cooper Basin regional seals study, Officer, Stansbury and Arrowie 
Basins structure studies and compilation of Cooper Basin isolith maps.

Promotion of petroleum exploration opportunities
Effective national and international marketing of the state’s petroleum rights is essential 
to ensure that the state obtains maximum value for these rights. The promotional focus for 
2001–02 was the oil and gas producing Cooper Basin and the gas producing Otway Basin. 
Petroleum Group also contributed to the promotion of offshore South Australian release 
areas in the Duntroon, Bight and Otway Basins in conjunction with the Commonwealth.

A new play-trend was identified in the deepwater Otway Basin and promoted at industry 
conferences. The Humpback Lead lies on this trend and has attracted considerable attention 
within the exploration industry. The second edition of The petroleum geology of South 

Table 2: Tenement status, 2001–02

2001–02 ONSHORE OFFSHORE  TOTAL

 Exploration Production Pipeline Preliminary  Speculative  Exploration
   survey survey

Applications received 17 — 2 4 2 1 26

Total applications under  55a — 1 — — — 56 
consideration (year end)

Licences/permits granted 15 — 1 4 2 1 23

Renewals granted 2 — — — — — 2

Variations approved 2 — 3 — — 1 6

Suspensions 1 — — — — 1 2

Licences expired 4 — — 3 2 — 9

Licences surrendered 1 — — — — — 1

Licences cancelled 2 — — — — — 2

Applications refused — — — — — — —

Total licences current  23b 194 13 3 2 6 241 
(year end)

a  Includes 14 applications for coal seam methane and two for geothermal energy.

b  Includes three exploration licences for geothermal energy.
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Australia, vol. 1: Otway Basin is near completion. Work is under way on producing 
volume 5, the Bight and Duntroon Basins (Great Australian Bight), with completion 
expected in 2002.

One overseas visit was made to attend the AAPG Convention in Houston. Five Petroleum 
Group professionals presented technical papers at the APPEA Conference. A number of 
publications and CD information packages were produced and distributed to industry and 
academia at these events, including the Cooper 2002 CD. 

A land access and promotional policy for the Officer Basin was developed and nine 
exploration licence applications are current over 98 772 square kilometres in the region. 
Access agreements with Aboriginal landowners and registered native title claimants are 
a prerequisite for the formal offer of petroleum exploration licences in respect of these 
applications.

TARGETS FOR 2002–03
• Foster perceptions that South Australia is a favoured investment destination for 

petroleum exploration.

• Facilitate good faith negotiations to resolve native title access agreements.

• Grant additional petroleum exploration licences.

• Facilitate the grant of additional petroleum production licences.

• Attract competitive work program bids for now vacant acreage in the onshore Cooper 
and Otway Basins and in the offshore Bight and Otway Basins.

• Conduct research applied to addressing industry knowledge gaps in key South 
Australian basins, including publication of two volumes of The petroleum geology of 
South Australia series.

• Promote the results of research projects to the petroleum industry and academia.

Strategic priority 2 — INNOVATION INDUSTRY — 
promote and facilitate new and value-adding industry 
that builds on the States’ knowledge, infrastructure and 
innovation capability
A total of 14 applications have been received over the last two years for exploration 
licences to explore for coal bed methane or in situ gasification of coal. Most of these are 
over coal deposits that have existing Mining Act 1971 leases. Amendments to both the 
Mining and Petroleum Acts are required before these licenses can be granted, to ensure that 
pre-existing rights to coal are preserved. There are currently three geothermal exploration 
licences and two applications for geothermal exploration licences.

TARGETS FOR 2002–03
• Progress towards granting exploration licences for the exploration of coal seam 

methane resources.

• Facilitate the exploration and appraisal of the geothermal resources of the state.

• Facilitate further native title access agreements.
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Strategic priority 3 — RISKS AND BIOLOGICAL 
CONTAMINANT THREATS — successfully manage 
risks including, biological and contaminant threats, to the 
environment, production efficiencies and market access
The environmental risks associated with petroleum industry activities are required to be 
assessed and managed within a broad meaning of environment, including natural, social 
and economic aspects. The objective-based Petroleum Act has a number of requirements 
that ensure that industry provides a demonstration of its management of such risks, e.g. 
statements of environmental objectives. The latter have been formulated as a basis for 
efficient co-regulation of activities pursuant to multiple Acts.

TARGETS FOR 2002–03
• Statements of environmental objectives and associated environmental impact research 

reports are lodged and assessed in a timely manner.

• Facilitate the development of a one-stop shop approach to co-regulation of activities 
under various Acts (e.g. Petroleum, Environmental Protection, Water Resources etc.).

Strategic priority 4 — INTEGRATED POLICY 
FRAMEWORK, REGULATION AND COMPLIANCE 
— create through consultation, effective policy and 
regulatory frameworks to enhance industry and community 
confidence
Royalties
Royalty receipts from Cooper Basin petroleum and natural gas and carbon dioxide 
production were $48.9 million, a reduction of 28 per cent from 2000–01. The increased 
costs in extracting gas in the Cooper Basin, increased sales of South West Queensland gas 
via the Moomba to Adelaide pipeline, fluctuating global commodity prices and the shut-in 
of petroleum liquids after the mishap at Moomba in June 2001 have impacted on royalty 
receipts. The introduction of gas into South Australia via the Victoria to Torrens Island 
pipeline will benefit consumers in relation to the security and diversity of gas supply, but 
this will also introduce competitive pressures on South Australian Cooper Basin gas, and 
this could have a flow-on effect in the form of less South Australian gas being sold into the 
South Australian market — with commensurately less royalties paid to the state.

Annual compliance reports
Licensees are required to report annually to PIRSA on their performance against the 
approved statements of environmental objectives relevant to their activities. The Petroleum 
Group plans and undertakes its compliance reviews and assessments on the basis of these 
reports.

Sixteen company annual reports were submitted in 2001–02. Only two needed to be 
resubmitted due to noncompliance with the Act and this is attributed to PIRSA guidance on 
the format.

Fitness-for-purpose assessments
The first fitness-for-purpose assessment report by Santos Ltd on its Moomba Plant and 
facilities was submitted and Petroleum Group is currently assessing its integrity. Fitness-
for-purpose reports were also received from Origin Energy Resources and Air Liquide 
Australia for the Katnook and Ladbroke Grove gas plant, Caroline carbon dioxide plant 
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and wells in the South East. Both these reports have been assessed by the Petroleum Group 
and found to be adequately meeting the requirements of the Act. All reports and the status 
of their assessment are available for public review and scrutiny on the Petroleum Group’s 
website-based environmental register.

Quarterly compliance meetings
Each quarter the Petroleum Group meets with production and transmission pipeline licence 
operators to discuss and review the compliance of their operations with the Petroleum 
Act and relevant statements of environmental objectives. All operators are satisfying the 
requirements of the Act.

Reportable and serious incidents
Incidents defined in the Act and statements of environmental objectives as reportable 
and serious are reported to PIRSA detailing cause, remedial and preventative actions and 
measures. A total of 90 incidents were reported to PIRSA of which three were serious. 
Final reports on these are publicly available on the environmental register.

In June 2001 a liquids pump explosion incident at the Moomba Plant resulted in the 
death of a Santos employee. In September an oil spill occurred due to corrosion along 
the pipeline between Jena 2 and four oil wells. Routine monitoring detected possible 
stress corrosion cracking on the Moomba to Sydney Natural Gas Pipeline in October. The 
affected section was cut out and replaced in March and the pipeline continues to operate at 
a reduced pressure to ensure safety while a subsequent action plan is finalised. A full report 
will be submitted at that time. In January corrosion was detected in the Moomba Plant; a 
final report has been submitted.

Reportable incidents
As prescribed under Regulation 32, reportable incidents are reported quarterly. PIRSA 
reviews the incidents and the proposed remedial and corrective actions for preventing their 
recurrence. In addition PIRSA’s review seeks to identify any trends of particular types of 
incidents so as to investigate the adequacy of the operator’s incident management systems 
and processes. All reportable incidents are included in the licensee annual compliance 
reports that are publicly available on the environmental register.

PIRSA was satisfied that no incident of noncompliance justified prosecution. The 
response by the licensees to the incidents ensured rehabilitation and future management 
of the causes of the incident. In response to a cluster of flow line and trunkline corrosion 
incidents PIRSA has requested a demonstration from Santos of the effectiveness of its 
pipeline design, construction and operation management system.

Compliance policy
An administrative policy for enforcement of the Petroleum Act has been drafted and will 
be the subject of stakeholder consultation.

Commonwealth working groups
The Petroleum Group is regularly invited to participate on various Commonwealth 
working groups. Last year these included working on the steering committee for the review 
and advise for the establishment of a Commonwealth Offshore Safety Agency and on the 
associated legislation and technical working groups. PIRSA is a contributor to the national 
Petroleum Data Consultative Group in setting technical standards for data submission, 
storage and retrieval.
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TARGETS FOR 2002–03
• Facilitate the timely and correct payment of royalties.

• Review annual compliance reports for integrity in a timely manner.

• Continue integrity assessment of Santos’ fitness-for-purpose report.

• Educate industry to improve compliance with provisions of the Petroleum Act.

• Identify amendments to the Petroleum Act to address a number of issues discovered 
during its implementation.

• Undertake amendments to the Cooper Basin (Ratification) Act 1975.

• Conclude targeted stakeholder consultation in relation to an enhanced administrative 
policy for compliance enforcement.

• Effectively administer exploration activity under all relevant legislation.

Strategic priority 5 — ECOLOGICALLY SUSTAINABLE 
DEVELOPMENT — enhance the capacity of community 
and industry to integrate, achieve and report against 
environmentally sustainable development principles
Two research studies of impacts of seismic operations on fauna were completed. The 
overall environmental aim is to ensure that seismic operations are undertaken in an 
ecologically sustainable manner, and that the principles of ecologically sustainable 
development are achieved. The studies on small mammals and reptiles, and ants indicated 
that impacts are more visual than ecological.

TARGETS FOR 2002–03
• Ensure that company statements of environmental objectives give required degree of 

assurance.

• Watching brief on bio-indicators for ecologic recovery, post seismic and drilling.

Strategic priority 6 — REMEDIAL ACTIONS — harness 
community and government resources to rehabilitate 
degraded systems and sites
Remedial actions for petroleum related impacts are the responsibility of petroleum 
licensees. There have been no cases identified in the year which necessitated the 
government undertaking remedial works for past petroleum activities.

TARGETS FOR 2002–03
• Assess that companies have carried out required remedial work.

• Establish priorities and report on progress in remediation of legacy Cooper Basin 
seismic lines.

Strategic priority 7 — BUILDING COMMUNITY CAPACITY 
— build capacity, leadership and global awareness in 
industry, and rural and indigenous communities
All notices of environmental incidents that are reportable pursuant to the Petroleum Act 
are posted on PIRSA’s website as soon as practical after receipt, demonstrating there is 
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‘nothing to hide’ in respect of petroleum activities. Activities in licenses granted pursuant 
to the Petroleum Act are required to follow processes to protect Aboriginal heritage before 
and during field operations. Compliance is co-regulated by PIRSA and the Department for 
Environment and Heritage.

Coongie Lakes
A range of proposals have been developed in relation to petroleum management options in 
the Coongie Lakes Control Zone and resolution of a final management position, which is 
acceptable to the South Australian community, continues to be a challenge.

TARGETS FOR 2002–03
• Finalise the management arrangements for any allowable petroleum activities in the 

Coongie Lakes area.

• Sustain a policy of transparency in relation to regulation and industry operations. 
Implement a ‘nothing to hide’ administrative policy by pro-actively posting all reports 
of serious incidents on PIRSA’s website as soon as practicable after submission.

Strategic priority 8 — PARTNERSHIPS — negotiate 
effective partnerships with industry, rural and indigenous 
communities, Commonwealth Government and local 
government for regional and industry development
Environmental Protection Agency
Selected officers have undergone training including joint field inspections to facilitate an 
effective integrated approach to areas of overlap between the Environment Protection Act 
1993 and the Petroleum Act. This training is a key component to meeting the requirements 
of the memorandum of understanding between the Environmental Protection Agency and 
the Petroleum Group.

Industry and academic collaboration
In 2002 Petroleum Group collaborated with companies holding or applying for South 
Australian acreage in producing the second South Australian farm-in opportunities CD to 
highlight investment opportunities.

The Petroleum Group has continued the strong links with the National Centre for 
Petroleum Geology and Geophysics at the University of Adelaide. Funding is being 
provided for the State Chair of Petroleum Geology. Two postgraduate projects were 
sponsored in 2001. Support was given to a PhD research project to evaluate fault seal in 
the Otway Basin, and for a study of greenhouse gas sequestration. Hydrocarbon migration 
in the Cooper and Eromanga Basins is also being researched in collaboration with others.

TARGETS FOR 2002–03
• Finalise administrative agreements with the Environmental Protection Agency and 

Department of Water, Land and Biodiversity Conservation.
• Ensure continued government support for the State Chair of Petroleum Geology and 

the National Centre for Petroleum Geology and Geophysics.
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Strategic priority 9 — ACCESS TO INFORMATION AND 
SERVICES — improve industry and regional access to 
information that supports better business decisions
Data and information products and services — industry feedback
Petroleum Group was ranked number one for its approach to promoting petroleum 
exploration opportunities in the 2001 petroleum industry survey. The group’s ranking in 
this category has progressively improved since 1996 from fourth, to second in 1999 and 
now first. In addition the group was able to maintain its number one ranking from 1999 for 
data quality and data delivery service quality.

TEISA data capture
The TEISA Data Capture and Archiving project, the single largest petroleum program 
funded by TEISA, has involved digital capture (primarily scanning) of all appropriate 
petroleum data into a suitable format for fast and efficient retrieval by industry as well as 
ensuring secure archival storage and backup of these unique data sets. At its conclusion at 
30 June 2002:

• All 1500 well completion reports and over 380 geological reports hade been scanned 
and validated.

• Documentation relating to all current tenements has been scanned and is available 
online in the tenement register.

• All 29 321 seismic sections had been scanned and validated.

• All 745 boxes of ancillary seismic data had been scanned and validated.

• Around 67 per cent of all seismic reports submitted by past explorers had been 
scanned and validated.

Data provision
Ten copies of the Petroleum Exploration and Production System (PEPS) database were 
sold to industry customers this year; three were to new clients, and seven were renewals. 
Three additional copies were supplied free of charge to government, academic and research 
institutions.

Figure 2: PIRSA Petroleum overall performance ranking compared to other similar State and federal 
agencies as perceived by the petroleum industry 1996-2001.
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Over 13 000 hits were recorded for the Petroleum channel of the PIRSA website in the 
last year. Over 80 requests for archived geophysical data sets were processed during the 
year and forwarded to explorers, 85 per cent of which were forwarded within targeted 
timeframes.

South Australian petroleum industry services directory
An innovative Service Directory database was launched in April and provides current 
information on locally based upstream petroleum exploration and development consultants 
and service companies live from the PIRSA website.

TARGETS FOR 2002–03
• Continue to promote exploration opportunities to 

reach both domestic and overseas investors.

• Continue to improve industry access to petroleum 
regulatory and tenement information through 
electronic means

ENERGY SA
Energy SA facilitates the coordinated development and 
implementation of policies, legislative frameworks 
and regulatory responsibilities for the competitive, 
sustainable, safe and reliable supply and use of energy for 
the benefit of the South Australian community. Energy 
SA achieves this through five key programs — Energy 
Policy; Sustainable Renewable Energy Policy and 
Programs; Regulation (through the Office of the Technical 
Regulator); the Remote Areas Energy Supply Scheme; and 
the National Gas Pipelines Access Regime.

Energy SA provides a one-stop shop for government’s activities 
in conventional, sustainable and renewable energy and energy 
regulation. Energy SA also hosts the Natural Gas Authority of 
South Australia and provides secretariats for the State Energy 
Research Advisory Committee and National Gas Pipelines 
Advisory Committee. The Energy SA Information Centre is part 
of the group.

Strategic priority 1 — INDUSTRY DEVELOPMENT — 
provide support for industry and regional development that 
focuses on global market opportunities
Natural Gas Authority of South Australia
Contractual requirements of the Natural Gas Authority of South Australia were carried out 
as stipulated under six sales agreements to which the Natural Gas Authority is a party. In 
2001–02 the Natural Gas Authority purchased nearly 90 petajoules of gas at a cost of over 
$230 million for its customers, Terra Gas trader and Origin Energy.

The Natural Gas Authority provides an important link in the state’s gas supply chain and 
facilitates dialogue between the producers, retailers and the pipeline operators.

10
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TARGETS FOR 2002–03
• Continue to meet the contractual obligations of the Natural Gas Authority of South 

Australia.

• Continue to improve and update systems and procedures to achieve a better efficiency 
in performing all functions that the Natural Gas Authority carries out.

Strategic priority 2 — INNOVATION INDUSTRY — 
promote and facilitate new and value-adding industry 
that builds on the States’ knowledge, infrastructure and 
innovation capability
State Energy Research Advisory Committee
The State Energy Research Advisory Committee advises the Minister for Energy on energy 
related projects and recommends energy research, development and commercialisation 
projects suitable for government funding. In 2001–02, 29 applications were received 
for funding totalling $367 341, which was awarded to 10 projects involving renewable 
energy, seven projects related to energy efficiency, two regional energy audits and one 
alternative transport fuel project. Fourteen energy research grants and two Sustainable 
Energy Scholarships worth a total of $327 886 were granted. The committee reviewed its 
procedures to refine project definition during the application process.

A project was commissioned to identify factors inhibiting the growth of the renewable 
energy industry in South Australia and submissions were sought from consultants for a 
study of the potential for the production of energy from waste.

Strategic priority 3 — RISKS AND BIOLOGICAL 
CONTAMINANT THREATS — successfully manage 
risks including, biological and contaminant threats, to the 
environment, production efficiencies and market access
Gas and petroleum product supplies
Security and reliability of gas supplies have continued to be monitored and enhanced 
where possible.

The Gas emergency procedures manual developed in 1999 was updated to reflect 
the current needs of the gas and electricity generation industries. The gas emergency 
procedures were applied three times during the year as a result of Moomba gas production 
plant operational problems causing gas supply interruptions to the state in July, February 
and June. Improved communication with the Electricity Supply Industry Planning Council 
has provided a better understanding of the effects of gas supply interruptions on the 
national electricity market and facilitated a more objective assessment of the criteria used 
in allocating available gas during emergencies.

Monitoring security of supply for petroleum products (transport fuels) in South Australia 
is a critical ongoing activity. The Adelaide Refinery continued to supply 85–90 per cent of 
South Australia’s fuel requirements.

As a result of an industrial dispute between Mobil and maintenance workers at the 
Adelaide Refinery in October, Adelaide fuel supplies were severely threatened. The 
Governor declared a period of heavy restrictions from 17–20 October and Energy SA 
managed the process. Despite fuel stocks running very low, supplies for essential service 
providers were maintained throughout the period and there was excellent cooperation 
between oil companies, Energy SA and the majority of the general public.
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A broad-based retail review was conducted across the Oil Industry, Motor Trade 
Association and the Royal Automobile Association and revisions to restriction procedures 
were agreed upon. A review of supply arrangements with the four major oil companies 
resulted in communication procedures being revised.

Fuel supply in South Australia remained tight from October through to February. 
Significant technical problems during the first half of 2002 resulted in the refinery being 
shutdown for five days in April and 15 days in May. Cooperation between the major oil 
companies was facilitated during the periods of uncertain supply.

Inter-jurisdictional agreement
Development of an inter-jurisdictional agreement to share emergency gas supplies 
has yet to be finalised. It is proposed to continue work on a national memorandum of 
understanding under a Ministerial Council on Energy Senior Officials Committee.

TARGETS FOR 2002–03
• Continue to monitor security of supply for gas, electricity and transport fuels, and 

implement procedures to manage available supplies following any interruptions.

• Continue to improve and update systems and procedures to achieve a better efficiency 
in performing all energy emergency response functions (gas, electricity and petroleum 
products).

Strategic priority 4 — INTEGRATED POLICY 
FRAMEWORK, REGULATION AND COMPLIANCE 
— create through consultation, effective policy and 
regulatory frameworks to enhance industry and community 
confidence
Policy, advice and support services

Contributions to national programs was made through representation on a range of 
committees including the Energy Markets Group, Gas Policy Forum, National Greenhouse 
Energy Group and its working groups, National Gas Pipelines Advisory Committee, 
National Steering Group for Green Power, Centre for the Analysis and Dissemination 
of Demonstrated Energy Technologies National Team, Electricity Regulators Advisory 
Committee, Gas Technical Regulators Forum, and a range of Australian Standards gas 
and electricity committees. Contributions were also made to the newly established 
Ministerial Council on Energy through the Energy Efficiency and Greenhouse Working 
Group, the Strategic Energy Supply and Security Working Group, the Energy Market 
Development Working Group, National Oil Supplies Emergency Committee, and the 
Downstream Petroleum Working Group. Financial management of the Energy Efficiency 
and Greenhouse Working Group Central Fund continued.

Research services were provided to the South Australian Parliament Select Committee 
into Petrol Prices, with the interim report released in November. The Minister for Energy, 
the Environment Protection Authority and the Minister for Environment and Conservation 
were advised on fuel emission standards and their impact on supply security and industry 
viability. An Electricity Demand Side Management Task Force was established in October 
to define measures to assist in reducing electrical demands, particularly during summer 
peak periods, and to lessen the impact of electricity costs on industry, business and the 
environment.



104 PIRSA Annual Report 2001–02 PIRSA Annual Report 2001–02 105

Mutual recognition agreements
During the year comment was provided (through the Department of the Premier and 
Cabinet) on various agreements with other jurisdictions including mutual recognition 
agreements on conformity assessment with Switzerland and APEC (Asia-Pacific Economic 
Cooperation group). Such agreements enable exporters to have their products assessed and 
certified for compliance with the regulatory requirements of destination countries in the 
country of manufacture.

Comments to the Commonwealth on the proposed resources and energy cooperation 
agreement with Korea were adopted. Comments were provided on matters arising under 
the Trans-Tasman Mutual Recognition Act 1997 (Cwlth) exemptions and a proposed 
heads of agreement. Energy SA contributed to a national program on safety and technical 
standards for gas and electricity appliances affected by the Act.

COAG Energy Market Review
A submission was provided to the state government for the Council of Australian 
Governments’ (COAG) Energy Market Review in June highlighting the current state of 
the energy market in South Australia and the proposal to establish the Essential Services 
Commission. Assistance was given with a paper prepared by the Gas Policy Forum to the 
Ministerial Council on Energy.

Other consultations
The Office of the Technical Regulator SA presented a submission to the Consumer Affairs 
Division of the Commonwealth Treasury with respect to its National Competition Policy 
Review of the Commerce (Trade Descriptions) Act 1905 and the Commerce (Import) 
Regulations 1940 (Cwlth). It supports retention of the legislation, as its removal would 
place consumers at additional risk of misuse of imported non-prescribed products due 
to lack of suitable marking, and impose an additional financial burden on the state, by 
requiring additional staff to audit the sale of imported non-prescribed products.

Energy SA provided responses to other jurisdictions on matters that required approval 
under the COAG Natural Gas Pipelines Access Agreement of November 1997, including 
a proposal from the New South Wales minister to continue a derogation to enable the 
Independent Pricing and Regulatory Tribunal to be the Technical Regulator of certain New 
South Wales transmission pipelines.

National Gas Pipelines Advisory Committee
Energy SA was represented at all meetings of the National Gas Pipelines Advisory 
Committee, which has statutory responsibility for considering and recommending changes 
to the National Third Party Access Code for Natural Gas Pipeline Systems to ministers. 
The Third and Fifth Amending Agreements, which changed the code, came into operation 
in November and June respectively. Further changes were also approved by ministers. 
These are in the Fourth Amending Agreement and related changes to Schedule 1 of the 
Gas Pipelines Access (South Australia) Act 1997. The changes to Schedule 1 require the 
approval of the South Australian Parliament and a Bill to achieve this was introduced in 
June. It is envisaged that the Fourth Amending Agreement will be brought into operation 
at the same time as the changes to Schedule 1. The Advisory Committee uses the Code 
Registrar’s web page to provide greater access to its recommendations.

South Australian Gas Review Board
The South Australian Gas Review Board is the South Australian appeals body established 
under section 42 of the Gas Pipelines Access (South Australia) Act. Its function is to hear 
appeals against decisions by ministers in areas such as coverage of pipelines by the code 
and decisions by regulators in areas such as ring-fencing of activities, approval of associate 
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contracts and decisions covering access arrangements.

The Gas Pipelines Access (Local Provisions) Regulations 2001 under the Act were 
gazetted and will come into operation on 5 July 2002. The regulations cover aspects of the 
proceedings of the board, and provide for application and hearing fees, which will enable 
most of the costs of convening the Board to be covered.

The Board has not yet been required to meet.

Members of the South Australian Gas Review Board, whose terms expired, were 
reappointed in August.

Gas pipelines access
An arbitration under the Gas Pipelines Access Act 1995 to settle an access dispute 
over limited capacity in the Moomba to Adelaide Pipeline owned by Epic Energy was 
triggered by the regulator under the Act. A number of South Australian retailers and power 
generators are seeking firm capacity in the Moomba to Adelaide Pipeline at levels which 
exceed current capacity.

The final report on the National Competition Policy of the Stony Point (Liquids Project) 
Ratification Act 1981 was completed and fulfils the requirements of the legislative review 
process. In May the former Minister for Minerals and Energy approved the final report and 
its recommendations that no changes are required to the Act.

South Australian Independent Pricing and Access Regulator
The South Australian Independent Pricing and Access Regulator (SAIPAR) performs the 
role of regulator for the South Australian natural gas distribution systems. SAIPAR (apart 
from the regulator) was staffed by seconded Energy SA personnel during the year.

The final decision on Envestra Ltd’s access arrangement for the South Australian Natural 
Gas Distribution System was issued in December. Envestra is required to submit a revised 
access arrangement that incorporates (or substantially incorporates) the amendments 
specified by the SAIPAR Regulator. The final decision foreshadowed a number of 
changes to Envestra’s access arrangement including the legal terms and conditions for 
third party access and the economic and pricing aspects. Changes made to the regulatory 
weighted average cost of capital, the depreciated optimised replacement cost asset base 
valuation, and to depreciation and non-capital cost allowances will result in a total revenue 
requirement significantly lower than that proposed by the service provider in its original 
access arrangement.

The SAIPAR annual report for 2000–01 was completed and tabled in Parliament.

Code Registrar
The Code Registrar continued to perform its functions in accordance with the requirements 
of the Gas Pipelines Access (South Australia) Act. These included maintaining the code as 
amended and in force following the Third and Fifth Amending Agreements, which were 
gazetted and in operation in November and June respectively. Advice on the code was 
provided as required, including to regulators and jurisdictions. The Code Registrar’s annual 
report was completed and tabled in Parliament as required by the Act.

The Code Registrar also approved the form of application for the cross-vesting of the 
Albury Distribution System from New South Wales to Victoria, which was subsequently 
approved by the relevant ministers.

Internet access to the Public Register was maintained by the Code Registrar on behalf of 
all Australian jurisdictions (in accordance with the requirements of the code) and enables 
inquirers to search the Public Register and download or order documents concerning 
access to natural gas pipelines within Australia.
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Compliance
Annual reports of the Office of the Technical Regulator were tabled in Parliament as 
required by the Gas Act 1997 and the Electricity Act 1996.

Educational seminars were held for contractors and workers and two safety newsletters 
posted to all licensed contractors and workers highlighting work practices necessary to 
attain compliance with the law.

Technical audits and special investigations of electrical workers and gasfitters were 
carried out to ensure compliance with the relevant safety standards and legislation. There 
were 1228 audits and 661 special investigations of electrical work, and 821 audits and 
201 special investigations of gas work. These investigations resulted in the issue of 76 
expiation notices and five prosecutions under the legislation.

The Electrical Products Act 2000 and Regulations came into operation in October. 
In addition to the regulation of product safety the Act now enables minimum energy 
performance standards to be introduced for electrical products sold in South Australia, 
which was required in order for Australia to meet greenhouse gas emission targets. It also 
updates requirements to label electrical products to indicate compliance with safety and 
performance standards and to indicate their energy efficiency. Under the Act, the Office of 
the Technical Regulator is able to prohibit the sale or use of electrical products that are, or 
are likely to become unsafe in use, and to require traders to recall such products and render 
them safe or refund the purchase price.

Appliances were assessed in accordance with the former Electrical Products Act 1988 and 
the Electrical Products Act 2000. Certificates were given for 234 proclaimed articles, 76 
non-proclaimed articles, 32 energy labels and 62 minimum energy performance approvals. 
There were 15 product recalls initiated in South Australia and 35 special investigations. In 
addition two safety notices were placed.

Safety and technical management plans have been established for the supply and 
distribution sectors of the industry and these plans have been audited for compliance 
against the requirements of the legislation.

Gas full retail contestability
Energy SA chaired the South Australian Gas Full Retail Contestability Steering 
Committee. Systems are being developed to ensure that consumers can transfer between 
gas retailers and that retailers participate in the market in a fair and competitive manner. 
In February the industry agreed to a set of manual transfer protocols for all customers with 
remotely read interval meters. This provides a mechanism for all customers using over 
10 terrajoules per annum to change retailer, providing retail choice for over 70 per cent 
of the gas retailed within the state. Energy SA has continued to work with stakeholders to 
facilitate the introduction of choice to the rest of the market.

Under the contestability timetable that applies in South Australia, all gas consumers 
became contestable on 1 July 2001. However, the timetable removed only legal barriers 
to contestability. Retail competition in the mass market requires an automated customer 
transfer system, and new wholesale settlement arrangements, which have not yet been 
finalised. In the absence of actual retail competition the powers of the Pricing Regulator, 
under section 33 of the Gas Act, are being used to fix maximum prices for the sale of gas 
to prescribed consumers.

One of the major issues considered during the year included the requirements for a retail 
market operator to conduct customer transfers and gas reconciliations following the 
introduction of full retail contestability.
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Clean fuel
The Environment Protection Agency was supported by Energy SA in the introduction in 
March of new fuel quality requirements to protect and maintain Adelaide’s air quality. This 
air quality policy is operational until new federal fuel quality legislation comes into effect 
between 2002 and 2006.

TARGET FOR 2002–03
• Amend the Gas Pipelines Access (South Australia) Act to implement any changes 

agreed by relevant jurisdictional ministers.

• Amend the Gas Act to facilitate the introduction of retail choice for small gas 
consumers, and to make the consumer protection regime more relevant for a multi-
retailer environment.

• Implement energy market reform in the gas market that will lead to increased 
consumer choice.

Strategic priority 5 — ECOLOGICALLY SUSTAINABLE 
DEVELOPMENT — enhance the capacity of community 
and industry to integrate, achieve and report against 
environmentally sustainable development principles
Renewable rebate programs
The Photovoltaic Rebate Program and the Renewable Remote Power Generation Program 
are two federal programs administered for the state by Energy SA, which aim to encourage 
greater utilisation of renewable energy in South Australia. 

The Photovoltaic Rebate Program provides a cash rebate for grid-connected or off-grid 
systems on residential and community buildings. From January 2000 to June 2002 over 
270 applications were installed in South Australia totalling $1.78 million in rebates and 
amounting to 650 437 kilowatt-hours of renewable electricity generated per annum. Of 
these, 15 solar electricity systems were installed by community groups.

The Renewable Remote Power Generation Program provides rebates to replace or augment 
diesel generators with renewable generation technology. The program commenced 
in March 2001 and has paid around $3 million in rebates towards the installation 149 
systems. These total 244 peak kilowatts of photovoltaic capacity and 29 peak kilowatts in 
wind generators.

The South Australian Government’s Solar Hot Water Rebate Scheme commenced on 1 
July 2001 and aims to increase the use of renewable energy and reduce the amount of 
greenhouse gas emissions produced in the residential sector through water heating. During 
the year over 900 solar hot water systems were installed, totalling over $600 000 in rebates 
and resulting in a reduction of approximately 270 tonnes of carbon dioxide.

Environmentally sustainable development
The Whyalla Eco-Renovation House, an environmentally sustainable development 
demonstration project, and a joint venture with the South Australian Housing Trust, the 
Whyalla City Council, was opened on World Environment Day in June. Two typical, 
attached, three bedroom Housing Trust homes in Whyalla have been redesigned and 
renovated using ecological sustainable development principles.

Energy SA jointly developed and held training and awareness programs for the 
introduction of the four-star energy efficiency rating for residential construction in South 
Australia. This initiative has been deferred pending the introduction of the National 
Building Code of Australia’s requirements.
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Government energy management
The Government Energy Efficiency Action Plan, launched in May, is a comprehensive 
energy management program that will improve energy efficiency and reduce costs across 
all of sectors of government operations. The plan was developed in accordance with 
the National Greenhouse Strategy and includes the government’s target of a 15 per cent 
reduction in energy use in government buildings before 2010. Energy SA co-chairs the 
Energy Efficiency Reference Group, established to oversee implementation of the plan. 
Focus groups for individual agencies and a series of workshops on key action items were 
initiated. Energy SA has also established a specialist advisory service to government, to 
help agencies identify opportunities to reduce energy use at specific sites.

A visionary plan to promote sustainable energy at the South Australian Museum was 
announced by the Premier in May. Under this initiative, called the ‘North Terrace Power 
Station’ the museum will install a large solar-electric array to generate power on its 
rooftop, significantly reduce its energy consumption, and create a special exhibit to 
demonstrate the principles of sustainable energy.

Green power
South Australia is a member of the National Green Power Accreditation Program which 
has achieved over 60 000 green power customers across Australia. Several electricity 
retailers offer green power products to contestable customers in South Australia, for 
example AGL’s ‘Green energy’. At June there were 366 domestic AGL customers and six 
commercial customers serviced by contestable retailers in the state. Wilpena Pound Solar 
Photovoltaic System is the only green power accredited generator currently operating in 
the state, however, the proposed hydro sites at Anstey Hill and Mount Bold reservoir could 
attain green power accreditation when built.

TARGETS FOR 2002–03
• Increase the number of installations of grid-connected and stand-alone renewable 

energy systems in South Australia through the delivery of renewable power generation 
rebates to the community.

• Implement the enhanced $1.29 million Sustainable and Renewable Energy Program.

• Fully implement the Government Energy Efficiency Action Plan.

Strategic priority 8 — PARTNERSHIPS — negotiate 
effective partnerships with industry, rural and indigenous 
communities, Commonwealth Government and local 
government for regional and industry development
Remote area energy supply
The Remote Area Energy Supply Scheme continued to subsidise 13 existing remote area 
power stations. Three are owned and operated by local government or private participants; 
the rest are government owned and operated. Electrical power was supplied from the nine 
government-owned power stations with the only interruptions being caused by lightning 
strikes.

Major capital works were started at Parachilna and finalised at Glendambo, where new 
power station infrastructure was installed and an obsolete generating plant replaced. The 
Parachilna project will see the installation of solar arrays to increase the renewable energy 
output of the power stations.

As of July the tariffs for remote areas energy supply rose by between 3.7 and 5.7 per cent 
to account for inflation and grid tariff rises. A tariff review has been undertaken to permit a 
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continuation of tariff setting once grid prices are no longer regulated. Tenders were called 
to provide operating and maintenance services to the remote area power stations and the 
electrical distribution systems, including billing–retail functions. Tenders are for five years 
commencing in July 2002.

Private ventures–initiatives
Several private wind farm and biomass proposals are being facilitated in conjunction with 
the Department of Industry and Trade and Infrastructure SA. An inter-agency team has 
been set up to assist the large number of project developers. Energy SA has also assisted a 
number of developers with applications to the Australian Greenhouse Office for funding to 
improve the financial viability of projects.

Cities for Climate Protection
Energy SA and the Australian Greenhouse Office jointly funded a full-time project 
officer to provide an energy management advisory service to the 15 South Australian 
councils participating in the national Cities for Climate ProtectionTM program. The 
councils represent 67 per cent of the state’s population. The aim is to facilitate networking 
between councils and to provide information, technical advice and assistance to councils 
implementing energy management initiatives to reduce greenhouse gas emissions. 
Over 144 requests were received and addressed, five forums on topics relevant to local 
government energy management were convened and a number of network meetings held. 
In addition assistance was given with a number of council developments and energy 
management initiatives to reduce carbon dioxide emissions.

An application for continuation of funding is with the Australian Greenhouse Office.

Business partnerships
Energy efficiency and demand side management advice were provided to the business 
sector through a series of seminars and workshops organised together with Business SA. 
Businesses entering into electricity contracts with retailers were educated and advised.

TARGETS FOR 2002–03
• Continue to administer the Remote Area Energy Supply scheme.

• Continue assisting energy projects that promote innovation in energy efficiency, and 
related sustainable and renewable energy technologies and practices.

• Continue to promote sustainable energy practices by working with government 
agencies, industry and the community to implement priority energy efficiency 
programs.

Strategic priority 9 — ACCESS TO INFORMATION AND 
SERVICES — improve industry and regional access to 
information that supports better business decisions
Information products and marketing
The Office of the Technical Regulator conducted a public awareness campaign to promote 
energy safety issues applicable to the season, the latest being the winter safety promotion. 
The benefits and the proper use of electrical safety switches were also promoted.

Energy advisory services
Staff handled 5750 direct community interactions from visitors to the two advisory 
centres, phone calls, emails and faxes. These interactions resulted in approximately annual 
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residential energy bill savings and greenhouse gas reductions of $362 000 and 4050 tonnes 
of carbon dioxide respectively. In addition there were around 35 000 visits to the Energy 
SA and Sustainable Energy websites and 60 000 brochure and fact sheets distributed. 
Energy SA participated in eight community Homebuyer Seminar presentations, with 
approximately 2200 people attending.

Further enhancements were made to the Energy SA website, highlighting key topic areas 
for user access and the promotion of topical and newsworthy energy industry issues. Five 
new brochures and fact sheets were developed and distributed — Energy efficient housing, 
Insulation, Easy ways to save energy, The cost of heating water and Heating and cooling.

Energy SA continued to strengthen its links with the community and was a key sponsor of 
Sunrace 2002 (a solar energy and electric vehicle sustainable technology sports event) and 
the Investigator Science and Technology Centre’s Megawatt Exhibition on the science of 
electricity generation and safe use. These encourage the ongoing education and academic 
pursuit of technological opportunities and solutions.

Communication programs
During November and December, Energy SA implemented a major summer cooling energy 
efficiency education program. This covered both metropolitan and regional South Australia 
and involved a variety of key elements (press and radio advertising, a primary school board 
game, 14 public seminars) partnering the majority of South Australian councils, SA Water 
and energy efficiency industry representatives.

A heating and cooling energy efficiency communication program run in June was aimed at 
all significant heating appliance retailers (approximately 70) in South Australia to educate 

the retailer and their customers to consider both their heating 
and cooling needs at the same time. This thinking will likely 
lead to a more informed and considered energy efficient ‘total 
package’ decision.

Energy planning
Energy scenario planning to 2020 indicated the critical 
importance of environmental pricing of electricity, through, 
for example, emissions trading, to facilitate the establishment 
of renewable energy generators. Energy conservation 
provides considerable opportunity to lower average demand, 
with rising prices from environmental pricing acting as 
further encouragement. Barriers to renewable energy uptake 
with the existing regulatory framework were analysed and 
options recommended to overcome them. Related papers have 
been placed on the Energy SA website.

TARGET FOR 2002–03
• Provide options to government, including regulatory 
 change, to facilitate renewable energy.

AGENCY SUPPORT
The agency’s corporate support functions are provided by 
PIRSA Corporate Group. These functions cover information 
management, finance and business services, risk management 
and audit, human resources, corporate strategy and policy, 
communications and marketing, and legal services which are 
provided through an outposted arrangement with the Crown 
Solicitor’s Office.10

18
95
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Strategic priority 7 — BUILDING COMMUNITY CAPACITY 
— build capacity, leadership and global awareness in 
industry, and rural and indigenous communities
Rural finance and development
FarmBis
FarmBis is a Commonwealth and state funded program which commenced in July 2001, 
providing financial support to assist primary producers improve their business management 
skills. The program budget is $14 million through to 30 June 2004. Grants for individuals 
and groups totalling $7.6 million were approved during the year.

Strategic priority 8 — PARTNERSHIPS — negotiate 
effective partnerships with industry, rural and indigenous 
communities, Commonwealth Government and local 
government for regional and industry development
Rural finance and development
Riverland
The Riverland Rural Partnership Program is jointly funded by state and Commonwealth 
governments. It was launched in September 1998 for three years but more recently 
extended to 31 December 2002. Grants approved during the year included 46 totalling 
$48 000 for business planning, 75 totalling $375 000 for re-development, 25 totalling 
$216 000 for quality assurance and 36 totalling $571 000 for export enhancement.

Central North East
The $4 million Central North East Farm Assistance program, funded by Commonwealth 
and state governments, was launched in September 2000, providing financial support for 
producers in the Central North East of South Australia. Forty-one grants totalling $123 000 
for business planning, 37 totalling $370 000 for productivity improvement, 36 totalling 
$180 000 for infrastructure improvement and 7 totalling $133 000 for research and 
development were approved.

Rural industry adjustment and development
The Rural Industry Adjustment and Development Act 1985 authorises the Minister for 
Agriculture, Food and Fisheries to make loans and grants to assist on-farm development 
and adjustment towards lifting productivity and to fund projects for the benefit of farmers 
and the farming industry as a whole. Five grants and one loan totalling $0.5 million were 
approved. Financial statements for the fund managed under the Act are included in the 
financial statements (App. 8).

Loans to cooperatives
PIRSA is responsible for the provision of loans to cooperatives in South Australia engaged 
in the primary industries sector. One loan totalling $92 000 was approved.
Rural financial counselling

PIRSA approved $282 000 to assist fund the ongoing operations of 12 Rural Financial 
Counselling Services (14 counsellors) and the State Association with the principal aim of 
providing financial counselling and information to primary producers.
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Branched broomrape
A total of 28 grants totalling $66 000 were approved to assist landholders control branched 
broomrape.

Ovine Johne’s Disease
Fencing assistance is being provided on Kangaroo Island in recognition that the 
maintenance of boundary fencing is essential to prevent the spread of Ovine Johne’s 
Disease. It is a state-funded scheme which commenced in July 2001. Twenty-four grants 
totalling $100 000 were approved.

Strategic priority 9 — ACCESS TO INFORMATION AND 
SERVICES — improve industry and regional access to 
information that supports better business decisions
Customer services
PIRSA’s Centre for Minerals and Petroleum further enhanced its role as a whole-of-agency 
centralised reception and general inquiry service with the sale of selected publications from 
Roseworthy Information Centre and other agency groups for the first time. The ability for 
customers to search PIRSA’s geoscientific database via the internet has increased demand 
for geoscientific reports with many requests being made online.

Records management
In August, State Records of South Australia (State Records) were engaged to assist in 
the development of a whole-of-PIRSA Document and Records Management Strategy. In 
February a business case recommending the implementation of two projects over a five-
year period was endorsed in principle by PIRSA Executive and capital bids to implement 
it have been submitted. Project Stream 1 focuses on development of the policy framework 
and tools, education and awareness, and identification of functional requirements for 
an electronic document and records management system. Phase 2 is a rolling disposal 
program to review disposal schedules and sentence hard format records according to 
approved schedules.

Spatial information
Spatial consulting services were provided to other government agencies and PIRSA 
groups. A major project was the identification of prospective sites in South Australia for a 
proposed $1 billion radio telescope for the Department of Industry and Trade.

A South Australian geological map data set comprising the 1:250 000 and 1:63 360 series 
and selected other maps was published on CD.

PIRSA’s core spatial metadata was uploaded onto the Australian Spatial Data Directory.

Information management and technology
eBusiness
PIRSA recognises the importance of data, information and knowledge and the need to 
deliver services to its customers through eBusiness initiatives. To address these issues the 
roles of eBusiness Strategy and Information and eBusiness Data Management have been 
established. PIRSA’s eBusiness infrastructure was improved providing customers with 24-
hour access to information.
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Online projects
A major project to develop a centralised online database of South Australian rural 
properties and stakeholders, and all associated PIRSA activity, was initiated. An 
online system for Fisheries commercial licences and rock lobster pot applications was 
implemented.

PIRSA website
A major review of the PIRSA website was undertaken with the final report and key 
recommendations due in July 2002.

Strategic information management planning
A Strategic Information Management Plan 2003–2005 has been initiated with a focus on 
the provision of access to information and services electronically.

Infrastructure
Infrastructure investments to enable current and future business needs included upgrade 
of the local area network file servers, corporate application computing environment and 
supporting application database software, and the acquisition of additional data storage. 
Upgrade of the PC desktop fleet operating system to Windows 2000 commenced and 
provides the essential capabilities needed to support the deployment of technologies such 
as eBusiness as well as improved security. Plans to enhance business application delivery 
capabilities between the central business district and Glenside and Waite Campus sites 
using high-speed data communications are nearly finalised.

Publishing services
PIRSA Publishing Services undertook an intensive software training program during 
2001–02 to provide more flexibility in the preparation of a wider range of products and to 
position itself as a cost-competitive unit servicing a wide range of PIRSA clients.

A large number of products are now published in digital format, with an increasing trend 
towards interactive CDs that enable interrogation of selected spatial database information 
that would normally only be available in extensive appendixes attached to a hard copy 
version. Other major output types included poster displays, brochures, booklets, journals 
and PowerPoint presentations. Increasing use is being made of the unit’s editorial services.

Communications and marketing
PIRSA’s services and successes continued to be promoted in the agency’s Open Gate 
publication, inserted quarterly in the Stock Journal. A major exhibit, 100 Years of Food 
and Fibre, was staged at the 2001 Royal Adelaide Show as part of the state’s Centenary 
of Federation activities. Major sponsorships during the year included regional field days, 
Federation Feast and other Centenary of Federation activities, Farm Expo, National 
Science Week and Hungry Jack’s Water Week Promotion.

A communication strategy for management of a foot-and-mouth outbreak was developed 
and staff contributed to the planning and development of a national exercise to be held 
in September 2002. Communications management continued with major incursions such 
as Caulerpa taxifolia, fruit fly and Ovine Johne’s Disease. Awareness sessions for the 
management of a fire ant outbreak were undertaken. A communications campaign for the 
introduction of electricity full retail contestability was developed. A number of media 
training sessions were organised for PIRSA staff.
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‘Careers in agriculture’ was developed for children in collaboration with the University of 
Adelaide and includes a website, Planet-E. A schools education program continued in a joint 
venture with the Investigator Science Centre.

TARGETS FOR 2002–03
• Establish eBusiness strategies, policies and management frameworks for future 

eBusiness initiatives.

• Release the animal registration module of the Primary Industries Information 
Management System in August 2002 and add spatial functionality to the system.

• Upgrade the PIRSA website.

• Complete the development of the Strategic Information Management Plan 2003–2005.

• Complete the upgrade of the PC desktop fleet operating system to Windows 2000.

Strategic priority 10 — PIRSA IS A GREAT PLACE TO 
WORK — we attract, develop, value and support our 
people; we provide a positive work culture
Strategic priority 10 provides direction and a framework for building a positive work culture 
and development of people. The Human Resources Strategic Plan provides further clarity on 
the role of Human Resources in developing programs for positive change in the organisation, 
supporting the PIRSA Executive in its corporate governance role and providing managers 
with specialist human resource support services. Major activities are reported in the eight 
key result areas of the Commissioner for Public Employment Strategic Human Resources 
Management Framework.

Monitoring and reporting and a planned workforce
A workforce monitoring and reporting system informs the PIRSA Executive on workforce 
issues and trends to support the development and evaluation of agency human resources 
strategy. The quarterly workforce report details and analyses delegate decisions, workforce 
demographics and trends. Additional supplementary analysis reports were provided during 
the year on PIRSA age profile, trends in remuneration over the last three years, gender 
balance, staff turnover and casual employment. Policy and program initiatives on whole-of-
PIRSA labour hire contract, revised remuneration policy, redeployment policy, Leadership 
for the Future and Women in Leadership programs, and the recruitment of 43 graduates were 
undertaken.

Age profile
A total of 1433 people equating to 1325.89 full-time equivalent staff were employed by 
PIRSA as at the last pay period in June. Table 3 compares PIRSA’s workforce with the 
Australian workforce and illustrates that PIRSA has a greater number of people in the 40–54 
year age group and significantly fewer in the 20–24 year group compared to the Australian 
workforce. This latter has increased from 6.3 per cent at June 2001 to 7.7 per cent at June 
2002, a direct result of the 43 graduates and 16 trainees recruited throughout the year.

Leave management
The average sick leave days (including carers leave) taken for each full-time equivalent 
employee was 5.20 days (Table 4).

Workforce diversity
Workplace diversity is summarised in Table 5.
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Table 3:  Age profile at last pay period in June 2002

AGE GROUP NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES PERCENTAGE 
OF ALL AGENCY 

EMPLOYEES

PERCENTAGE 
OF AUSTRALIAN 

WORKFORCEa

PERCENTAGE 
OF AUSTRALIAN 

POPULATIONb(years) Male Female Total

15–19 4 8 12 0.8 8.0 7.0

20–24 47 63 110 7.7 11.4 7.1

25–29 83 95 178 12.4 11.9 7.5

30–34 88 88 176 12.3 11.9 7.5

35–39 85 72 157 11.0 11.8 7.6

40–44 133 80 213 14.9 12.3 7.6

45–49 166 83 249 17.4 11.5 7.0

50–54 158 48 206 14.4 9.9 6.6

55–59 70 25 95 6.6 6.7 5.1

60–64 22 6 28 1.9 3.1 4.1

65+ 7 2 9 0.6 1.6 12.5

Total 863 570 1433 100.0 — —

a  Sourced from the Australian Bureau of Statistics’ AN+BS Supertable C2 at April 2002.
b  Sourced from the Australian Bureau of Statistics’ ABS 3201.0 at June 2000.

Table 4: Sick and family carer leave summary

Leave Average number of days per full-time 
equivalent employee

1999–2000   2000–01   2001–02
Sick 4.20 5.15 5.14
Family carer 0.17 0.04 0.06
Total 4.37 5.19 5.20

Table 5: Workforce diversity

Total 
employees

Female 
employees

Percentage 
of 
employees 
who are 
female

Number of 
employees 
identifying 
as 
indigenous

Number of 
employees 
with a 
permanent 
disability

Number of 
employees 
accessing 
family 
related 
workplace 
policies

Executives 30 2 0.1 — — —
Senior managersa 163 17 1.2 — — 1
Middle managersb 399 119 8.3 — — 11
First line 
supervisorsc 432 190 13.3 1 — 3

Others 409 242 16.9 1 3 1
Total 1433 570 39.8 2 3 16

a  Senior managers includes all ASO7 and ASO8 and equivalent.
b  Middle managers include ASO5 and ASO6 and equivalent.
c  First line supervisors include ASO3 and ASO4 and equivalent.

Family friendly workplace policies
A flexible work practices policy has been operating in PIRSA since December 1999. The 
policy supports a range of work arrangements designed to assist people to balance work 
and personal life and the agency to achieve high performing work groups. The use of 
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purchased leave and compressed weeks, introduced in December, are recorded in Table 5. 
Formal monitoring and evaluation processes were included as part of the implementation 
process. Other family related workplace options included part-time, job share, flexi-
time and home-based work. Monitoring and evaluation of these arrangements are the 
responsibility of the individual business groups. However, PIRSA plans to undertake a staff 
survey which will provide a more comprehensive evaluation of the full range of flexible 
work practices available.

Cultural and linguistic diversity
PIRSA participated in the Office for the Commissioner for Public Employment’s 
workforce diversity study of Public Sector Management Act employees. The results are 
not yet available and as no other survey was carried out no information can be provided on 
cultural and linguistic diversity. It is anticipated that this information will be collected in 
2003 as part of the new human resource management system, CHRIS (Complete Human 
Resource Information System), and associated web-enabled kiosk.

Equal employment opportunity programs
Information relating to the established equal 
employment opportunity programs including the 
recruitment of people with disabilities, Aborigines 
and youth is to be included on the PIRSA intranet 
and in recruitment and selection workshops. Sixteen 
trainees were recruited during the year under the 
youth traineeship scheme (Table 6).

Disability Action Plan
Outcome 1: portfolios and their agencies ensure 
accessibility to their services to people with disabilities — Access and service delivery 
issues for disabled people will be considered as part of a future property and facilities 
review.

Outcome 2: portfolios and their agencies ensure information about their services and 
programs is inclusive of people with disabilities.

Outcome 3: portfolios and their agencies deliver advice or services to people with 
disabilities with awareness and understanding of issues affecting people with disabilities.

Outcome 4: portfolios and their agencies provide opportunities for consultation with 
people with disabilities in decision-making processes regarding service delivery in 
the implementation of complaints and grievance mechanisms. — The interests of all 
stakeholder groups, including people with a disability, are considered by all PIRSA groups 
that develop, communicate and extend services to the community.

Outcome 5: each portfolio Chief Executive will ensure that their portfolio has met the 
requirements of the Disability Discrimination Act 1992 and the Equal Opportunity Act 
1984. — The PIRSA website has been reviewed and updated to ensure information 
provided is consistent with and supportive of the aims and principles of these Acts. Recent 
training provided on recruitment and selection has incorporated relevant information and 
discussion on equitable access to employment opportunities.

Managed performance
All PIRSA groups made progress towards the implementation of performance development 
systems; 42 per cent of employees had individual performance development plans when 
last surveyed. An interactive online learning package for developing performance is 
being drafted. A policy framework for developing and managing performance in PIRSA 

Table 6:  Persons employed 
through equal employment 
opportunity programs 2001–02

Youth training 
scheme 16 

Aboriginal 
employment —

Disability 
employment —

Total 16
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has been drafted and is under consultation. The ‘results’ and the ‘capabilities’ of position 
descriptions are being used increasingly to underpin performance development processes. 

Planned human resource development (including leadership 
management)
PIRSA’s Strategic Plan recognises that developing the capabilities and expertise of its 
people is a critical strategic priority if it is to continue to be a respected, credible and 
successful organisation capable of realising its strategic business outcomes. Four leadership 
development opportunities were offered and were supported by the PIRSA Forums for 
Managers initiative.

The PIRSA Leadership for the Future program was developed to strengthen participants’ 
confidence and capacity to be leaders and managers in the twenty-first century; 44 staff 
participated in the three programs offered. A module, ‘Relationship building, political 
nous and emotional intelligence’ aims to develop and deliver these capabilities; 30 staff 
participated in the two modules offered. Fifteen women attended the Women in Leadership 
program and 22 staff attended the Office for the Commissioner for Public Employment’s 
LeadershipSA program.

In addition, 93 employees commenced an accredited training package in the during the 
year. The percentage of training expenditure relative to total employee remuneration costs 
was 2.53 per cent, an increase of 0.96 per cent since 2000–01. (The total remuneration was 
$84 964 851.13 (including salaries, wages and on-costs) and total training and development 
costs were $2 148 047.66.)

The Forum for Managers initiative provides an opportunity to generate new thinking and 
discussion and build collective understanding of the critical issues facing the agency. 
Issues included knowledge management, ecologically sustainable development and the 
triple bottom line, and building the collective wisdom of PIRSA. A group of younger staff 
collaborated to create, lead and facilitate the last forum for 2001, providing a perspective 
on the richness of knowledge in the organisation, and the need to pay careful attention to 
the handing on of wisdom throughout PIRSA. The issue of an aging workforce profile 
within PIRSA reinforces a continuing need for developing the people capacity within 
PIRSA.

Capabilities dictionary
A capability is the dynamic interplay of knowledge, understanding, skills, values, attitudes 
and interests that an employee demonstrates in their ability to achieve their goals. The 
PIRSA capabilities dictionary covers the diverse range of capabilities required for 
successful performance in PIRSA positions. The dictionary, jointly developed with TMP 
International, includes 64 capability areas; each capability with four levels and associated 
behaviours. An example follows.

Capability: influencing.

Capability area: influencing others towards a desired way of thinking.

Capability level 2: ‘uses research and networks to develop and employ different strategies 
to influence agenda and outcomes in area of responsibility’.

Example behaviour: ‘presents point of view in a clear concise and logical manner’.

Key performance indicators
Key performance indicators for human resource development (including leadership 
management) are summarised in Table 7 for Public Sector Management Act employees
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Table 7: Key performance indicators for human resource development, Public Sector Management Act employees

Percentage of 
employees with 
an individual 
development plan 
which was either 
implemented or 
revised during the 
last 12 months

Percentage of training 
expenditure relative 
to total remuneration 
costs

Number of employees 
enrolled since 1 July 
in a qualification (or a 
unit from an accredited 
training packager 
qualification)

Agency investment 
in leadership 
and management 
development (2001–02 
benchmark of 2 per 
cent determined by 
Senior Management 
Council)

Financial year ending 30 June
’00 ’01 ’02 ’03a ’00 ’01 ’02 ’03a ’00 ’01 ’02 ’03 ’00 ’01 ’02 ’03

Total 42 42 42 50 2.2 1.57 2.53b 2.4 — — 93 30 — 0.82 1.18c 2.0
a Target.
b The total remuneration was $84 964 851.13 (including salaries, wages and on-costs) and total training and development costs 

were $2 148 047.66.
c The total remuneration was $84 964 851.13 (including salaries, wages and on-costs) and leadership and management 

development costs were $1 000 000.

Quality staffing and protection of merit and equity
A new approach to recruitment and selection has been developed, built around a results and 
capabilities based approach to writing position descriptions and selecting for demonstrated 
individual capabilities. The new system uses the capabilities dictionary developed by 
PIRSA and has been supported by an updated position classification and remuneration 
policy.

The agency has introduced an introduction day for all new employees to provide them 
with an understanding of the various functional activities of PIRSA’s business units and 
the role it plays in delivering government policy and services. Information is provided on 
conditions of employment, code of conduct and occupational health safety and welfare 
(OHS&W). Participant evaluation indicates the day is successful.

Recruitment and selection workshops
A two-day training and development workshop has been developed to support 
implementation of the results and capabilities based approach to recruitment. Merit 
and equity form an integral part of the workshop and their principles are outlined on 
the intranet. A total of 21 programs have been delivered in 2001–02, catering to 261 
participants, predominantly at the middle management classification levels. Participant 
evaluation has highlighted that capabilities-based approach provides a systematic and clear 
process that can bring more objectivity and accountability into recruitment and selection.

Responsive and safe employment conditions
PIRSA achieved a significant improvement in OHS&W performance in 2001–02. For 
example the injury frequency rate for new lost-time injury or disease for each million hours 
worked has decreased significantly over the past year from 12.84 to 8.28. The improved 
performance represents a positive return for the commitment given to OHS&W.

A revised model and approach to the provision of Employee Assistance Program (EAP) 
services within PIRSA received executive endorsement. An acquisition process has 
been implemented to identify preferred providers of EAP counselling services and 
recommendations are being finalised. A draft EAP policy and material for the intranet are 
also under development. Flexible workplace practices are discussed above (see Family 
friendly workplace policies).
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OHS&W Strategic Plan
A new OHS&W Strategic Plan (2002–04) which takes a fresh approach to the planning, 
implementation and evaluation of OHS&W strategies was endorsed by the PIRSA 
Executive. The plan was developed from a critical review and analysis of performance 
data, qualitative information taken from a best-practice grant review, a staff survey and 
consultation with staff. Effort is focused on the areas that make a difference and local 
innovation is encouraged. It is supported with a balanced scorecard of performance 
measures that includes an increased emphasis on employee well being.

Continuous improvement
A planned approach to the review and evaluation of human resource and OHS&W policies 
has been developed. The PIRSA Corporate intranet system is continuously updated to 
ensure that managers and staff have access to relevant information.

PIRSA’s Human Resource Business Support Forums are on learning and skill building and 
include attendees from the corporate Human Resources group and other agency human 
resource practitioners. The forums aim to ensure that practices are consistent across the 
agency, that practitioners have the capabilities to deliver high-quality services and practices 
and also provides an opportunity to share knowledge and information, keep abreast and 
aware of changes and new initiatives and undertake targeted training as required.

Information relating to employment conditions and contracts was presented at the Human 
Resource Business Support Forums with particular emphasis focused on Public Sector 
Management Act Determination 2. Service level agreements between corporate Human 
Resources and other business groups have been established to ensure that service quality is 
continuously reviewed.

Preparations are under way for the introduction of the complete human resource 
information system, CHRIS, as part of a new human resource management system 
throughout the South Australian Government. The new system will provide PIRSA with 
the ability to manage human resources through improvements in business practices with a 
focus on eBusiness solutions, facilitate the adoption of best practice and provide more cost 
effective delivery of services.

TARGETS FOR 2002–03
• Implement the new human resource management system.

• Collect information on workplace cultural and linguistic diversity.

• Begin an internal review of PIRSA property and facilities.

• Create and implement a framework for leadership and management development.

• Finalise and test the online learning package for developing performance.

• Evaluate the effectiveness of performance development systems.

• Continue to offer training in capabilities-based recruitment and selection processes 
and performance development.

• Further develop PIRSA’s introduction day for new employees using feedback from 
participants.

• Review and evaluate human resource and OHS&W policies.
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Strategic priority 11 — WE MANAGE RESULTS — we 
manage our resources well; we provide leadership; our 
business processes are effective and efficient
Business services
A new framework to streamline procurement processes while upholding integrity and 
probity was developed. It is supported by a strategy to raise awareness and competency of 
people involved in procurement.

A state-wide review of PIRSA’s properties and facilities has resulted in the establishment 
of a master plan to guide property and facilities decisions. A three-year action plan is being 
developed to ensure that PIRSA is well positioned to strategically manage its property and 
facilities resources in line with present and emerging service delivery requirements.

Videoconferencing equipment has been installed within meeting rooms at 25 and 101 
Grenfell Street, Adelaide, to increase communication functionality and business delivery.

An Energy Management Steering Group was established to implement the Cabinet 
approved Energy Efficiency Action Plan. A number of energy audits were conducted 
in November at major PIRSA sites and minor works commenced in June following 
recommendations made in the audits. A communication strategy has been developed to 
raise staff awareness on energy management. Energy consumption data for 2000–01 was 
collected and systems and processes were investigated to record future data to assist PIRSA 
in monitoring consumption savings and to prepare for full retail contestability in 2003. 
More details are provided in Appendix 4.

Corporate strategy and policy
Corporate Strategy and Policy Branch operates six program areas to enhance the efficiency 
and effectiveness of PIRSA as an economic development agency. The branch supports 
PIRSA groups undertaking National Competition Policy (NCP) reviews of legislation 
administered by PIRSA and provides PIRSA Executive with monthly progress reports.

The Strategic Analysis and Prioritisation Program is assisting PIRSA to understand how 
its current mix of programs align with its strategic directions and contribute to state 
economic development. It also provides tools and methodologies to help managers identify 
and determine the impact on the state of possible alternative patterns of investment. The 
Monash Model is used to show managers the impacts of alternative programs on gross state 
product and on job creation.

Progress made by all sectors of the South Australian food industry in achieving the target 
of a $15 billion industry by 2010 is monitored by the Food Industry ScoreCard. Six 
regionally based food scorecards were developed. The scorecard also helps managers 
identify opportunities to enhance economic development, and provides them with 
accountability measures.

A major thrust has been to scope the potential benefits of structural adjustment of the 
resource base in South Australian primary industries to assist PIRSA in identifying 
opportunities for enhanced economic development; this work is in its preliminary stages.

A Balanced ScoreCard program provides managers with means of measuring the 
appropriateness and effectiveness of their programs. Task teams were established 
comprising staff from the operational PIRSA groups to develop and recommend 
performance measures for each of the PIRSA outcomes in the strategic plan. 
Recommendations to the executive in December formed the basis of ongoing work by the 
task teams, supported by Corporate Strategy and Policy, to further develop and implement 
outcomes performance measures for PIRSA.
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The second cycle of Improving PIRSA, the organisational self-assessment against the 
Australian Business Excellence Framework, was completed. Economics consultancy 
services were provided to managers to conduct analyses or to provide advice on economic 
or policy issues. The development of a volunteers policy for PIRSA was coordinated in 
line with whole-of-government policy settings for the use and recognition of volunteers.

Finance services
Restructure
The Financial Services unit was established in July as a result of restructuring of the 
Corporate Finance Branch. One of the major outcomes was the recognition that accounts 
payable processing staff needed to be performing at a higher level for the unit to achieve its 
objectives. This was addressed, resulting in an enhanced quality of work and establishment 
of a performance development process.

Taxation compliance
An audit of PIRSA’s goods and services tax (GST) compliance conducted by the Australian 
Taxation Office identified that there is a good understanding of the approach to GST 
administration by PIRSA and that based upon the risk matrix under the Cooperative 
Compliance Model, PIRSA is ranked with a sound level of compliance and low-moderate 
risk.

In October a review to gauge the level of fringe benefits tax compliance was conducted 
by independent tax specialists. The review contributed to the establishment of an action 
plan which addresses the roles of operational areas of PIRSA and Financial Services in 
continuously improving compliance and minimising tax liability. A taxation committee has 
been established to monitor and advise on taxation management issues in recognition of 
the importance of managing taxation matters.

Financial systems
Progress was made in establishing a technical environment and processes enabling PIRSA 
customers to conduct electronic transactions over the internet. In addition to this, a new 
electronic cash receipting system was implemented in Financial Services and electronic 
interfaces are being established with subsidiary receipting systems.

Significant improvements were implemented to ensure data integrity. This included 
monthly reconciliation schedules and analysis of particular types of expenditures and 
revenues. Accrual based information at the agency level is now recorded in the general 
ledger on a monthly basis.

A business case has been developed to replace the current web-based financial reporting 
system with a superior system which will enable finance managers throughout PIRSA to 
run non-standard financial reports and analysis from their workstation.

Budget strategy
The Budget Strategy unit was established in July as a result of the restructuring of the 
Corporate Finance Branch. During the year staff were appointed to provide internal 
financial management services to the business groups of PIRSA and to the administered 
offices such as the Office of Regional Development and BioInnovation SA.

The unit provided increased support to the budget cycle, supported internal finance 
committees (e.g. a Biosecurity Finance Committee was established), conducted financial 
assessments (e.g. business cases and financial statements), developed an internal 
commercial finance framework for use in business groups and built a new corporate 
costing model.
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Business improvement
The Business Improvement unit was established in January to identify and facilitate the 
implementation of continuous improvement initiatives that result in improved business 
practices and responsive customer focused services in finance and business services 
functions. Key projects and initiatives are the Graduate Development program, evaluation 
of the implementation of the Financial Management Framework, eRevenue for Financial 
Services, and measuring results for the business units.

Risk management and audit
The Risk Management and Audit unit is structured to provide a more strategic approach to 
risk management which is being integrated within the agency’s quality management and 
strategic planning framework. Operational responsibility for identifying and managing 
risks resides with the business groups.

Risk management approach
PIRSA adopts a risk management framework and reporting system to ensure that whole-
of-agency risks and opportunities are identified, analysed and appropriate management 
strategies implemented. This risk management approach assists PIRSA mitigate the 
potential risks and maximise the opportunities in achieving its strategic and operational 
objectives. The deployment of this approach is through the PIRRISK risk management 
system.

The key focus of PIRRISK is to assist management and staff to make informed decisions, 
encourage knowledge sharing and develop a formal risk management plan. This enables 
groups to understand the risks and opportunities PIRSA faces in an environment of 
constant change. Food and Fibre, Office of Minerals and Energy Resources, SARDI 
and PIRSA Corporate have conducted workshops to develop ‘Risk profiles’ using this 
approach.

PIRSA Risk and Audit Committee
The PIRSA Risk and Audit Committee was established in April 2001 and members include 
PIRSA senior managers, an independent committee member and representatives from 
the Auditor General’s Department in an observer role. The committee’s charter has been 
developed, accepted by the committee and approved by the Chief Executive.

TARGETS FOR 2002–03
• Implement new procurement processes.

• Expand the use of accrual information in the general ledger.

Information management — public relations and marketing
Services review
A review of services provided by PIRSA’s ‘Publishing Services’ and ‘Public Relations and 
Marketing’ units determined there were few synergies that could be amalgamated as a cost-
saving or efficiency measure.

TARGET FOR 2002–03
• Develop and implement a business plan for PIRSA Publishing Services with the aim 

of increasing quality business and heading towards full-cost recovery.

• Launch the energy management communication strategy.
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Strategic priority 12 — WE GROW AND HARNESS OUR 
KNOWLEDGE — our knowledge is a key business asset
Information management
The use and management of knowledge is an integral part of PIRSA’s business; the sharing 
of information and knowledge is seen an essential part of daily activities improving the 
agency and the quality of services provided. A whole-of-agency data, information and 
knowledge framework was approved by PIRSA Executive in June.

Following the successful pilot of a knowledge sharing tool (Knowledge Communities) the 
system has been upgraded in readiness for implementation across the agency. In addition 
several Human Resources group initiatives are facilitating the development of a knowledge 
sharing culture within PIRSA, including programs such as leadership development, 
mentoring, information and/or knowledge sharing forums, and position capabilities.

TARGETS FOR 2002–03
• Further develop eBusiness opportunities across PIRSA.

• Implement the information and knowledge framework and the Knowledge 
Communities system across PIRSA.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
Financial overview
Tables 8 to 10 and Figures 3 to 5 provide summaries of 
PIRSA’s statement of financial performance, statement of 
financial position and statement of cash flows that compare 
the budget for 2001–02 with the results for 2001–02 and 
2000–01. The detailed financial statements reflecting 
the actual results for 2001–02 are presented in Appendix 
8.Functions previously performed by the Sustainable 
Resources Group in PIRSA were transferred to the 
Department of Water, Land and Biodiversity Conservation 
(DWLBC) on 1 May 2002. For presentation purposes, 
the budget has been adjusted to reflect operations of these 
functions up to 30 April 2002.

Table 8 shows PIRSA had a deficit after restructuring of $3.3 
million for 2001–02 compared to the budget deficit of $20.7 
million.

Table 8: Summary statement of financial performance

Budget 
2001–02 

$’000

Actual 
2001–02 

$’000

Actual 
2000–01 

$’000
Ordinary expense 204 863 201 636 197 837

Ordinary revenues 67 312 85 091 73 836

Net cost of services 137 551 116 545 124 001

Revenues from government 116 874 115 564 113 850

Decrease in net assets resulting from ordinary activities before restructuring 20 677 981 10 151

Net expenditure from restructuring — 2 353 —

Decrease in net assets resulting from ordinary activities after restructuring 20 667 3 334 10 151

Figure 3: Comparison of PIRSA budget 
and actual statement of financial 
performance, 2001–02
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Ordinary expenses were $3.3 
million lower than budget, primarily 
due to delays in various programs 
associated with Rural Finance, 
whole-of-government systems 
implementations, industry funded 
programs, and the Farmed Seafood 
Initiative. Expenditure in respect 
of these programs will be incurred 
in 2002–03. Offsetting these lower 
expenditures were higher termination 
payments associated with targeted 
voluntary separation packages 
and higher costs associated with 

biosecurity from the extension of the Mediterranean Fruit Fly 
campaign and increased detection of Ovine Johne’s Disease 
(OJD) on Kangaroo Island.

Ordinary revenues were $17.8 million higher than budgeted 
due to higher grants and other revenue. Higher grants were 
received from the state for branched broomrape, OJD and 
the Government Radio Network. Industry grants were also 
higher in respect of various cooperative research centre 
schemes. Other revenue includes accrued revenue from 
DWLBC in respect of Loxton Irrigation Scheme expenses 
incurred by PIRSA post-transfer.Current assets were $23.6 
million higher than budgeted, primarily due to higher 
receivables in respect of the goods and services tax ($10.4 
million), higher trade accounts and a higher cash balance.

Non-current assets were lower than budgeted due to the delays in expenditure for 
rehabilitation of Brukunga Mine, upgrade of facilities at Coober Pedy, development of the 
PIRSA information management systems and the West Beach pipeline. The expenditure in 
relation to these projects will be deferred until 2002–03. In addition loan receivables were 
lower due to higher principal repayments from the rural sector.

Table 9: Summary statement of financial position

Budget 
2001–02 

$’000

Actual 
2001–02 

$’000

Actual 
2000–01 

$’000
Current assets 52 212 75 790 76 801
Non-current assets 125 105 108 223 119 357
Total assets 177 317 184 013 196 158
Current liabilities 10 701 13 070 14 090
Non-current liabilities 41 343 33 971 41 762
Total liabilities 52 044 47 041 55 852
Net assets 125 273 136 972 140 306

Table 10: Summary statement of cash flows

Budget 
2001–02 

$’000

Actual 
2001–02 

$’000

Actual 
2000–01 

$’000

Cash flows from operating activities
 Payments (195 

048)
(215 
975)

(201 
492)

 Receipts 65 780 87 763 83 666
 Net cash flows from government 116 874 115 564 113 850
Net cash provided by operating activities (12 394) (12 648) (3 976)
Cash flows from investing and financing activities
 Payments (16 557) (4 765) (4 915)
 Receipts 7 651 7 190 7 638
 Repayment of borrowings (3 962) (5 129) (4 796)
Net cash used in investing and borrowing activities (12 868) (2 704) (2 073)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash held (25 262) (15 352) (6 049)
Cash at 1 July 69 344 63 701 69 750
Cash at 30 June 44 082 48 349 63 701

Figure 4: Comparison of PIRSA budget and 
actual statement of financial position, 2001–02
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Current liabilities were $2.4 million higher than forecast as 
a result of an increase in creditors, accruals and employee 
entitlements. Non-current liabilities were $7.4 million lower 
than forecast due to higher repayments of borrowings, and 
lower employee entitlements resulting from higher staff 
turnover than expected.Operating activities in the statement 
of cash flows are consistent with the results shown on the 
statement of financial performance except that the amounts 
vary in relation to accrual adjustments for both revenues and 
expenses. In addition receipts and payments in respect of the 
goods and services tax are included in the actual results on a 
gross basis but on a net basis in the budget. At 30 June 2002, 
PIRSA recognised a receivable from the Australian Taxation 
Office of $8 million for input tax credits not yet received.

Payments for investing activities were lower than budgeted due to timing delays in assets 
purchases mentioned above (rehabilitation of Brukunga Mine, upgrade of facilities at 
Coober Pedy, development of the PIRSA information management systems, West Beach 
pipeline).

Property, plant and equipment assets
PIRSA owns and manages property, plant and equipment 
assets valued at $91 million, which mainly consist of a 
number of large research centres across the state. Figure 
6` illustrates that the agency’s largest investment is in 
property assets at 83 per cent.

PIRSA has an ongoing need for investment in building, 
equipment and information technology to produce its 
agreed service delivery outcomes. Assets are acquired 
using best-practice procurement strategies and policies 
developed by an in-house accredited purchasing unit.

In 2001–02 the total value of property, plant and equipment 
decreased by 4.3 per cent from $95 million in 2000–01. 
This was mainly due to the transfer of property, plant 
and equipment to the Department of Water, Land and 
Biodiversity Conservation.

Major projects
Biosecurity
PIRSA has a core role in responding to a wide range of incidents resulting from pest and 
disease incursions which threaten production systems and market access. To this end the 
Biosecurity Fund provides financial support in the event of outbreaks of fruit fly, plague 
locusts and other biological threats. Benefits gained by biosecurity activities for plant and 
animal industries are substantial compared to the cost of incident response.

Table 11 shows a comparison in biosecurity expenditures over the last four financial years. 
There has been a marked increase in the severity and frequency of incidents in recent years, 
particularly with respect to fruit fly, OJD, branched broomrape and grasshopper/locust 
plagues. Expenditure relating to biosecurity incidents during 2001–02 was less than in 
2000–01, due principally to the major plague locust campaign of 2000–01 which cost in 
excess of $6.6 million.

Figure 5: Comparison of PIRSA budget and 
actual statement of cash flows, 2001–02

Figure 6: Property, plant and equipment 
at 30 June 2002
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Notwithstanding this, there were major expenditures during the year, the most significant 
being responses to fruit fly outbreaks at a cost in excess of $3 million. Major components 
relate to the 2000–01 Mediterranean Fruit Fly outbreak extending into the current reporting 
year, as well as responses to numerous new outbreaks which have been controlled with 
the release of sterile flies. The release of sterile flies represents a significant change in 
the means of combating Mediterranean Fruit Fly outbreaks and is in direct response to 
community concerns over the use of chemical spraying. Other significant expenditures 
related to addressing OJD outbreaks as well as the continuation of the Branched Broomrape 
Containment Program.

FarmBis II
The Commonwealth and state funded Farm Business Improvement Program (FarmBis II) 
commenced on 1 July 2001 and is administered by Rural Finance and Development. It aims 
to increase profitability, competitiveness and sustainability of farm business enterprises 
through farmer participation in business management training. During 2001–02 the program 
incurred expenditure of $3.3 million in grants and administration costs.

Table 11: Biosecurity expenditure

1998–99 1999–2000 2000–01 2001–02
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Fruit fly 1 322 1 659 3 123 3 039
OJD 1 144 765 2 603 2 987
Branched broomrape 20 669 1 236 2 100
Grasshopper/locust 2 040 1 980 6 627 40
Other 1 456 223 292 622
Total 5 982 5 296 13 881 8 788

Loxton Irrigation District Rehabilitation
Loxton Irrigation District Rehabilitation is a continuing program of rehabilitation of the 
existing irrigation distribution infrastructure and upgrading of pumps. The estimated 
project cost is $36.4 million over four years, with the state and Loxton growers’ share 
estimated to be $22 million. Expenditure incurred on the project from 1 July 2001 to 
30 April 2002 was $6.8 million. On 1 May 2002 responsibility for the program was 
transferred to DWLBC.

TEISA
In 1998, the South Australian Government committed $10 million, to be spent over the 
years 1998–2002, on a phased, regional exploration strategy for minerals, petroleum and 
groundwater, and specifically large-scale geoscientific data acquisition. This strategy, 
known as the Targeted Exploration Initiative South Australia (TEISA), has provided new, 
low-cost, pre-competitive exploration data aimed at accelerating the discovery of new 
resources throughout South Australia. Expenditure of $1.2 million was incurred during the 
year. Despite an Australia-wide downturn in exploration activity, there has been an increase 
in exploration licences granted in TEISA targeted areas in the first four years, representing 
a positive indicator of the effectiveness of TEISA.

Account payment performance
Treasurer’s Instruction 11 (Public Finance and Audit Act 1987) requires all undisputed 
accounts to be paid within 30 days of the date of the invoice or claim unless there is a 
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Table 12: Account payment performance

Particulars Accounts paid Amount paid
Number % $’000 %

Paid by the due date 53 233 80 442 606 87
Paid within 30 days or less from the due date 10 661 16  57 452  11
Paid more than 30 days from the due date  2 946  4   7 051  1

Contracting out arrangements
PIRSA did not enter into any contractual arrangements during 2001–02 where the total 
value of the contract exceeded $4 million and the contract continued beyond one year.

discount or a written agreement between the agency and the creditor. As indicated in Table 
12, PIRSA paid 80 per cent of all invoices in 2001–02 on time. This compares with 81 per 
cent of all invoices paid on time in 2000–01. The agency is monitoring performance on a 
monthly basis and targeting areas with a high level of invoices paid over 30 days through 
increased awareness and education.
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Office of Regional
Development’s role

Function
The Office of Regional Development was established following the recommendations 
of the Regional Development Task Force and has completed its third year of operation. 
The office aims to encourage a whole-of-government approach to the development and 
implementation of policy and services affecting the rural and regional communities of 
South Australia. The office achieves this by advising the Minister for Regional Affairs on 
strategic issues related to regional development; advocating for regions at an inter-agency 
level; and improving regional development outcomes by facilitating effective relationships 
and identifying opportunities for partnerships between governments, communities and 
business.

Organisation
The office consists of a small team of skilled professionals reporting directly to, and 
advising, the Minister for Regional Affairs. 

PIRSA provided administrative support to the Office of Regional Development including 
human resources, financial and business services, and information management. Statutory 
annual reporting requirements regarding employment and financial issues are incorporated 
under PIRSA.

Ministerial responsibilities
Legislation
There is no legislation committed to the Minister for Regional Affairs.

Administered items and authorities
There are no statutory authorities (boards, committees or trusts) or administered items 
within the minister’s area of responsibility.

Governance
The governance arrangements recommended by the Regional Development Task Force 
(1999) continued to operate and consist of:

• Minister for Regional Affairs.

• Office of Regional Development reporting to the Minister for Regional Affairs.

• Regional Development Council — advising on issues and priorities of regional 
development to the government.

• Regional Development Issues Group — portfolio agency representatives appointed 
by the relevant ministers. Membership also included the Executive Officer Regional 
Development South Australia and the Chief Executive Local Government Association. 
Its role is to provide leadership and coordination within the public sector on regional 
issues.
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Strategic context
Goals
The goals of the office were developed from the recommendations of the Regional 
Development Task Force and centre around the provision of strategic advice and 
facilitation of a whole-of-government approach to major issues impacting on regions and 
are to:

• Develop, coordinate and integrate regional strategies and plans, using a whole-of-
government and whole-of-state approach.

• Improve regional infrastructure.

• Significantly enhance capacity of regional communities to embrace change and 
achieve their development goals.

• Enhance regional services that are tailored to the specific requirements of regional 
communities.

• A positive image for regional communities.

• Foster wealth and employment opportunities in regional areas.

• Provide a South Australian focus for promoting partnerships to support community 
economic development.

Primary focus
The office has focused its efforts on improving the level of integration and coordination 
within the public sector to ensure the best investment of public sector resources towards 
strengthening regional communities. The key activities have been:

• Providing executive support to the Regional Development Council, its working 
groups, and the Regional Development Issues Group.

• Facilitating whole-of-government and whole-of-state discussion regarding regional 
development.

• Building partnerships and alliances to promote and encourage regional development.

• Being a voice in government for regional communities.

• Providing best-practice examples of how communities have undergone economic 
transformation.

• Building the capacity of communities.

• Encouraging government, business and the community to work together.

• Encouraging development of community leadership.
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Performance review

Highlights
• The second Community Builders program was successfully conducted in four regional 

cluster groups and commenced in another four. (p. 135)

• Building Positive Rural Futures was launched to promote best practice in community 
economic development in regional South Australia. (p. 135)

• The pilot Regional Coordinators program proved a successful basis for the 
development of a regional facilitation framework to be implemented by government in 
six regions. (p. 134)

• A model for managing information about infrastructure priorities across a wide range 
of government planning processes has been developed. (p. 134)

Higher level policy support
Policy advice
The office provided policy advice to the Minister for Regional Development (former 
government), and subsequently, the Minister for Regional Affairs. This included 
preparation and review of Cabinet submissions, information for media releases and the 
development of policy statements.

Regional Development Council
The office provided executive support to the Regional Development Council, which met 
on two occasions. Support has also been given to the working groups of the council in 
establishing work plans and coordinating input to the meetings.

Inter-governmental relations
The office has continued to work with Commonwealth, state and local government 
counterparts as a member of the Standing Committee on Regional Development for the 
Ministerial Council for Regional Development.

The standing committee has extended its work through five working groups:

• regional infrastructure

• attraction and retention of professional and other staff

• regional business development

• research and evaluation framework

• indigenous matters.

Whole-of-government approach to regional development
The office has a key role in facilitating and encouraging a whole-of-government 
approach to responding to and working with regions to manage issues impacting on their 
development.



132 PIRSA Annual Report 2001–02 PIRSA Annual Report 2001–02 133

Regional Development Issues Group
Executive support was provided to the Regional Development Issues Group. The key focus 
of the group’s work and main areas of outcome were:

• regional coordination

• workforce accommodation

• community leadership development

• regional development investment projects

• regional employment.

Cross-government initiatives
Working parties
The work of the Office of Rural Development in encouraging and contributing to a whole-
of-government approach to regional development needs and issues has involved it in a 
wide range of cross-agency working parties and committees. These include contributions 
to:

• State–Local Government Partnerships program

• Upper Spencer Gulf Common Purpose Group

• Regional Workforce Accommodations Study Steering Group

• Cross-Government Group on Regional Workforce Accommodation Shortages

• Regional Infrastructure Strategy Task Team

• Regional Freight Strategy Steering Group

• Wine Industry Infrastructure Task Force

• Vocational Employment and Training State Reference Group

• State Reference Group — Networking the Nation

• Rural Transaction Centre applications.

Attracting regional investment
The Inter-governmental Regional Development Taskforce (involving state, Commonwealth 
and local government) is working on finding methods that the spheres of government can 
work collaboratively on to overcome impediments to investment attraction in regional 
areas. The office has worked with Invest Australia in providing comments and feedback on 
a ‘do-it-yourself’ guide to preparing an investment profile for a region and/or community.

Regional profiles
Work has continued as part of a cross-government working group assisting in the 
preparation of regional profiles for the new planning and development regions. These 
snapshots have been prepared to provide:

• socio-economic indicators of regions; and are expected to be a valuable tool to 
provide information to potential investors, visitors and in the preparation of funding 
submissions

• a source document for the updating of regional action plans.

Planning and infrastructure
Regional workforce accommodation
Shortages of workforce accommodation in the upper South East and Murraylands have 
been outlined in a regional workforce accommodation solutions study commissioned by 
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the Office of Regional Development. The office worked in partnership with the Limestone 
Coast and Murraylands Regional Development Boards to establish local workforce 
accommodation working groups to progress local and regional solutions to fill the 
accommodation gap.

Regional infrastructure analysis
The office continued to work on infrastructure needs and planning as key issues impacting 
on the development of regions. Building on the gap survey conducted last year, the office 
facilitated the establishment of a working party to develop coordinated infrastructure 
planning information, resulting in consultation across regions and agencies to identify 
regional priorities and reconcile these against the planning and budgets of infrastructure 
providers.

Regional Infrastructure Fund
The office continued to assist the Department of Industry and Trade with assessment of 
applications under the Regional Infrastructure Fund.

Streamlining planning regions
The office continued to participate in the process, coordinated by Planning SA, to develop 
planning regions that best reflect regional interests. These regional boundaries are being 
used in the revision of the Planning strategy for regional South Australia, a major planning 
document for the state.

Telecommunications
Telecommunication services such as telecentres, mobile phone coverage, broadband and 
access to government services were advocated by the Office of Regional Development 
for regions in such forums as: Networking the Nation, Service SA, Information Economy 
Policy Office and an Outback Areas Telecommunications Advisory Group.

Coordinated and accessible information
Regional Funding and Grants Register
The Regional Funding and Grants Register website <www.grants.ord.sa.gov.au> is 
designed to be a single repository of grant and funding information. The site contains over 
500 local, state, Commonwealth and philanthropic grants, awards and scholarships. There 
is also generic information on how to write and prepare a funding submission, as well as 
information to assist business when considering debt or equity finance options.

The site now includes a list of people or organisations in rural and regional South Australia 
who have some experience in preparing funding submissions, so that users are able 
to identify the appropriate grant along with the closest resource to them to assist in its 
preparation. The site receives, on average, 50 000 hits per month.

Improved coordination of government
Regional Coordination — Riverland Trial
Evaluation of the 2000–01 Riverland Trial, aimed at achieving a more coordinated 
government presence in regions, concluded that it was successful and that the model 
brought added value to government activity in regions. The model was referred to the 
Senior Management Council, who have decided that it will be implemented in six regions 
across the state.

www.grants.ord.sa.gov.au
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Consultation guide and information
The office is developing a guide to regional consultation to assist agencies with 
consultation and impact assessment in regional areas. Appropriate training and a 
consultation register are planned to support this guide and will be useful tools for any 
regional coordination initiative.

Strengthening communities
Building sustainable communities
Building sustainable communities: a resource kit was released in May. It is an easy-to-use 
guide for regional and rural communities, providing information on a range of successful 
South Australian projects, events and forums that have contributed to regional renewal 
and revitalisation. The kit also outlines the processes that need to be considered as part of 
community renewal planning and provides tools that can be adapted to local situations.

Building Positive Rural Futures
Building Positive Rural Futures, a new program announced by the Minister for Regional 
Affairs in April aims to strengthen regional communities and develop their capacity to 
find local solutions to local concerns. It is planned as a 12-month integrated program 
through which regional South Australian study tours are supported by practical, issue-
based learning forums and a range of resources. These aim to support participants and their 
communities learn about local examples of best practice and advance ongoing innovation 
in community economic development.

A study tour was conducted with 27 participants from 10 regions in South Australia, 
visiting ventures and programs in the Adelaide Hills, Fleurieu Peninsula, Limestone Coast, 
Murraylands and Riverland regions. The tour concluded with participants joining in a 
workshop at Loxton entitled, ‘Keeping young people in your community’. The project 
was a valuable experience in cross-agency cooperation and partners included the South 
Australian Tourism Commission, Country Arts South Australia, PIRSA and the Council of 
Loxton Waikerie District.

International best practice
The office continued to collect information and contacts about the community to learn 
from best-practice examples throughout Australia and overseas. A study tour conducted by 
the office, offering learning and contacts in small town renewal and community economic 
development in Canada, attracted some 20 people from across regional South Australia. 
Feedback provided strong support for the success and worth of the experience.

Community Builders
The Community Builders program was run in the Mid North, Yorke Peninsula, Riverland 
and Kangaroo Island regions, involving 28 regional towns, with some 90 people 
directly involved. The 2002 program was rated as highly successful in developing 
cluster awareness and collaboration, in achieving community engagement, in achieving 
community betterment outcomes and in developing ‘grass roots’ community leadership.

Rural community foundations
The office has actively increased awareness of the benefits of rural community foundations 
and the role they can play in community economic development. The first community 
foundation in South Australia was established the Barossa Valley with the assistance of the 
Office of Regional Affairs.
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Regional promotion
Publications
A program of regional development inserts in country newspapers continued. Up to 2000 
copies each of the quarterly Regional Issues newsletter were distributed to state and 
regional organisations informing readers of the activities and outcomes of the Regional 
Development Issues Group.

SA Great Regional Awards
The office continued to support the SA Great Regional Awards with funding, promotion 
and direct participation.
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The year ahead

The year ahead will see the establishment of the new Office of Regional Affairs bringing 
together the Office of Regional Development and Regional Business Services (Department 
of Industry and Trade), within the new Office of Economic Development. The Office of 
Regional Affairs will have a direct reporting relationship to the Minister for Regional 
Affairs.

The new Office of Regional Affairs will be the principal point of liaison between each of 
South Australia’s 14 regional development boards and the state government, and will play 
a key role in the agency supporting the Economic Development Board. It will have a major 
role in:

• Delivering a coordinated, integrated service using the combined resources of 
government to provide a single point of contact for regional South Australians.

• Providing support and advice to the Minister for Regional Affairs.

• Providing a strategic focus within government and the Economic Development Board 
for the identification and coordination of issues relevant to regions.

• Providing liaison across government agencies, as well as facilitating a whole-of-
community approach by working with local communities in building social capital.





Appendixes
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 APPENDIX 1 PIRSA MINISTERIAL 
RESPONSIBILITIES
Legislation
The principal legislation for which PIRSA has administrative responsibility for through the 
Minister for Agriculture, Food and Fisheries, Minister for Mineral Resources Development 
and Minister for Energy is listed below. Many of these Acts are supported by Regulations, 
Notices and Indentures or Directions in some instances.

Food and Fibre
Agricultural Industries
Barley Marketing Act 1993
Biological Control Act 1986
Branding of Pigs Act 1964
Brands Act 1933
Citrus Industry Act 1991
Dairy Industry Act 1992
Deer Keepers Act 1987
Dried Fruits Act 1993
Fruit and Plant Protection Act 1992
Impounding Act 1920
Livestock Act 1997
Meat Hygiene Act 1994
Noxious Insects Act 1934
Phylloxera and Grape Industry Act 1995
Poultry Meat Industry Act 1969
Primary Industry Funding Schemes Act 1998
Seeds Act 1979
South Australian Meat Corporation Act 1936
South Australian Meat Corporation (Sale of Assets) Act 1996
Swine Compensation Act 1936
Veterinary Surgeons Act 1985
Wheat Marketing Act 1989
Wine Grapes Industry Act 1991

Fisheries
Fisheries (Gulf St. Vincent Prawn Fishery Rationalisation) Act 1987
Fisheries (Southern Zone Rock Lobster Fishery Rationalisation) Act 1987
Fisheries Act 1982

Aquaculture
Aquaculture Act 2001

Sustainable Resources
Agricultural and Veterinary Chemicals (South Australia) Act 1994
Agricultural Chemicals Act 1955
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Stock Foods Act 1941
Stock Medicines Act 1939

Office of Minerals and Energy Resources
Mineral Resources
Broken Hill Proprietary Company’s Indenture Act 1937
Broken Hill Proprietary Company’s Steel Works Indenture Act 1958
Mines and Works Inspection Act 1920
Mining Act 1971
Offshore Minerals Act 2000
Opal Mining Act 1995
Roxby Downs (Indenture Ratification) Act 1982

Petroleum
Cooper Basin (Ratification) Act 1975
Petroleum Act 2000
Petroleum (Submerged Lands) Act 1982
Santos Limited (Regulation of Shareholdings) Act 1989

Energy SA
Gas Pipelines Access (South Australia) Act 1997
Natural Gas (Interim Supply) Act 1985
Natural Gas Pipelines Access Act 1995
Petroleum Products Subsidy Act 1965
Stony Point (Liquids Project) Ratification Act 1981

Office of the Technical Regulator
Electricity Act 1996 (parts of this Act are administered by the Treasurer)
Electrical Products Act 2000
Gas Act 1997

Natural Gas Authority of South Australia
Natural Gas Authority Act 1967

PIRSA Corporate
Primary Producers Emergency Assistance Act 1967
Rural Industry Adjustment and Development Act 1985

Other Acts
In addition PIRSA has limited administrative functions under the following Acts that are 
committed to other ministers.
Electricity Act 1996
Fisheries Act 1995 (Vic.)
Fisheries Management Act 1994 (NSW)
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Fisheries Management Act 1991 (Cwlth)
Fish Resources Management Act 1994 (WA)
Harbours and Navigation Act 1993
Historic Shipwrecks Act 1976 (Cwlth)
Historic Shipwrecks Act 1981
National Parks and Wildlife Act 1972
Petroleum Products Regulation Act 1995
Petroleum (Submerged Lands) Act 1967 (Cwlth)

Legislative changes
Legislative changes are summarised below and discussed in detail under ‘Performance 
review, strategic priority 4’.

New or amended legislation
The Aquaculture Act and Offshore Minerals Act 2000 came into operation. Changes were 
made to the Stock Foods Act.

Reviews of legislation
PIRSA continued to review many of the Acts, particularly with respect to National 
Competition Policy (NCP) principles. NCP reviews were completed for the Citrus Industry 
Act, Wine Grapes Industry Act, Dried Fruits Act and Veterinary Surgeons Act, and 
continued for the Mining Act, Opal Mining Act and Mines and Works Inspection Act.

The Agricultural and Veterinary Products (Control of Use) Bill 2002 was introduced into 
Parliament and a draft Chicken Meat Industry Bill is in progress. The Mining Act and 
Mining (Miscellaneous) Amendment Bill are being revised.

Transferred legislation
The Animal and Plant Control (Agricultural Protection and Other Purposes) Act 1986, 
Dog Fence Act 1946, Pastoral Land Management and Conservation Act 1989 and Soil 
Conservation and Land Care Act 1989 were committed to the Minister for Environment 
and Conservation with the transfer of the Sustainable Resources Group to the Department 
of Water, Land and Biodiversity Conservation in May 2002.

Administered items
PIRSA administers but does not control the following funds on behalf of the 
Commonwealth Government, the Minister for Agriculture, Food and Fisheries, Minister 
for Mineral Resources Development, Minister for Energy and Minister for Regional 
Affairs. These funds are not recorded in the agency’s operating statement or statement of 
financial position as the agency does not have any discretion to deploy the resources for 
achievement of its own objectives.

Office of Regional Development
The Office of Regional Development reports directly to the Minister for Regional Affairs. 
PIRSA provides human resources, financial and business services, and information 
management support. The office’s performance review is reported in ‘Part two’ of this 
annual report.
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Bio Innovation SA
Bio Innovation SA is a government initiative to attract investment and biotechnology 
companies to South Australia to build on the world-class research and development already 
being undertaken by the three universities and government agencies such as SARDI. 
PIRSA provides human resources, financial and business services, and information 
management support.

Other
• Aquaculture Lease Rehabilitation Fund

• Barley Industry Levy

• Cattle Industry Fund

• Dairy Industry Fund

• Deerkeeper’s Compensation Fund

• Egg Industry Deregulation Fund

• Energy Management Task Force

• External Funds (Seed Levies; Anthracnose Compensation Fund)

• Extractive Areas Rehabilitation Fund

• Fisheries Research and Development Fund

• Gulf St Vincent Prawn Fishery Levy

• Ministers’ salaries and allowances

• Natural Disaster Relief Fund

• Natural Gas Authority of South Australia

• Natural Heritage Trust Fund

• SA Water — pricing subsidy for water and wastewater to country regions

• SAMCOR Funds administration

• Sheep Industry Fund (new)

• Soil Conservation and Landcare Fund

• Swine Compensation Fund

• Wheat Industry Levy

Authorities
Statutory
Statutory authorities associated with primary industries and resources and regional 
development and within the ministers’ areas of responsibility are listed below. PIRSA 
provides relevant advice and assistance to these. Asterisks indicate those bodies (agencies) 
which have their own staff and other resources.

• Apiary Advisory Group*

• Australian Barley Board*

• Board of Examiners for Mine Managers

• Cattle Advisory Group

• Citrus Board of South Australia*
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• Dairy Authority of South Australia*

• Deer Advisory Group

• Deer Compensation Fund Advisory Committee (to be decommissioned following 
repeal of the supporting legislation)

• Dried Fruits Board*

• fishery management committees (Abalone; Blue Crab; Inland Waters; Marine 
Scalefish; Northern Zone Rock Lobster; Southern Zone Rock Lobster; Spencer Gulf, 
West Coast and Gulf St Vincent Prawn)

• Goat Advisory Group

• Meat Hygiene Advisory Council

• Phylloxera and Grape Industry Board*

• Pig Advisory Group

• Sheep Advisory Group

• Swine Compensation Fund Advisory Committee (to be decommissioned following 
repeal of the supporting legislation)

• Veterinary Surgeons Board*

The animal and plant control boards* (43 throughout South Australia; 29 rural and 14 
urban), Animal and Plant Control Commission, district soil conservation boards (27 
throughout South Australia), Pastoral Board, Soil Conservation Appeal Tribunal and Soil 
Conservation Council now come under the responsibility of the Minister for Environment 
and Conservation following the transfer of the Sustainable Resources Group to the 
Department of Water, Land and Biodiversity Conservation.

Other
There are many non-statutory authorities on which PIRSA is represented. Significant 
ones are discussed under ‘Performance review’ (e.g. Premier’s Food Council, industry 
development boards and the Advisory Board of Agriculture).
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 APPENDIX 2 WORKFORCE STATISTICS
Public Sector Management Act employees

STREAM ONGOING CONTRACT LONG 
TERM

CONTRACT 
SHORT TERM

CASUAL TOTAL

M F Total M F Total M F Total M F Total M F Total

ADMINISTRATIVE

Administrative Services Officers

 Trainees — — — — — — 3 7 10 — — — 3 7 10

 ASO1 7 37 44 — 4 4 2 12 14 — 17 17 9 70 79

 ASO2 9 75 84 1 2 3 8 13 21 — 1 1 18 91 109

 ASO3 12 42 54 1 1 2 — 10 10 — — — 13 53 66

 ASO4 21 16 37 1 2 3 4 3 7 — 1 1 26 22 48

 ASO5 23 16 39 12 14 26 6 1 7 — — — 41 31 72

 ASO6 24 14 38 8 8 16 — 5 5 — — — 32 27 59

 ASO7 19 3 22 6 2 8 2 2 4 — — — 27 7 34

 ASO8 5 — 5 7 — 7 — — — — — — 12 — 12

Managers Administrative Services

 MAS2 3 1 4 — — — — — — — — — 3 1 4

 MAS3 14 2 16 2 1 3 2 — 2 — — — 18 3 21

Total 137 206 343 38 34 72 27 53 80 — 19 19 202 312 514

OPERATIONAL

 Trainees — — — — — — 2 1 3 — — — 2 1 3

 OPS1 7 2 9 7 1 8 5 2 7 2 — 2 21 5 26

 OPS2 10 3 13 19 8 27 3 2 5 3 1 4 35 14 49

 OPS3 42 11 53 29 3 32 3 1 4 — 1 1 74 16 90

 OPS4 20 1 21 3 — 3 — — — — — — 23 1 24

 OPS5 14 — 14 1 — 1 — — — — — — 15 — 15

 OPS6 1 — 1 — — — — — — — — — 1 — 1

Total 94 17 111 59 12 71 13 6 19 5 2 7 171 37 208

PROFESSIONAL

Professional Services Officers

 PSO1 19 18 37 38 36 74 15 6 21 1 2 3 73 62 135

 PSO2 61 23 84 21 21 42 11 3 14 1 — 1 94 47 141

 PSO3 60 7 67 21 4 25 2 — 2 — — — 83 11 94

 PSO4 48 2 50 4 — 4 1 — 1 — — — 53 2 55

 PSO5 15 1 16 6 — 6 — — — — — — 21 1 22

Managers Professional Services

 MPS1 1 — 1 — — — — — — — — — 1 — 1

 MPS2 3 — 3 — — — — — — — — — 3 — 3

 MPS3 5 2 7 4 — 4 — — — — — — 9 2 11

Total 212 53 265 94 61 155 29 9 38 2 2 4 337 125 462

TECHNICAL

 TGO0 3 2 5 1 5 6 1 5 6 — — — 7 17 24

 TGO1 8 8 16 2 1 3 2 1 3 2 5 7 20 26 46

 TGO2 10 8 18 — — — — — — — — — 13 10 23

 TGO3 8 2 10 — — — — — — — — — 8 3 11

 TGO4 4 — 4 — — — — — — — — — 4 — 4

 TGO5 1 — 1 — — — — — — — — — 1 — 1

Total 34 20 54 3 6 9 3 6 9 2 5 7 53 56 109
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STREAM ONGOING CONTRACT LONG 
TERM

CONTRACT 
SHORT TERM

CASUAL TOTAL

M F Total M F Total M F Total M F Total M F Total

EXECUTIVE

Executive Services

 EL1 1 — 1 — — — — — — — — — 1 — 1

 EL2 1 — 1 — — — — — — — — — 1 — 1

 Level A — — — 16 1 17 — — — — — — 16 1 17

 Level B — — — 3 1 4 — — — — — — 3 1 4

 Level C — — — 6 — 6 — — — — — — 6 — 6

 Level F — — — 1 — 1 — — — — — — 1 — 1

Total 2 — 2 26 2 28 — — — — — — 28 2 30

OTHER 

Legal Officers — — — — 1 1 — — — — — — — 1 1

Total — — — — 1 1 — — — — — — — 1 1

GRAND TOTAL 479 296 775 231 135 366 72 74 146 9 28 37 791 533 1324

Executive right to further employment
STREAM ONGOING CONTRACT 

LONG TERM
CONTRACT 
SHORT TERM

CASUAL TOTAL

M F Total M F Total M F Total M F Total M F Total

Tenured 2 — 2 19 1 20 — — — — — — 21 1 22

Untenured — — — 7 1 8 — — — — — — 7 1 8

Total 2 — 2 26 2 28 — — — — — — 28 2 30

Other employee types
STREAM ONGOING CONTRACT 

LONG TERM
CONTRACT 
SHORT TERM

CASUAL TOTAL

M F Total M F Total M F Total M F Total M F Total

GOVERNMENT SERVICES AWARD

 GSE01 1 — 1 1 — 1 — — — 14 19 33 16 19 35

 GSE02 2 1 3 — — — 4 2 6 4 2 6 10 5 15

 GSE03 16 2 18 — — — 3 — 3 8 8 16 27 10 37

 GSE04 5 — 5 — — — — — — 3 — 3 8 — 8

 GSE05 — — — — — — — — — — — — — — —

 GSE06 — — — — — — — — — — — — — — —

 GSE07 — — — — — — — — — 1 — 1 1 — 1

 GSJ01 — — — — — — — — — 1 1 2 1 1 2

Total 24 3 27 1 — 1 7 2 9 31 30 61 63 35 98

MARINE RESEARCH VESSEL NGERIN AWARD

 RVE01 1 — 1 — — — — — — — — — 1 — 1

 RVE02 2 — 2 — — — — — — — — — 2 — 2

 RVE03 1 — 1 — — — — — — — — — 1 — 1

Total 4 — 4 — — — — — — — — — 4 — 4

CIVIL CONSTRUCTION AND MAINTENANCE AWARD

 CMW05 — — — — — — — — — 1 — — 1 — 1

Total — — — — — — — — — 1 — — 1 — 1

Public Sector Management Act employees continued...



146 PIRSA Annual Report 2001–02 PIRSA Annual Report 2001–02 147

STREAM ONGOING CONTRACT 
LONG TERM

CONTRACT 
SHORT TERM

CASUAL TOTAL

M F Total M F Total M F Total M F Total M F Total

GOVERNMENT STORES AWARD

 STP03 1 — 1 — — — — — — — — — 1 — 1

Total 1 — 1 — — — — — — — — — 1 — 1

METAL TRADES AWARD

 MET09 1 — 1 — — — — — — — — — 1 — 1

Total 1 — 1 — — — — — — — — — 1 — 1

OTHER

—
— — — — 2 — 2 — — — — — 2 2 4

Total — — — — 2 — 2 — — — — — 2 2 4

GRAND TOTALL 30 3 33 7 2 9 1 0 1 32 30 62 72 37 109

Other employee types continued...
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 APPENDIX 3 OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH, SAFETY 
AND WELFARE STATISTICS
ITEM 2001–02 2000–01 1999–2000

1 Occupational health and safety legislative requirements

Number of notifiable occurrences pursuant to the Occupational 
Health, Safety and Welfare Regulations 1995, Division 6.6 1 0 0

Number of notifiable injuries pursuant to the Occupational Health, 
Safety, and Welfare Regulations 1995, Division 6.6 0 0 0

Number of notices served pursuant to the Occupational Health, 
Safety and Welfare Act 1986, s. 35, s. 39 and s. 40 (default, 
improvement and prohibition notices)

0 2 0

2 Injury management legislative requirements

Total number of employees who participated in the rehabilitation 
program 11 25 25

Total number of employees rehabilitated and reassigned to 
alternative duties 2 2 0

Total number of employees rehabilitated back to their original 
work 6 9 14

3 WorkCover action limits

Number of open claims as at 30 June 58 85 98

Percentage of workers compensation expenditure over gross 
annual remuneration 1.00% 0.84% 0.87%

4 Number of injuries

Number of new workers compensation claims in the financial 
yeara 66 65 92

Number of fatalities, lost time injuries and medical treatment onlya 0, 20, 46 0, 30, 36 0, 38, 54

Total number of whole working days losta Not available Not available 1 383

5 Cost of workers compensation

Cost of new claims for the financial year $135 243 $180 569 Not available

Cost of all claims excluding lump sum paymentsa $352 712 $345 309 $499 276

Amount paid for lump sum payments (s. 42, s. 43, s. 44) b $343 165 $308 536 $189 655

Total amount recovered from external sources (s. 54) $7 952 $1 263 $45 253

Budget allocation for workers compensation $444 701 $468 112 $354 265

6 Trends

Injury frequency rate for new lost-time injury/disease for each 
million hours workedc 8.28 12.84 14.29

Most frequent cause (mechanism) of injury

Muscular 
stress while 

handling 
objects

Falls, trips, 
slips

Muscular stress, 
falls

Most expensive cause (mechanism) of injury

Muscular 
stress 

while lifting, 
carrying or 

putting down 
objects

Mental 
stress

Hit by moving 
object

7 Meeting the agency’s strategic targets

Targets and results from the agency’s action plan are provided Refer to 
narrative — —

a 1999–2000 costs and statistics include claims that are now the responsibility of the Department of Water, Land, Biodiversity and Conservation 
(DWLBC)

b Part paid on PIRSA’s behalf by the Office for the Commissioner for Public Employment.
c This figure includes hours worked until the end of the financial year of staff who transferred from the Sustainable Resources Group to DWLBC 

on 10 April 2002.
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 APPENDIX 4 ENERGY EFFICIENCY 
ACTION PLAN
Significant energy management achievements
In response to the Government Energy Efficiency Action Plan, PIRSA has developed a 
comprehensive implementation plan aimed at reducing its energy consumption by 15 per 
cent by 2010. Achievements to date include:

• Collection of baseline energy consumption data for PIRSA sites for 2000–01, enabling 
the agency to establish targets for energy reduction and to manage and monitor 
performance in coming years.

• Development of a comprehensive property asset register in preparation for full retail 
contestability in 2003.

• Energy audits on all contestable sites to identify opportunities for energy savings and 
to prepare for full retail contestability.

• Development of a capital works program to realise opportunities in energy audits. 
Minor capital works were completed at two significant sites.

• Collection of vehicle fuel consumption data for 2000–01.

• Review of the vehicle fleet (in progress) to determine fuel usage, opportunities for 
fleet reduction and conversion to LPG to optimise vehicle efficiency.

• Establishment of a PIRSA Energy Management Steering Group to facilitate 
implementation of the agency’s action plan.

• Development of a communication strategy to improve staff awareness and behaviour.

Performance against annual energy use targets
PIRSA’s performance against annual energy use targets is shown in Table A4.1. The data 
includes Sustainable Resources Group which was transferred to the Department of Water, 
Land, and Biodiversity Conservation from 1 May 2002.

Table A4.1: PIRSA’s energy use

Energy use
(gigajoule)

Expenditure
($)

Greenhouse 
gas emissions 

(tonnes of carbon dioxide)

Energy consumption in buildings (leased/owned)

Base year 2000–01 78 223 1 640 752 15 663

2001–02 72 134 1 827 930 14 068

Portfolio targeta (2010) 66 490 — —

Vehicle fuel consumption (leased/owned and farm machinery)

Base year 2000–01 74 889 1 912 693 —

2001–02 Being ascertained Being ascertained

a The portfolio target meets the government’s undertaking of a 15 per cent reduction in energy use in government 
buildings before 2010.
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APPENDIX 5 CONSULTANCIES
In 2001–02, 90 consultancies were engaged by PIRSA for a total expenditure of $1 079 467.

CONSULTANT PURPOSE VALUE

Consultancy fees below $10 000
A total of 69 consultancies were engaged. Subtotal $212 932

Consultancy fees between $10 000 and $50 000

Business SA Develop and review the occupational, health, safety and welfare 
policies and procedures. $10 164

Woods Bagot Pty Ltd Design office accommodation fit-out. $10 330

OCAR Provide employee counselling services. $10 401

eWord Development Design new documentation templates for PIRSA. $10 620

Joy Allen Lightworks Pty Ltd Provide meditation and stress management workshops. $10 772

Arts SA - South Australian Museum Study the impact of seismic lines on ant communities and investigate 
the use of ants as bio-indicators in the Cooper Basin. $12 545

Marsh Pty Ltd Prepare and facilitate risk management workshops. $14 182

Melbourne Enterprises International Provide advice on regulatory theory and practice in relation to 
development of compliance policy for the Petroleum Act 2000. $14 600

David McKinna Pty Ltd Develop a Native Food Strategy for South Australia. $15 000

Carolyn Anderson & Associates Develop a FarmBis Communication Plan Strategy. $16 902

Pattern’s Strategists Undertake an aquaculture benchmarking project. $19 500

James Bernard Jago
Prepare a report on correlation of rock formations within early 
Palaeozoic basins of eastern South Australia to promote petroleum 
exploration.

$21 700

David McKinna Pty Ltd Develop a supply fulfilment model for regional food groups. $22 050

Australian Quality Council Facilitate self-assessment workshops. $31 178

Johnson Geological Services
Undertake a state-wide review of sand, clay and shale resources for 
use in metropolitan Adelaide and help PIRSA recommend future land 
use in the Golden Grove extractive industry zone.

$32 203

Pitjantjatjara Council Provide mandatory Aboriginal heritage and site clearance prior to 
commencement of a drilling program. $41 843

 Subtotal $293 990

Consultancy fees over $50 000
Allens Arthur Robinson Provide expert legal advice on the National Gas Access Code. $56 838

PPK Review the Fruit Fly Program. $98 840

Allen Consulting Group Provide project management and expert economic advice to the 
National Gas Pipelines Advisory Committee. $111 525

Hudson Howells Asia Pacific 
Consulting Identify priorities for securing a future for rural communities. $119 139

Allen Consulting Group
Provide expert financial advice to develop an industry restructuring 
and rehabilitation funding package for the Lower Murray Reclaimed 
Irrigated Areas.

$186 203

 Subtotal $572 545

 Total $1 079 467
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EMPLOYEES DESTINATION PURPOSE AGENCY 
COSTa, b

OFFICE OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE

1 USA, UK, Norway, 
Denmark, 
Singapore

Attended BIO 2001 International Convention and Exhibition in San Diego; attended 
meetings with South Australia’s Agent-General in London; inspected aquaculture 
enterprises in Norway and wind power generation in Denmark; progressed NTUC Fair 
Price Food project. 

$12 220

Subtotal $12 220

FOOD FOR THE FUTURE

1 Singapore, United 
Arab Emirates, 
Netherlands, 
Denmark, UK

Under sponsorship by Rabobank International attended a major global food conference 
in Holland, investigated specific demand chain projects and opportunities in Singapore, 
Dubai, Holland, Denmark and London, and investigated issues in relation to Food 
Adelaide establishing commercial representation in London.

$11 660

1 Singapore Hosted the Food Industry on Market Awareness program. $2 500

1 Canada, USA, 
Europe

Led a joint industry and Field Crops Industry Development Board team tasked to 
prepare a ‘Strategy for the development of a pulse food and beverage industry in South 
Australia’, meeting with an array of companies and research houses using pulses for 
whole and functional food and beverage products, and industrial applications.

$6 000

Subtotal $20 160

FOOD AND FIBRE

AGRICULTURAL INDUSTRIES

1 Vietnam, Malaysia Participated in the Course Seven intake of the Australian Rural Leadership program. $6 060

2 UK Assisted the UK Ministry for Agriculture with current outbreak of Foot-and-Mouth 
Disease.

$8 900

1 New Zealand Updated networking opportunities in the delivery of sheep breeding technologies and 
sourced technology delivery systems for use in South Australia.

$2 690

1 UK Assisted the UK Government in Foot-and-Mouth Disease outbreak in the UK; gained 
experience in diagnosis, procedures, protocols and management of the disease.

$4 470

1 Singapore, 
Taiwan, Hong 
Kong

Discussed the development of an Aussie Summer Fruit Demand Chain Program with 
Supermarkets in Hong Kong, Taiwan and Singapore.

Nil

1 New Zealand Delivered four training programs in Artificial Breeding of Pigs to pork producers at 
regional centres within New Zealand.

$920

2 USA Presented a paper at the annual USA Fluid Fertilizer Foundation Forum, Scottsdale, 
Arizona; studied current fertiliser formulation methods, manufacturing, research and 
application techniques at Kansas, Oklahoma and Nebraska State Universities.

$3 200

1 Singapore, 
Malaysia

Identified and developed export opportunities for South Australian food and fibre 
products in Singapore and Malaysia; developed an international supermarket program 
for South Australian food producers; undertook market research for organic wine, a 
new grape honey product, native foods and value-added meat and dairy products.

$11 000

1 China, Hong Kong Identified and developed export opportunities for South Australian horticulture products 
in the Chinese market.

$6 900

1 China Participated in the South Australian Business Mission to Qingdao, Shanghai and 
Beijing promoting and raising awareness of PIRSA Rural Solutions consultancy 
services; attended the Beijing Hi-tech Industries week.

$4 800

3 Spain, 
Netherlands, 
France

Attended and presented research findings at the 7th International Colloquium on 
Paratuberculosis (Johne’s disease), Bilbao. Researched local Bovine Johne’s Disease 
control programs in the Netherlands, France and Spain.

$16 260

2 New Zealand Attended a unique training course being offered at Massey University dealing with 
management of information during an animal disease emergency response.

$10 680

a  Includes salary component.

b  Some overseas travel incurs no agency cost (see notes at start of table).

 APPENDIX 6 OVERSEAS TRAVEL
Overseas travel by PIRSA employees for the period 1 July 2001 to 30 June 2002 is 
summarised below. In 2001–02, 71 overseas visits were made by PIRSA employees, for a 
total agency cost of $376 460.

PIRSA’s financial support for overseas visits varied from full payment (salary plus on-
costs, fares, necessary living expenses, registration fees etc.) to nil. In the latter instance 
there are generally two categories. All costs, including salary, are either externally funded 
or the monies are recouped through charging consultancy fees.
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EMPLOYEES DESTINATION PURPOSE AGENCY 
COSTa, b

AQUACULTURE SA

1 Scotland, Norway, 
Greece

Investigated planning and environmental monitoring, licensing arrangements, new 
development in sea cage technologies, research and development aquaculture, and 
feed technologies.

$10 390

1 New Zealand Clarified testing standards for shellfish and accessed New Zealand research on 
Pectenotoxin.

$5 300

1 USA, Spain Attended the International Conference on Molluscan Shellfish Safety, Spain; attended 
the ASM Conference, USA; invited by the Maine Shellfish Quality Assurance Program, 
to give a presentation on the South Australian Shellfish Quality Assurance Program.

$2 000

Subtotal $97 570

SOUTH AUSTRALIAN RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT INSTITUTE

Aquatic Sciences

2 USA Attended world conference — Spatial and Temporal Dynamic Models for the 
Management of Natural Resources.

$2 250

1 Thailand, 
Singapore

Initiated and extended SARDI’s understanding of the research and development 
needs for aquaculture in the Asia–Pacific region through a series of meetings with key 
researchers and agencies.

$6 050

1 USA, Norway, 
Spain

Attended two conferences in Europe to promote a new fisheries management software 
product developed and recently released in Australia.

$3 140

1 Vietnam Participated in fish harvest data collection, processing and analysis; investigated the 
economics of current technology; initiated the final report for the Australian Centre for 
International Agricultural Research; organised a project review workshop.

$1 000

1 Singapore Conducted mandatory site inspections with prospective tenderers for installation of 
culture systems.

Nil

1 Singapore Evaluated tenders for works to be completed under the contract between SARDI and 
Treadwell Consulting Pty Ltd.

Nil

1 Malaysia, 
Thailand, 
Singapore

Presented the keynote address at a workshop held in conjunction with a meeting of the 
Governing Council of the Network of Aquaculture Centres in Asia–Pacific; participated 
in a study tour of various aquaculture systems in West Malaysia and southern Thailand.

$7 910

1 Spain, UK Invited speaker at the 1st International Symposium for the Domestication of the Blue 
Fin Tuna; captured information relevant to the propagation of Southern Blue Fin Tuna 
(a key Aquafin Collaborative Research Centre program); established research links.

$2 000

2 Vietnam Presented project results and outcome in a national workshop jointly organised by the 
Research Institute for Aquaculture No 1 and SARDI; evaluated Australian Centre for 
International Agricultural Research project outcomes; identified and developed new 
projects; facilitated the publication of project findings; enhanced the linkage between 
Australian and Vietnamese research in aquaculture and fisheries; developed a strategy 
to maximise project benefit to farmers.

$2 000

1 Bali Conducted an assessment of possibilities for research collaboration on propagation of 
Southern Bluefin Tuna between the Aquafin Collaborative Research Centre and Fondol 
Research Institute of Mariculture in Bali.

Nil

Crops

1 Italy Attended the 7th International Symposium on Thysanoptera (thrips). $1 000
1 France, Syria, 

Belgium, 
Switzerland, 
Germany, Syria

Attended the International Plant Nutrition Colloquium 2000 in Hannover; visited leading 
soil chemist and plant nutritionist laboratories in Europe; collaborated with Dr John 
Ryan of the International Centre for Agricultural Research for Dry Areas on the use of 
phosphorus fertilisers in low-rainfall areas with calcareous soils.

$6 250

1 South Africa, 
Brazil, Paraguay, 
Argentina

Participated in a study tour visiting farms and research centres which are developing 
and practicing conservation farming techniques.

$7 330

1 China Participated in a joint collaboration between Australia and China on wheat quality. $1 100
1 Mexico Participated in a planning meeting of the Collaborative Research Centre for Molecular 

Plant Breeding to be held at the International Wheat and Maize Improvement Centre.
$1 230

1 Mexico, USA Developed, for the proposed Southern Wheat Breeding Program, improved 
electrophoretic techniques and scoring systems to characterise glutenin alleles in 
wheat and wheat relatives, a suite of micro-scale tests to apply to early generation 
screening of the germplasm, and sourced novel alleles in relatives with the potential 
to improve the processing qualities of Australian wheats. Also developed a future 
collaborative research proposal involving SARDI, the International Wheat and Maize 
Improvement Centre, and the Collaborative Research Centre for Molecular Plant 
Breeding.

$3 250
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EMPLOYEES DESTINATION PURPOSE AGENCY 
COSTa, b

Crops continued...

1 South Africa, Syria Invited to attend the 6th International Barley Leaf Blight Workshop, Aleppo, Syria 
— presented research results and organised an evening workshop on mapping scald 
and/or net blotch resistance genes; visited the Small Grains Institute, South Africa, to 
assess new sources of disease resistance in barley and compare molecular marker 
information on disease resistance genes.

$3 350

1 Syria, Turkey Attended a workshop on barley leaf diseases at the International Centre for Agricultural 
Research for Dry Areas; visited field trials and disease nurseries.

$4 010

1 South Africa Attended the International Symposium on Fruit Flies of Economic Importance. $1 890

1 South Africa, USA Attended an inaugural workshop on Western Flower Thrips and Tomato Spotted Wilt 
Virus Management in capsicum and tomato crops (USA), and the 6th International 
Symposium on Fruit Flies of Economic Importance (South Africa).

$2 000

1 Spain, UK, 
France, Turkey, 
Greece

Presented seven papers at the 4th International Congress of Nematology in Tenerife, 
Spain; undertook collaborative work with industry in France and Turkey to allow 
assessment of collaborative field trial research and established nematology screening 
programs.

$2 400

Horticulture

1 California Presented the 2001 Honorary Research Lecture to the American Society of Enology 
and Viticulture.

$2 740

1 USA Visited cherry researchers and commercial cherry packing sheds and handling facilities 
at Wenatchee, establishing contact with key researchers in the post-harvest handling 
of cherries.

$1 700

1 USA, UK, 
Netherlands

Accompanied potato, onion and carrot growers on a tour of production areas in 
northwest USA inspecting the latest developments in harvesting, packaging and 
production techniques; investigated new techniques on diagnosis and control of potato 
diseases and production of disease free tuber seed in the UK and Netherlands.

$4 200

1 Portugal, France, 
Italy

Presented a paper at the 2nd International Workshop on Grapevine Trunk Diseases 
in Lisbon, Portugal; researched the latest knowledge and developments in eutypa 
dieback research.

Nil

1 Portugal Presented results of Australian research on the fungal pathogen, Phomopsis viticola, 
at the Mediterranean Phytopathological Union Conference; established contacts with 
scientific researchers and industry personnel to ensure that the Australian viticulture 
industry is informed of the latest developments in the diagnosis and control of 
grapevine diseases.

$1 240

1 Korea Invited by the Korean Plant Pathology Society to present two papers at the 
International Conference on Plant Disease Forecasting: Information Technology in 
Plant Pathology, Kyungju.

$1 460

1 Germany Attended the Cold Chain 2001 Conference at Hamburg. $2 450

1 Chile, Argentina Presented a paper at an International Symposium on Grapevine Irrigation and lectured 
students at the University of Talca, Chile.

$2 540

Livestock Systems

1 China Invited by the Agricultural Academy of Shandong Province to discuss cloning research 
in respective organisations from the scientific point of view, exchanging ideas etc.

$1 880

1 France, Germany Presented a paper at the 14th International Plant Nutrition Colloguium, Hanover; visited 
INRA Genetic Resources and Mediterranean Medicago Plant Breeding Laboratory in 
Montpellier.

Nil

1 Italy, Switzerland, 
The Czech 
Republic, Hungary

Presented a paper on mange control and eradication programs in the pig industry at 
the World Association for the Advancement of Veterinary Parasitology Conference; 
attended workshops in various countries.

$1 960

1 Hungary, 
Brazil, England, 
Germany

Participated in a study tour and conferences to gain up-to-date information on the 
improvement of pig and poultry health, including odour and pollutant emission.

Nil

1 UK Presented a paper, ‘Phosphorus and carbon losses from a dairy subcatchment in the 
Adelaide Hills, South Australia’; carried out a study tour of the Institute of Grassland 
and Environmental Research, Devon.

$2 450

1 Switzerland Attended the 6th European Symposium on Poultry Welfare, Zollikofenl, to debate 
Dr Glatz’s accreditation program on beak trimming with the world’s leading poultry 
welfare scientists, and to present various papers including the declawing of ostriches to 
improve hide quality.

$1 760

1 Papua New 
Guinea

Invited to visit Lae to inspect village production systems and meet with National 
Agricultural Research Institute staff to discuss strategies to improve cash incomes of 
village poultry production units and make best use of available resources.

$1 570

1 Brazil Participated in the Annual Conference of the International Embryo Transfer Society, 
Foz do Iguaçu.

$9 030
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EMPLOYEES DESTINATION PURPOSE AGENCY 
COSTa, b

Livestock Systems continued...

1 USA, Canada Discussed the development of risk assessment models with US Department of 
Agriculture researchers.

$10 770

1 USA Attended the World Pork Expo, to gain awareness of developments in the pig industry 
worldwide.

$2 050

Other

1 Mexico, USA Nurtured the ongoing governance of the Collaborative Research Centre for Molecular 
Plant Breeding; obtained up-to-date knowledge of the International Wheat and Maize 
Improvement Centre’s biotechnology programs and procedures, gained a greater 
appreciation of activities undertaken there, and exposure to the trans-national 
biotechnology market place.

$5 550

1 Oman, Dubai, 
Singapore

Further developed the joint GRM International and PIRSA consultancy to Petroleum 
Development Oman to dispose of drill water produced as a result of oil pumping; visited 
the International Biosaline Agricultural Centre in Dubai to discuss collaboration on the 
Oman project and to further develop linkages with the Collaborative Research Centre 
for Plant Based Management of Dryland Salinity and other South Australian programs; 
further developed collaboration between SARDI and the Singapore Department of 
Primary Production Aquaculture Development project on St Johns Island.

$3 000

1 Canada Attended the world’s largest biotechnology convention in Toronto. $10 380

Subtotal

SUSTAINABLE RESOURCES

1 Vietnam, Malaysia Participated in the Course Seven intake of the Australian Rural Leadership program. $4 330

Subtotal $4 330

OFFICE OF MINERALS AND ENERGY RESOURCES

MINERAL RESOURCES

2 South Africa Participated in an Australian Mineral Foundation study tour of South African ore bodies 
to develop an understanding of ore deposit models which may be applied to South 
Australian analogues.

$15 700

2 Canada Represented South Australian exploration industry activities at the Prospectors and 
Developers Association of Canada Conference, Toronto.

$26 740

1 USA Attended the 5th International Airborne Remote Sensing Conference in Miami to 
enable scientific interchange aimed at solving technical issues and identifying more 
cost-effective survey methods.

$6 000

1 Canada, USA Worked with government agencies on uranium mining and regulation issues. $41 720

PETROLEUM

2 USA Promoted South Australian petroleum opportunities at the American Association of 
Petroleum Geologists Convention, Houston, Texas.

$13 280

Subtotal  

ENERGY SA

1 New Zealand Attended Electrical Regulators Advisory Committee Working Group and the Standards 
Committee Electrical Products (EL/2) meetings.

$3 210

1 Singapore Attended training program for facilitating the Mutual Recognition Agreement between 
Singapore and Australia with respect to electrical products.

$2 950

Subtotal $6 160

CORPORATE

1 Singapore Invited to present two papers on outcome and output planning performance measures 
at an Asia Business Forum conference.

$200

1 Spain, UK Attended the International Congress of Agricultural Journalists; met with Australian 
Embassy officials in Madrid; met with agricultural communications practitioners in the 
UK to discuss the recent Foot-and-Mouth Disease outbreak.

$11 490

Subtotal $11 690

TOTAL $376 460

$103 440

$124 890
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 APPENDIX 7 FREEDOM OF INFORMATION
Information statement
The following information is published pursuant to the Freedom of Information Act 1991, 
Section 9.

Freedom of Information
The Freedom of Information Act gives all South Australians a legally enforceable right of 
access to documents held by the government, making the business of government open and 
accountable to all. It does not provide right of access to documents in the possession of the 
private sector.

Under freedom of information, there are provisions to allow South Australians to apply 
to have documents relating to themselves corrected if they are incomplete, incorrect, 
misleading or out of date. While freedom of information aims to provide access to the 
maximum amount of information possible, provisions exist that protect legitimate agency, 
public and private interests.

Agency’s structure and functions
These are set out elsewhere in this annual report (see ‘PIRSA’s role’).

Ways in which the functions of the agency affect members of 
the public
The agency has a major indirect effect on the general public by creating jobs and wealth 
through advice, encouragement and regulation of various primary industries and resources. 
The groups of the agency providing those services are listed below and their roles are 
described elsewhere in this annual report (see ‘Performance review’ Parts one and two).
• Food for the Future
• Food and Fibre
• SA Research and Development Institute
• Sustainable Resources*
• Office of Minerals and Energy Resources
• Energy SA
• Office of Regional Development

Arrangements that enable the public to participate in the 
formulation of the agency’s policies
Officers from the agency are members of many committees (described elsewhere in this 
report, see ‘Performance review’ and ‘Ministerial responsibilities’) to which the public 
and/or industry has access.

Documents that are available for purchase from the agency
The following documents are made available for purchase from the agency, by contacting 
Customer Services, Ground Floor, 101 Grenfell Street, Adelaide:
• publications • scientific papers
• technical reports • conference and seminar proceedings

* Sustainable Resources Group transferred to the Department of Water, Land and Biodiversity 
Conservation from 1 May 2002.
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• books and theses • extension and technical publications
• popular articles • research reports.

Documents that are available from the agency free of charge
The following documents are made available free of charge from the agency and are 
available by contacting the individual groups or Customer Services:
• brochures
• pamphlets
• posters
• information packs
• policy documents
• administrative instructions
• internet

- downloadable education resources
- community group presentations
- media releases
- PrimeTime, PIRSA’s quarterly newsletter.

Accessing documents
As a general rule, the nearest office of the agency (as listed in the Adelaide and various 
country White Pages) can assist with document acquisition. Note that privacy principles 
(freedom of information) apply to documents concerning third parties.

Making a freedom of information application
Application forms relating to the amendment of personal records or to request information 
under the Freedom of Information Act can be obtained by contacting the Freedom of 
Information Coordinator on the address as listed below, or by contacting State Records via 
phone (08) 8343 6800 or internet <http://www.archives.sa.gov.au/services/public/freeinfo_
index.html>.

Each application must be accompanied by the application fee of $20.60 and processing 
charges may also be required. In certain cases a reduction of fees and charges may apply.

Point of contact
All freedom of information inquiries and requests should be addressed to:
Freedom of Information Coordinator
Primary Industries and Resources South Australia
GPO Box 1671
ADELAIDE SA 5001

http:///
http:///
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS APPENDIX 8 

PRIMARY INDUSTRIES AND RESOURCES SOUTH AUSTRALIA 
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2002 
  2002 2001 
 Note $’000 $’000 
EXPENSES FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES:    
 Employee costs 4 80 816 78 393
 Supplies and services 5 86 965 89 293
 Grants 6 23 663 21 406
 Interest  1 208 1 564
 Provision for doubtful debts 7 379 544
 Depreciation and amortisation 8 5 671 5 694
 Other 9 2 934 943
  Total expenses   201 636 197 837
REVENUES FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES:   
 User charges, fees and rentals 10 28 673 24 173
 Advances and grants 11 32 706 32 696
 Interest 12 4 673 5 646
 Sales of goods  13 5 577 4 905
 Other 14 13 462 6 416
  Total revenues   85 091 73 836
NET COST OF SERVICES FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES  116 545 124 001
REVENUES FROM GOVERNMENT:    
 Pursuant to Appropriation Act 2001 2(d) 115 564 113 850
DECREASE IN NET ASSETS RESULTING FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES BEFORE 
RESTRUCTURING 

 981 10 151

NET EXPENDITURE FROM RESTRUCTURING 36 2 353 –
DECREASE IN NET ASSETS RESULTING FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES AFTER 
RESTRUCTURING 

37 3 334 10 151

TOTAL CHANGES IN EQUITY OTHER THAN THOSE RESULTING FROM 
TRANSACTIONS WITH THE  

  

STATE GOVERNMENT AS OWNER  3 334 10 151
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 30 JUNE 2002 
  2002 2001 
 Note $’000 $’000 
CURRENT ASSETS:   
 Cash 2(h), 33 48 349 63 701
 Receivables 16 22 052 7 627
 Loans 17 2 425 1 787
 Inventories 18 2 934 3 659
 Other 20 30 27
  Total Current Assets  75 790 76 801
   
NON-CURRENT ASSETS:   
 Loans 17 16 602 23 900
 Inventories 18 556 257
 Property, plant and equipment 19 91 012 95 149
 Other 20 53 51
  Total Non-Current Assets  108 223 119 357
  Total Assets   184 013 196 158
   
CURRENT LIABILITIES:   
 Creditors and accruals 21 6 535 7 904
 Borrowings 22 1 629 693
 Accrued interest on borrowings  353 465
 Provision for employee entitlements 23 4 553 4 511
 Other  - 517
  Total Current Liabilities  13 070 14 090
   
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES:   
 Creditors and accruals 24 3 236 3 360
 Borrowings 22 14 521 20 469
 Provision for employee entitlements 23 13 798 15 120
 Lease incentive 2(f) 2 416 2 813
  Total Non-Current Liabilities  33 971 41 762
  Total Liabilities  47 041 55 852
NET ASSETS  136 972 140 306

EQUITY:   
 General reserve 25 2 000 2 000
 Committed grants reserve 26 12 297 13 979
 Asset revaluation reserve  1 753 1 753
 Accumulated surplus  120 922 122 574
TOTAL EQUITY 37 136 972 140 306

Commitments 27  
Contingent Liabilities 35  
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2002 
  2002 2001 
  Inflows Inflows 
  (Outflows) (Outflows)
 Note $’000 $’000 
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:   
 Payments to suppliers and employees  (173 434) (167 937)
 Grants paid   (23 663) (21 406)
 Receipts from customers  40 151 36 580
 Grants received  32 706 33 184
 Interest on loans to the rural sector  2 148 2 844
 Interest paid on loans  (1 320) (1 641)
 Interest on cash balances  2 886 3 010
 GST payments on purchases  (17 558) (10 508)
 GST receipts on sales  2 228 2 029
 GST receipts from taxation authority  7 644 6 019
CASH FLOWS FROM GOVERNMENT:   
 Pursuant to Appropriation Act 2001 2(d) 115 564 113 850
  Net Cash used in Operating Activities 33 (12 648) (3 976)
   
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:   
 Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (4 077) (3 491)
 Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  239 105
 Payment of lease liability  (397) (397)
 Loans advanced to the rural sector  (291) (1 027)
 Loans repaid by the rural sector  6 858 6 619
  Net Cash provided by Investing Activities  2 332 1 809
   
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:   
 Borrowings from Treasury  93 914
 Principal repaid to Treasury/SAFA  (5 129) (4 796)
  Net Cash used in Financing Activities  (5 036) (3 882)
NET DECREASE IN CASH HELD  (15 352) (6 049)
CASH AT 1 JULY  63 701 69 750
CASH AT 30 JUNE  33 48 349 63 701
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OUTPUT SCHEDULE OF DEPARTMENTAL EXPENSES AND REVENUES FOR THE YEAR ENDED 
30 JUNE 2002 
 Information 

services 
State 

resource 
regulation 
services 

Coordination 
and advice 

Facilitation 
services 

Total 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
EXPENSES FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES:   
 Supplies and services 36 878 19 199 4 346 26 542 86 965
 Employee Costs  40 746 17 817 6 148 16 105 80 816
 Grants 3 440 512 58 19 653 23 663
 Depreciation and amortisation 2 878 1 259 450 1 084 5 671
 Interest — — — 1 208 1 208
 Provision for doubtful debts 125 140 2 112 379
 Other 7 1 310 201 1 416 2 934
  Total expenses 84 074 40 237 11 205 66 120 201 636
   
REVENUES FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES:   
 User charges, fees and rentals 11 901 13 261 190 3 321 28 673
 Advances and grants 16 536 4 994 396 10 780 32 706
 Sales of goods 4 083 390 — 1 104 5 577
 Interest 227 227 226 3 993 4 673
 Other 7 221 1 218 392 4 631 13 462
  Total revenues 39 968 20 090 1 204 23 829 85 091
NET COST OF SERVICES FROM ORDINARY 
ACTIVITIES 

44 106 20 147 10 001 42 291 116 545

GOVERNMENT REVENUES:   
 Pursuant to Appropriation Act 2000 42 669 19 687 9 771 43 437 115 564
DECREASE IN NET ASSETS RESULTING FROM 
ORDINARY ACTIVITIES 

(1 437) (460) (230) 1 146 (981)

 

OUTPUT SCHEDULE OF DEPARTMENTAL EXPENSES AND REVENUES FOR THE YEAR ENDED 
30 JUNE 2001 
 Information 

services 
State 

resource 
regulation 
services 

Coordination 
and advice 

Facilitation 
services 

Total 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
EXPENSES FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES:   
 Supplies and services 31 620 22 456 3 620 31 597 89 293
 Employee Costs  36 937 16 843 6 082 18 531 78 393
 Grants 2 741 863 37 17 765 21 406
 Depreciation and amortisation 2 682 1 223 458 1 331 5 694
 Interest — — — 1 564 1 564
 Provision for doubtful debts 55 68 1 420 544
 Other 321 102 257 263 943
  Total expenses 74 356 41 555 10 455 71 471 197 837
   
REVENUES FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES:   
 User charges, fees and rentals 10 011 12 472 256 2 351 25 090
 Advances and grants 12 940 3 446 297 16 013 32 696
 Sales of goods 3 358 7 1 1 539 4 905
 Interest 212 212 212 5 010 5 646
 Other 2 028 448 103 2 920 5 499
  Total revenues 28 549 16 585 869 27 833 73 836
NET COST OF SERVICES FROM ORDINARY 
ACTIVITIES 

45 807 24 970 9 586 43 638 124 001

GOVERNMENT REVENUES:   
 Pursuant to Appropriation Act 2000 40 319 21 978 8 436 43 117 113 850
DECREASE IN NET ASSETS RESULTING FROM 
ORDINARY ACTIVITIES 

5 488 2 992 1 150 521 10 151
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PROGRAM SCHEDULE OF DEPARTMENTAL ADMINISTERED EXPENSES AND REVENUES FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2002 
    Sheep

Industry 
Levy 

Grains 
Industry 

Levy 

Cattle 
Industry 

Fund 

Gulf St 
Vincent 
Prawn 
Fishery

National 
Action 
Plan 

Water and 
Salinity 

Pig 
Industry 

Fund 

Fisheries 
Research 

And 
Develop- 

ment 

Riverland 
Wine 

Industry 
Fund 

Apiary 
Industry 

Fund 

Natural 
Heritage 

Trust 

Renewable 
Remote 
Power 

Generation 
Program 

Photovoltaic 
Rebate 

Program 

Natural 
Gas 

Authority 

Energy 
M’gmt 
Task 
Force 

SA Water 
Corpor-

ation 

Other Total

$’000 $’000 $’000
 

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
 

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
 ADMINISTERED EXPENSES:

 Payment to Cooper Basin     
  

    

    

   

    
    

   

  

   

 Producers — — — — — — — — — — — 219 246 — — — 219 246 
 Natural Heritage Trust — — — — — — — — — 15 182 — — — — — — 15 182 
 National Action Plan for Water — — — — 4 960 — — — — — — — — — — — 4 960 
 Interest payment — — — 188 — — — — — — — — — — — — 188
 Fisheries licences — — — — — — 14 004 — — — — — — — — — 14 004 
 Compensation payments — — 68 — — — — — — — — — — — — — 68
 Commonwealth levies — 1 150 — — — — — — — — — — — — — — 1 150 
 Commonwealth rebates — — — — — — — — — — 2 766 615 — — — — 3 381 
 Salaries costed to Administered funds 4 — 3 — — — — — — — — — — — — 194 201 
 Supplies and services 107 — — — — 2 — — 6 22 — — — 1 339 — 65 1 541 
 Sitting fees 35 — 1 — — 1 — — 2 — — — — — — — 39
 Grants — — — — — — — 338 — — — — — — — 214 552
 Subsidy 3 — — — — — — — — — — — — — 78 520 — 78 523 
 Other 1 443 — 8 — — — — 33 — — — — — — — — 1 484 
  Total Expenses 1 592 1 150 80 188 4 960 3 14 004 371 8 15 204

 
2 766 615 219 246 1 339 78 520 473 340 519 

 ADMINISTERED REVENUES:
 Natural Gas revenue — — — — — — — — — — — — 219 251 — — — 219 251 
 Natural Heritage Trust — — — — — — — — — 19 154 — — — — — — 19 154 
 National Action Plan for Water — — — — 2 522 — — — — — — — — — — — 2 522 
 Fisheries licences — — — 188 — — 13 556 — — — — — — — — 6 13 750 
 Advances and grants — — — — — — — — 101 — — — — — — 216 317
 Commonwealth levies — 1 498 — — — — — — — — — — — — — 89 1 587 
 Commonwealth rebates — — — — — — — — — — 2 844 589 — — — — 3 433 
 Stamp duties 1 461 — 141 — — 156 — — — — — — — — — — 1 758 
 Interest on cash balances 42 20 126 1 6 46 — 9 2 — — — — — — 7 259 
 Appropriation — — — — 2 455 — — — — — — — — — 78 520 — 80 975 
 Other 2 — 20 1 195 — 4 — 428 27 — — — — 1 243 — 356 3 275 
  Total Revenues 1 505 1 518 287 1 384 4 983 206 13 556 437 130 19 154 2 844 589 219 251 1 243 78 520 674 346 281 
ADMINISTERED REVENUES LESS EXPENSES (87) 368 207 1 196 23 203 (448) 66 122 3 950 78 (26) 5 (96) — 201 5 762 
NET EXPENDITURE FROM RESTRUCTURING — — — — 56 — — — — 7 042 — — — — — 23 607 30 705 
(DECREASE) INCREASE IN NET ASSETS 

RESULTING FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES 
AFTER RESTRUCTURING 

(87) 368 207 1 196 (33) 203 (448) 66 122 (3 092) 78 (26) 5 (96) — (23 406) (24 943) 
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PROGRAM SCHEDULE OF DEPARTMENTAL ADMINISTERED EXPENSES AND REVENUES FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2001 
   Sheep

Industry 
Levy 

 Grains 
Industry 

Levy 

Cattle 
Industry 

Fund 

Gulf St 
Vincent 
Prawn 
Fishery 

Soil 
Conser-
vation 

Swine 
Compen-

sation 

Fisheries 
Research 

And 
Develop-

ment 

Egg 
Industry 
Deregula

tion 

Natural 
Heritage 

Trust 

Natural 
Gas 

Authority

Energy 
M’gmt 
Task 
Force 

SA Water 
Corpor-

ation 

Other Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
 ADMINISTERED EXPENSES:  

 Payment to Cooper Basin Producers — — — — — — — —
— — — — — — — —  46 — — —
— — — 99 — — — — — — — — — 99 
— — — — — — 188 — — — — — —

 — — — — — — — 66 
— 282 — — — — — — — — — — 92 
6 — — — — — — — — — — —   

1 — — — — — — — — — — — — 1 
— — — — — — — — — — —   
9 — — — — — — — — — — 084 — 

220 928
7

— — — 220 928 
— Natural Heritage Trust 22  22 467 

 Interest payment 
 Fisheries licences  12  12 188 
 Compensation payments — — 66 — — —
 Commonwealth levies 374 
 Salaries costed to Administered 
 funds 

220 226

 Supplies and services 852 — 350 — — 4 2 1 3 — 229 — 462 1 903 
 Sitting fees 
 Grants 101 201 302
 Subsidy 77 77 093 
 Other 350 — — — — — 17 — — — 101 — 1 356 1 824 
  Total Expenses 1 218 282 416 99 — 105 12 207 1 22 470 220 928 330 77 084 2 331 337 471 
ADMINISTERED REVENUES:    
 Natural Gas revenue — — — — — — — —

— — — — — — — —  09 — — —

— — — — — — — — — — — — 40 40 
— 890 — — — — — — — — — —   

319 — 223 — — 86 — — — — — — —
ces 43 7 163 18 1 57 — — — — — — 6

— — — — — — — — — — — 084 — 

— 220 928
4

— — — 220 928 
— Natural Heritage Trust 23  23 094 

 Fisheries licences — — — 123 — — 13 313
 

— — — — — 7 13 443 
  Advances and grants 

 Commonwealth levies 1 876 2 766
 Stamp duties 1   1 628 
 Interest on cash balan    295 
 Appropriation 77 77 084 
 Other — — 25 168 — — 3 — 1 075 — — — 430 1 701 
  Total Revenues 1 362 897 411 309 1 143 13 316 — 24 169 220 928 — 77 084 2 359 340 979 
ADMINISTERED REVENUES LESS 
EXPENSES 

144 615 (5) 210 1 38 1 109 (1) 1 699 — (330) — 28 3 508 

               
 

 

  



 163PIRSA Annual Report 2001–02 

PROGRAM SCHEDULE OF DEPARTMENTAL ADMINISTERED ASSETS AND LIABILITIES AS AT 30 JUNE 2002 
   Sheep

Industry 
Levy 

 Grains 
Industry 

Levy 

Cattle 
Industry 

Fund 

Gulf St 
Vincent 
Prawn 
Fishery 

Pig 
Industry 

Fund 

Fisheries 
Research 

And 
Develop-

ment 

Riverland 
Wine 

Industry 
Fund 

Apiary 
Industry 

Fund 

Renewable 
Remote 
Power 

Generation 
Program 

Photovoltaic 
Rebate 

Program 

Natural 
Gas 

Authority

Energy 
M’gmt 
Task 
Force 

Other Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
 

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
ADMINISTERED ASSETS:  
Current Assets:    
 Receivables —   — — 137 — — — — — — 2 615 39 793
 Cash 522 987 2 990 19 1 177 1 416 66 122 258 204 402 546 878 9 587 
  Total Assets 522 987 2 990 156 1 177 1 416 66 122 258 204 404 1 161 917 10 380 
ADMINISTERED LIABILITIES:    
Current Liabilities:    
 Creditors and accruals 2 — — — — — — — — — — 121 8 131 

 2 — — — — — — — — — — 121 8 131   Total
Non-Current Liabilities:    
 Borrowings —   

   
— — 137 — — — — — — — — — 137

  Total Liabilities 2 — — 137 — — — — — — — 121 8 268
NET ASSETS 520 987 2 990 19 1 177 1 416 66 122 258 204 404 1 040 909 10 112 

EQUITY:    
 Accumulated surplus 520 987 2 990 19 1 177 1 416 66 122 258 204 404 1 040 909 10 112 
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PROGRAM SCHEDULE OF DEPARTMENTAL ADMINISTERED ASSETS AND LIABILITIES AS AT 30 JUNE 2001 
   Sheep

Industry 
Levy 

 Grains 
Industry 

Levy 

Cattle 
Industry 

Fund 

Gulf St 
Vincent 
Prawn 
Fishery 

Swine 
Compen-

sation 

Fisheries 
Research 

And 
Develop-

ment 

Egg 
Industry 
Dereg-
ulation 

Natural 
Heritage 

Trust 

Natural 
Gas 

Authority

Energy 
M’gmt 
Task 
Force 

Pastoral 
Board 

Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
ADMINISTERED ASSETS:  
Current Assets:    
 Receivables — — — — — — — — — — 133 — 145 278 
 Cash 611 619 2 785 18 974 1 864 465 3 092 399 1 114 — 12 647 
  Total 611 619 2 785 18 974 1 864 465 3 092 399 1 247 — 12 925 
Non-Current Assets:  

Soil 
Conser-
vation 

Other

               
  

$’000 $’000

23 683
23 828

  
 Property, plant and equipment — — — — — — — — — — — 591 — 591 23 23  
  Total Assets 611 619 18 23 974 1 864 3 092 399 1 247 23 591 36 516 
ADMINISTERED LIABILITIES:   
Current Liabilities:   

4 — — — — — — — 111 8 141 266 
4 — 2 — — — — — — — 111 8 141 266 

— 2

2 785 465
 

828

 
 Creditors and accruals 

   Total
Non-Current Liabilities:    
 Borrowings — — —  195 — — — — — — — — — 195 

    
1 1 

  Total Liabilities 4 — 2 1 195 — — — — — 111 8 141 1 461
NET ASSETS 607 619 2 783 (1 177) 23 974 1 864 465 3 092 399 1 136 23 583 687 35 055 
EQUITY:    
 Accumulated surplus (deficit) 607 619 2 783 (1 177) 23 974 1 864 465 3 092 399 1 136 23 583 687 35 055 

—
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
1. Department purpose and funding 
The Department of Primary Industries and Resources (PIRSA) is a key government agency focused on 
sustainable economic development.  
 
PIRSA delivers specialist services and advice with the potential to increase the prosperity of South Australians, 
to improve their quality of life and to ensure the sustainable development of the State’s resource base for future 
generations. PIRSA delivers these services through locations across South Australia. 
 
PIRSA’s business is to optimise the return on South Australia’s natural assets by: 
 
• Fostering the sustainable development of new and existing industries across the food, fibre, minerals and 

energy sectors; 
• Facilitating global competitiveness and innovative solutions; 
• Building partnerships between industry, the community and government; 
• Providing information and knowledge to help people make the right decisions for themselves and; 
• Regulating to preserve resources for future generations. 
 
The principal sources of funds for PIRSA programs consists of monies appropriated by Parliament, research 
grants from Industry Research Corporations, licence receipts, Commonwealth grants and trading operations. 
 
2. Summary of significant accounting policies 
(a) Basis of accounting 
The financial statements represent the operations of the Department of Primary Industries and Resources for the 
year 1 July 2001 to 30 June 2002.  
 
This financial report is a general purpose financial report.  
 
The accounts have been prepared in accordance with applicable Australian Accounting Standards, Statements of 
Accounting Concepts, Urgent Issues Group Abstracts and Treasurer’s Instructions promulgated under the 
provisions of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1987. 
 
The accounts have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting. Except for certain assets which are at 
current cost valuation, the accounts have been prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention. 
 
(b) The reporting entity 
All funds through which the Department of Primary Industries and Resources (identified in these notes as the 
‘Department’) controls resources to carry on its functions have been included in these financial statements. 
 
In the process of reporting on the Department as a single unit, all internal transactions have been eliminated in 
full. 
 
Administered resources. The Department administers, but does not control, certain resources on behalf of the 
South Australian Government, the Commonwealth Government, private sector organisations and other State 
Government Departments. The Department is accountable for the transactions involving those administered 
resources, but does not have the discretion to deploy the resources for achievement of the Department’s 
objectives. The Department acts only on behalf of the aforementioned bodies. The accrual basis of accounting 
has been used in accounting for administered resources. 
 
Transactions and balances relating to these administered resources are not recognised as departmental revenues, 
expenses, assets or liabilities but are disclosed in the applicable program schedules. 
 
Trust Funds. The Department has received monies in a trustee capacity for trusts as set out in Note 30. As the 
Department performs only a custodial role in respect of these monies, and because the monies cannot be used for 
achievement of the Department’s objectives, they are not brought to account in the financial statements, but are 
shown in Note 30. 
 
Transfer of Sustainable Resources functions to the Department of Water, Land and Biodiversity 
Conservation. A number of functions previously performed by the Sustainable Resources Group in the 
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Department were transferred to the Department of Water, Land and Biodiversity Conservation on 1 May 2002. 
These statements include the expenditure, revenue and cash flows of the functions that were transferred for the 
period 1 July 2001 to 30 April 2002. The amounts of assets and liabilities transferred on 1 May 2002 are set out 
in Note 36. 
 
(c) User charges, fees and rentals 
User charges, fees and rentals controlled by the Department are recognised as revenues. User charges, fees and 
rentals are controlled by the Department where they can be deployed for achievement of departmental 
objectives. 
 
User charges, fees and rentals collected by the Department but not controlled by it are not recognised as 
revenues, but are reported as administered revenues in the Program Schedule - Administered Expenses and 
Revenues. 
 
(d) Appropriations, grants and other contributions 
All appropriations, grants and other contributions are recognised as revenues when the Department obtains 
control over the assets, this would normally be upon receipt. 
 
Amounts appropriated to the Department for transfer to eligible beneficiaries in accordance with legislation or 
other authoritative requirements are not controlled by the Department and therefore not recognised as revenues, 
but are reported as administered revenues in the Program Schedule - Administered Expenses and Revenues. 
Similarly, the amounts transferred, are not recognised as expenses, but are reported as administered expenses in 
the Program Schedule - Administered Expenses and Revenues. 
 
(e) Royalties 
PIRSA receives royalties, levied on minerals and petroleum production, on behalf of the State Government. The 
royalties received are deposited into the Consolidated Account. As PIRSA has no control over these monies and 
is unable to use the monies to achieve its own objectives, royalties received are not recognised in the financial 
statements, but are disclosed in Note 15. 
 
(f) Non-current assets 
Items of property, plant and equipment are recorded in the Statement of Financial Position as detailed below 
unless otherwise indicated: 
 
(i) Land and buildings. In accordance with current Accounting Policy Statements issued by the Department of 
Treasury and Finance, the Department has applied the Australian Accounting Standard AASB 1041 ‘Revaluation 
of Non-Current Assets’ transitional provisions for the public sector and has elected to apply the same revaluation 
basis for the financial year.  
 
The Department has adopted the requirements of the Department of Treasury and Finance Accounting Policy 
Statement APS 3 ‘Revaluation of Non-Current Assets’ and Accounting Policy Statement APS 6 ‘Land and 
Improvements’. 
 
The majority of land and buildings have been independently valued by Valcorp Pty Ltd as at 30 June 1999, on 
the basis of deprival value being written-down current cost or current market buying price. Some land is brought 
to account at valuations by the South Australian Valuer-General. Buildings include ‘infrastructure’ which 
represents roads, fencing, signage etc. Updated valuations are obtained every three years. The next valuation 
process is due to occur during 2002-03 and any variations to values will be reflected in the financial statements 
for the financial year ending 30 June 2003. 
 
(ii) Plant and equipment. Plant and equipment are brought to account at cost. Items of $2 000 and greater are 
capitalised and amounts less than $2 000 are expensed in the period incurred. 
 
(iii) Depreciation. All buildings, plant and equipment having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated 
over their useful lives in a manner which reflects the consumption of their service potential. 
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Depreciation is provided on a straight line basis which is reviewed annually. The major depreciation periods are: 
 

 Years 
Buildings 60–70 
Plant and equipment 3–20 
Infrastructure 2–32 

 
(iv) Leasehold improvements. Leasehold improvements are amortised over the shorter of either the unexpired 
period of the lease or the estimated useful lives of the improvements. 
 
(v) Lease incentives under non-cancellable operating leases. On 1 August 1998, the Department, through the 
Department for Administrative and Information Services, entered into a 10 year non-cancellable operating lease 
over part of a property located at 101 Grenfell Street, Adelaide. 
 
The fit-out costs for this leased property were met by the lessor. In accordance with Urgent Issues Group 
Abstract 3 ‘Lessee Accounting for Lease Incentives under a Non-Cancellable Operating Lease’, this fit-out has 
been treated as a lease incentive giving rise to both an asset and a liability being the cost of the fit-out. The asset 
is amortised over the period of the lease and the liability is reduced through lease payments over the term of the 
lease. 
 
(g) Employee entitlements 
(i) Salaries and wages and annual leave. Liabilities for salaries and wages and annual leave are recognised, 
and are measured as the amount unpaid at the reporting date at current pay rates in respect of employees’ 
services up to that date. Expenses consequential to employment but which are not employee entitlements, for 
example payroll tax and superannuation on-costs, have been recognised as non-employee entitlement liabilities 
where the entitlement to which they relate has been recognised as a liability. 
 
(ii) Long service leave. A liability for long service leave is recognised, and is measured as the current value of 
payments to be made in respect of employees with eight or more years service up to the reporting date. This base 
provides a reasonable approximate of the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made for 
these entitlements. Expenses consequential to employment but which are not employee entitlements, for example 
payroll tax and superannuation on-costs, have been recognised as non-employee entitlement liabilities where the 
entitlement to which they relate has been recognised as a liability. 
 
(iii) Superannuation. The Department does not record a liability for the value of superannuation payments to be 
made to employees at preservation age, this liability is recorded by the SA Superannuation Board. The 
Department records a liability for any outstanding employer superannuation contributions payable to the SA 
Superannuation Board. The Department also recognises a non-employee entitlement liability for the 
superannuation on-cost on long service leave, annual leave and accrued salaries and wages. 
 
During the year PIRSA paid $6.7million to the Department of Treasury and Finance towards the accruing 
government liability for superannuation in respect of its employees. 
 
(iv) Workers compensation. The workers compensation liability is an actuarial estimate of the outstanding 
liability at 30 June provided by a consulting actuary engaged through the Government Occupational Health and 
Injury Management Branch of the Department of the Premier and Cabinet. This actuarial estimate provides for 
the estimated cost of ongoing payments to employees as required under current legislation. 
 
(h) Cash 
For the purposes of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash includes cash deposits which are readily convertible to 
cash on hand and which are used in the cash management function on a day-to-day basis. 
 
The Department’s appropriation from the Department of Treasury and Finance included an accrual component of 
$2.2 million. As at 30 June 2002 this appropriation had not been expended. In accordance with a directive from 
the Department of Treasury and Finance this accrual appropriation has been classified as a deposit at call. 
 
(i) Inventory 
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value on an item by item basis, as illustrated in 
Note 18. Where the net market value of an inventory item is less than cost, provision is made for the anticipated 
loss on realisation. 
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The Department controlled the following types of assets at the reporting date meeting the definition of self-
generating and regenerating assets as defined by Australian Accounting Standard AAS 35 ‘Self-Generating and 
Regenerating Assets’. Livestock has been brought to account at net market value in the Statement of Financial 
Position. Crops, orchards and vineyards are grown primarily for research purposes but also have a commercial 
element. As these items are not considered to be material in terms of total asset value and are difficult to measure 
reliably, they have been excluded from the Statement of Financial Position. 
 
(j) Provisions for doubtful debts 
The collectibility of trade debts is assessed at balance date and provision is made for any doubtful accounts. 
 
In 1997-98 the Rural Finance and Development Steering Committee adopted the policy of calculating the 
general doubtful debt provision as five per cent of the balance of the loan portfolio. In addition, review of 
individual loan balances is undertaken and specific provisions are created where appropriate.  
 
(k) Goods and services tax (GST) 
The Department is required to comply with the requirements of the Goods and Services Tax (GST) legislation; A 
New Tax System (Goods and Services Tax) Act 1999. 
 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except that receivables and payables are 
stated inclusive of GST and the amount of GST incurred that is not recoverable from the taxation authority is 
recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of an asset or as part of an item of expense.  
 
3. Outputs of the department 
(a) General 
Information about the Department’s output classes is set out in the Output Class Summary. 
 
(b) Output class summary 
Output Class 1 — Information Services. The focus for this class of service delivery is on services for 
generation, synthesis and dissemination of information and technology. 
 
Output Class 2 — State Resource Regulation Services. The focus is on services that are required to regulate 
the use of and protect the State’s natural and productive resources. These services are the responsibility of 
PIRSA through either legislative responsibilities or Cabinet policy. 
 
Output Class 3 — Coordination and Advice. The focus is on coordination of whole of government initiatives 
or services as well as policy advice and development for and on behalf of the Minister.  
 
Output Class 4 — Facilitation Services. This class of outputs includes facilitation services that establish 
strategic alliances and strategies in the areas of wealth, health, welfare, safety, sustainability or self-reliance of 
industries, enterprises or communities.  
 
4. Employee costsa 
 2002 2001 
 $’000 $’000 
Salaries and wages 69 081 66 177
Superannuation 7 081 7 324
Payroll tax 4 365 4 945
Annual and long service leave expensesb 289 (53)
 80 816 78 393

a 2001–02 figures include costs of $1.3 million ($1.8 million) for adverse eventsand $202,000 ($204 000) for the Upper South-East Dryland 
Salinity and Flood Management Plan. Supply and service costs associated with these activities are disclosed in Note 5. 

b  Annual leave and long service leave expenses only include changes in the provision assessed at balance date. In service and lump sum 
payments are classified as salary expenses. 
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5. Supplies and services 
 2002 2001 
 $’000 $’000 
 Professional services 18 686 19 621
 Operational and administrative costs 18 240 14 074
 Utility and property costs 12 423 9 446
 Computing costs 5 220 5 770
 Travel 8 288 8 176
 Vehicle and equipment operating costs 2 113 2 060
 Adverse eventsa 6 535 10 727
 Upper South-East Dryland Salinity and Flood Managementb 4 030 4 242
 Telephone calls and rental 2 282 1 948
 Loxton Irrigation Schemec 6 798 11 189
 Staff training and development 1 790 1 536
 Other 560 504
 86 965 89 293
a Expenditure on ad-hoc emergencies that affect the agricultural and fisheries sectors (eg fruit fly and locusts). Employee costs associated with 

adverse events are disclosed in Note 4. The decrease in adverse events expenditure in 2001-02 is due primarily to a significant locust control 
program which was undertaken in 2000–01. 

b The drainage component of the Upper South East Dryland Salinity and Flood Management Plan will be constructed over six years. The 
project is funded on the basis of the State and Commonwealth each contributing 37.5 per cent and the local community 25 per cent of the 
cost. The estimated cost was $24 million but has now been revised to $41 million. Infrastructure works ownership will be transferred to the 
South-Eastern Water Conservation Drainage Board, upon completion of each stage. Employee costs associated with the Upper South East 
Dryland Salinity and Flood Management Plan are disclosed in Note 4. The responsibility for this project was transferred to the Department of 
Water, Land and Biodiversity Conservation on 1 May 2002, refer Note 2(b). 

c Represents a continuing program of refurbishment of the irrigation distribution infrastructure and upgrading of the pumps for the existing 
district and including areas for new development outside the current boundaries of the Loxton Irrigation District. The total cost of the program 
was estimated to be $39.1 million with the State and Loxton growers’ share estimated to be $24.6 million spread over the projected 
construction period of five years. The estimated cost of the program has been revised to $36.4 million with the State and Loxton growers’ 
share estimated to be $22.2 million spread over the revised construction period of four years. The responsibility for this program was 
transferred to the Department of Water, Land and Biodiversity Conservation on 1 May 2002, refer Note 2(b). 
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6. Grants paid 
 2002 2001 
Rural Finance and Development: $’000 $’000 
 Eyre Peninsula Regional Strategy - 590
 FarmBis 4 412 2 887
 Central North East Farm Assistance Program 435 61
 Rural counsellors 259 274
 Project funding 192 193
 Property management planning 630 117
 South East Confined Aquifer Rehabilitation Scheme 101 56
 Branched Broomrape 66 11
 Kangaroo Island Ovine Johne’s Disease 58 -
 Riverland Rural Partnership Program 962 635
 7 115 4 824
Other State and Local Government Agencies:  
 Animal and Plant Control Commission 3 482 3 451
 University of Adelaide 642 642
 Roxby Downs Council 490 490
 Dog Fence Board 374 367
 State Aboriginal Affairs 200 -
 Agriculture Fisheries Forestry Australia - 293
 Other 326 459
 5 514 5 702
Private Sector:  
 Remote Areas Energy Scheme 3 912 4 971
 Collaborative programs 1 650 2 460
 Mount Lofty Ranges Catchment Program 1 331 1 107
 SA Food and Beverage Exporters Association 600 600
 Anangu Pitjantjatjara Council - 100
 Stone Industry Association - 140
 Soil Conservation Board 433 228
 Solar Hot Water Rebates 636 -
 Virginia Horticulture Centre 157 -
 Other 2 315 1 274
 11 034 10 880
Total Grants Paid 23 663 21 406

 
7. Provision for doubtful debts 
Movements in the provision for doubtful debts (refer Note 2 (j)) during the period were: 
 2000–01 1999–2000
 $’000 $’000 
Balance at 1 July  2 380 2 471
 Less: Write-offs — 635
 2 380 1 836
 Add: Amount provided 379 544
  Balance at 30 June 2 759 2 380
 
8. Depreciation and amortisation expenses 
 2000–01 1999–2000
Depreciation: $’000 $’000 
 Plant and equipment 3 629 3 658
 Building and improvements 1 629 1 623
 5 258 5 281
Amortisation:  
 Leasehold improvements 397 397
 Amdel loan 16 16
 413 413
Total Depreciation and Amortisation Expenses 5 671 5 694
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9. Other expenses 
 2000–01 1999–2000
 $’000 $’000 
Capital loss on early repayment of debt to the Department of Treasury and Finance — 21
Guarantee fees 24 37
Contributions to external bodiesa 2 594 504
Other 316 381
 2 934 943

a Contributions to external bodies include $1.4 million ($nil) for adverse events. 
 
10. User charges, fees and rentals 
 2000–01 1999–2000
 $’000 $’000 
Fishing licencesa 8 828 8 484
Mining and petroleum application fees 472 354
Pastoral rents 612 —

Gas and electricity licence fees 2 637 2 220
Remote Areas Energy Scheme electricity sales 1 022 664
Mining and petroleum rentals 3 781 4 261
Consultancy and service 9 329 6 104
Other licences 323 384
Seed analysis and certification 864 877
Inspection and registration 467 486
Other 338 339
 28 673 24 173
a Represents allocation of licence fees from the Fisheries Research and Development Fund. 
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11. Advances and grants 
The Department received contributions from various funding sources as detailed below, expressly for the 
purpose of undertaking specific projects. As at 30 June 2002 $7.4 million of those contributions, which have 
been recognised as revenue in the Statement of Financial Performance are yet to be spent in the manner specified 
by the contributors. 
 
  2002   2001  
 Grants 

received 
Expenditure Unexpended 

grants 
Grants 

received 
Expenditure Unexpended 

grants 
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
Commonwealth Grants   
Eyre Peninsula Regional Strategy 22 20 2 856 856 —
Riverland Rural Partnership Program 609 609 — 385 385 —
FarmBis 2 981 2 981 — 2 462 2 462 —
Central North East Farm Assistance Program 1 120 646 474 83 83 —
Loxton Irrigation Scheme(a) — — — 5 200 5 200 —
Natural Heritage Trust(a) 4 226 3 083 1 143 6 027 4 768 1 259
National Action Plan for Salinity and Water Quality(a) 1 698 13 1 685 — — —
Branched Broomrape 961 961 — 634 634 —
Murray Darling Basin Commission — — — 133 133 —
Other 369 369 — 170 170 —
 Total Commonwealth Grants 11 986 8 682 3 304 15 950 14 691 1 259
State Grants   
National Action Plan for Salinity and Water Qualitya 1 798 113 1 685 — — —
National Gas Pipelines Advisory Committee 305 305 — 436 388 48
Animal and Plant Control Commission Regions  320 7 313 318 318 —
Farmed Seafood Initiative — — — 50 2 48
Food Plan — — — 431 431 —
Ovine Johne’s Disease 1 184 1 184 — 934 934 —
Government Radio Network 635 546 89 — — —
Department of Industry and Trade 350 350 — — — —
Department of Water, Land and Biodiversity 
Conservation 274 — 274

 
— 

 
— —

Branched Broomrape 770 770 — 545 545 —
Other 1 023 1 023 — 831 831 —
 Total State Grants 6 659 4 298 2 361 3 545 3 449 96
Industry Grantsb   
Fisheries RDC 564 564 — 1 189 1 189 —
Grains RDC 4 951 4 951 — 6 073 6 046 27
Horticultural RDC 2 242 1 568 674 1 234 1 234 —
Pig RDC 299 299 — 448 357 91
Rural Industries RDC 377 312 65 463 438 25
Meat RDC 65 65 — 25 25 —
Dried Fruits RDC — — — 112 86 26
Dairy RDC 185 185 — 221 196 25
International Wool Secretariat 353 232 121 195 195 —
SA Grains Industry Trust Fund  578 526 52 540 412 128
Cooperative RDC 44 44 — 104 104 —
Grape and Wine RDC 586 351 235 302 302 —
CRC for Aquaculture 54 1 53 276 168 108
CRC for Beef 29 29 — 38 38 —
CRC for Viticulture 248 239 9 249 212 37
CRC for Value Added Wheat 150 112 38 — — —
Aquafin CRC 1 146 682 464 — — —
Other 2 190 2 190 — 1 732 1 732 —
 Total Industry Grants 14 061 12 350 1 711 13 201 12 734 467
 Total Grants Received 32 706 25 330 7 376 32 696 30 874 1 822
a Responsibility for these grants was transferred to the Department of Water, Land and Biodiversity Conservation on 1 May 2002, as a result 

the above figures represent the financial transactions for the 10 months to 30 April 2002. 
b RDC: Research and Development Corporation 

CRC: Cooperative Research Centre 
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12. Interest revenue 
 2002 2001 
 $’000 $’000 
Loans to the rural sector 1 939 2 608
Deposits lodged with Treasury 2 734 3 038
 4 673 5 646
 
13. Sales of goods 
 2002 2001 
 $’000 $’000 
Plants 858 1 367
Livestock 1 012 946
Publications, books, maps and compact discs 628 478
Milk 867 614
Fruit and vegetables 175 206
Cereals 753 521
Wool and skins 325 245
Other 959 528
 5 577 4 905
 
14. Other revenue 
 2002 2001 
 $’000 $’000 
South-Eastern Water Conservation Drainage Board levies 992 990
Loxton Irrigation external contributions 2 060 —
 Seed royalties 477 448
 Government Employment Scheme recoups 174 194
 Contribution from the Department for Water Resources 1 417 750
Hire of equipment 70 57
Reimbursements of salaries and project costs 3 371 2 349
Net receivable owing from Department of Water Land and Biodiversity Conservation 2 932 -
 Other 1 969 1 628
 13 462 6 416
 
15. Royalties 
The following royalties were received and deposited into the Consolidated Account (refer Note 2(e)): 
 2002 2001 
Licences: $’000 $’000 
 Gas licences — 2 527
 — 2 527
Based on production:  
 Natural gas/liquids 49 025 68 037
 Minerals 32 272 37 199
 Coal 1 326 1 327
 82 623 106 563
  Total Royalties 82 623 109 090
 
16. Current assets — receivables 
 2002 2001 
 $’000 $’000 
Trade accounts receivable 21 807 6 854
Less: Provision for doubtful debts 558 256
 21 249 6 598
Accrued interest on loans and deposits 803 1 029
 22 052 7 627
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17. Loans 
 2002 2001 
(i) Rural Sector — Rural Finance and Development: $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
  Balance at 1 July 27 763  33 994
  Advances during the year 291  1 027 
  Interest capitalised 2 148  2 844 
 2 439  3 871
 30 202  37 865
  Less: Principal repayments 9 006  9 463 
   Principal written off —  635 
   Loans converted to grants —  4 
 9 006  10 102
  Balance 30 June 21 196  27 763
 Other Loans:   
  Balance 1 July 48  64
  Less: Amortisation of loan 16  16
  Balance 30 June  32  48
  Total Loan Balance 30 June  21 228  27 811
   
(ii) Balance of Loans Outstanding comprises:   
  Principal not yet due for repayment 21 228  27 811
  Principal due but not yet paid —  —
  Total Principal Outstanding 21 228  27 811
   
(iii) Balance of Loans Classification:   
  Current assets 2 425  1 787
   
  Non-current assets  18 803  26 024
  Less: Provision for doubtful debts 2 201  2 124
 16 602  23 900
 19 027  25 687
 
18. Inventories 
 2002 2001 
Current: $’000 $’000 
 Livestock (Net realisable value) 2 215 1 961
 Plants and related items (At cost) — 642
 Publications and other finished goods (At cost)  363 282
 Other (At cost) 356 774
 2 934 3 659
Non-Current:  
 Publications and maps (Net realisable value) 556 257
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19. Property, plant and equipment 
 2002 2001 
Land: $’000 $’000 
 Land at independent valuation (30 June 1999) 9 465 9 682
 Land at valuation (30 June 2000)  60 60
 Land at valuation (30 June 2001)  150 —
 Land at cost — 474
 9 675 10 216
Buildings and Improvements:  
 Buildings at independent valuation (30 June 1999) 91 683 92 996
 Buildings at valuation (30 June 2000)  461 461
 Buildings at cost 1 507 1 731
 Leasehold improvements 3 971 3 971
 97 622 99 159
 Less: Accumulated deprecation and amortisation 32 147 30 744
 65 475 68 415
Plant and Equipment:  
 Plant and equipment at cost 45 400 47 740
 Plant and equipment at valuation (30 June 2000) 668 668
 46 068 48 408
 Less: Accumulated depreciation 30 206 31 890
 15 862 16 518
  Total Property, Plant and Equipment 91 012 95 149

 
 Land Buildings Leasehold 

Improvements 
Plant and 

Equipment 
Total 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
Gross Carrying Amount   
 Balance at 30 June 2001 10 216 95 188 3 971 48 408 157 783
 Additions 150 142 — 3 935 4 227
 Disposals/transfers  (691) (1 679) — (6 275) (8 645)
 Balance at 30 June 2002 9 675 93 651 3 971 46 068 153 365
Accumulated Depreciation and Amortisation   
 Balance at 30 June 2001 — 29 586 1 158 31 890 62 634
 Disposals/transfers — (623) — (5 313) (5 936)
 Depreciation/amortisation expense — 1 629 397 3 629 5 655
 Balance at 30 June 2002 — 30 592 1 555 30 206 62 353
Net Book Value   
 As at 30 June 2001 10 216 65 602 2 813 16 518 95 149
 As at 30 June 2002 9 675 63 059 2 416 15 862 91 012
Gross Carrying Amount   
 Balance at 30 June 2000 10 216 94 983 3 971 45 644 154 814
 Additions — 205 — 3 818 4 023
 Disposals — — — (1 054) (1 054)
 Balance at 30 June 2001 10 216 95 188 3 971 48 408 157 783
Accumulated Depreciation and Amortisation   
 Balance at 30 June 2000 — 27 963 761 29 207 57 931
 Disposals — — — (975) (975)
 Depreciation/amortisation expense — 1 623 397 3 658 5 678
 Balance at 30 June 2001 — 29 586 1 158 31 890 62 634
Net Book Value   
 As at 30 June 2000 10 216 67 020 3 210 16 437 96 883
 As at 30 June 2001 10 216 65 602 2 813 16 518 95 149
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20. Other assets 
 2002 2001 
Current: $’000 $’000 
 Amdel loan 16 16
 Workers compensation recoveries 14 11
 30 27
Non-Current:  
 Workers compensation recoveries 53 51
 
21. Current liabilities — creditors and accruals 
 2002 2001 
 $’000 $’000 
Employee related 1 441 1 065
Creditors and accruals 4 514 6 327
Workers Compensation 530 489
Commonwealth excise funding 50 23
 6 535 7 904
 
22. Borrowings 
 2002 2001 
 $’000 $’000 
(i) Indebtedness to Department of Treasury and Finance 2 139 2 380
  Indebtedness to SA Government Financing Authority 13 931 18 690
  Indebtedness to Department of Industry and Trade 80 92
 16 150 21 162

  
(ii) Balance of Borrowings Outstanding Classifications:  
  Current 1 629 693
  Non-Current 14 521 20 469
 16 150 21 162

 
23. Provision for employee entitlements 
 2002 2001 
Current: $’000 $’000 
 Annual leave 3 985 3 966
 Long service leave 568 545
 4 553 4 511
Non-Current:  
 Long service leave 13 798 15 120
 13 798 15 120
 
24. Non-current liabilities — creditors and accruals 
 2002 2001 
 $’000 $’000 
Employee related 1 552 1 739
Workers Compensation 1 684 1 621
 3 236 3 360
 
25. General Reserve 
The General Reserve for PIRSA Rural Finance and Development was previously established to cover unforeseen 
losses which may arise from the loan portfolio. The need to maintain this General Reserve will be reviewed in 
2002-03. 
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26. Committed Grants Reserve 
The Committed Grants Reserve for PIRSA Rural Finance and Development was established to provide for grant 
commitments which as at 30 June 2002 were committed but not advanced. 
 
27. Commitments for expenditure 
 2002 2001 
Operating Leases $’000 $’000 
Commitments under non-cancellable operating leases at the reporting date are payable as follows:  
 Not later than one year 3 766 3 850
 Later than one year and not later than five years 13 152 12 778
 Later than five years 2 466 5 227
 19 384 21 855
Other  
 Not later than one year — 13 347
 Later than one year and not later than five years — 8 334
 — 21 681
 Total Commitments for Expenditure 19 384 43 536
 
These operating commitments are not recognised in the financial report as liabilities. 
 
Operating leases relate to property, which are non-cancellable, with rental payable monthly in advance. 
Contingent rental provisions within the lease agreements allow for the review of lease payments every two years. 
Any changes in lease payments would be based on market rates. Options exist to renew the leases at the end of 
their terms.  
 
Other, in 2000–01 consisted of commitments for the Loxton Irrigation District Rehabilitation project and the 
Upper South East Dryland Salinity and Flood Management Plan, these items were transferred to the Department 
of Water, Land and Biodiversity Conservation as of 1 May 2002. 
 
28. Targeted voluntary separation packages (TVSPs) 
In accordance with Government policy to reduce the public sector workforce, 56 employees of the Department 
were paid TVSPs during the period. 
 
These payments were met by the Department and have been recovered from the Department of the Premier and 
Cabinet. 
 
As at 30 June 2002 payments amounted to $3.8 million and $3.8 million has been recovered. In addition to this 
$1.3 million was paid in accrued annual leave and long service leave entitlements to those employees who 
received a TVSP. 
 
29. Consultants costs 
During the reporting period the Department incurred expenses of $1.1 million ($2.5 million) on consultants. The 
cost of consultants does not include GST.  
 
30. Trust funds 
The Trust Funds of the Department are: 
 
Pleuro Pneumonia Fund. This Fund consists of monies belonging to all State Governments and the Federal 
Government. The Fund is controlled by the Standing Committee of Agriculture and all expenditure is subject to 
the approval of the Chairman. Funds are to be used principally for publication of the history of the Pleuro 
Pneumonia Eradication Campaign and are held in a Section 21 Deposit Account. 
 
Extractive Areas Rehabilitation Fund. This Fund is credited with amounts by way of royalty on extractive 
minerals and is used for the rehabilitation of land disturbed by mining operations. The funds collected are used to 
limit damage to any aspect of the environment by such mining operations in addition to the promotion of 
research into methods of mining engineering and practice by which environmental damage might be reduced. 
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Fisheries Research and Development Corporation Pro-active Grant Fund. This Fund consists of monies 
belonging to the Fisheries Research and Development Corporation (FRDC) which were distributed to the South 
Australian Government in 1992. The Fund is controlled by the FRDC with all project expenditure subject to 
written approval. The monies, which are held in an interest bearing Section 21 Deposit Account, are used to 
promote collaboration between the fishing industry, fisheries managers, researchers and other stakeholders 
through the South Australian Fisheries Research Advisory Body. There were no transactions during the year. 
 
Aggregate details of the transactions and balances relating to these Trust Funds for the year ended 30 June are as 
follows: 
 
 Pleuro 

Pneumonia
Extractive 

Areas 
Rehabilitation 

Fund 

2002 Total 2001 Total

Operations: $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
 Receipts 4 1 031 1 035 914
 Less: Expenditure 10 1 171 1 181 1 790
 Excess of receipts (expenditure) (6) (140) (146) (876)
Funds:   
 Balance of funds 1 July  77 3 931 4 008 4 884
 Add: Surplus (Deficit) for year (6) (140) (146) (876)
 Fund balance at 30 June  71 3 791 3 862 4 008
 Less: Commitments — 1 955 1 955 2 100
 Balance of Funds Available 71 1 836 1 907 1 908
 
As the Department performs only a custodial role in respect of these monies and because the monies cannot be 
used for the achievement of the Department’s objectives, they are not brought to account in the financial 
statements, but are shown here for information purposes. 
 
31. Employee remuneration packages 
The number of employees whose total remuneration package was $100 000 or more in relation to the reporting 
period was as follows: 
 Number of Employees 
 2002 2001 
$100 000 – $109 999 5 6 
$110 000 – $119 999 4 5 
$120 000 – $129 999 4 2 
$130 000 – $139 999 3 4 
$140 000 – $149 999 — 1 
$150 000 – $159 999 1 1 
$160 000 – $169 999 2 3 
$170 000 – $179 999 2 — 
$180 000 – $189 999 1 1 
$220 000 – $229 999 1 — 
$230 000 – $239 999 — 1 
 Total  23 24 
 
Note — These figures do not take into consideration payments of separation packages or payments for accrued 
annual leave and long service leave on departure from PIRSA. Employees transferred to the Department of 
Water, Land and Biodiversity Conservation are also not included. 
 
Total remuneration received by the above employees was $3.3 million ($3.2 million). 
 
Total remuneration in excess of $100 000 for 10 months for employees transferred to the Department of Water 
Land and Biodiversity Conservation was $245 000 (2 employees). 
 
32. Audit fees 
These accounts include $219 000 ($212 000) paid or payable to the Auditor-General’s Department during the 
period. 
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33. 
(i) Cash 
Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is reconciled to the Related items 
in the Statement of Financial Position as follows: 
 2002 2001 
 $’000 $’000 
Cash 46 191 60 165
Deposits at call 2 158 3 536
 48 349 63 701
 
(ii) Reconciliation of net cost of services from ordinary activities to net cash used in operating 
activities 
 2002 2001 
 $’000 $’000 
Net cost of services from ordinary activities (116 545) (124 001)
Cash flows from Government 115 564 113 850
Depreciation and amortisation 5 671 5 694
Increase in provision for doubtful debts 379 544
Increase (Decrease) in provision for employee entitlements (1 280) (55)
Loss (Gain) on sale of property, plant and equipment 75 (28)
(Increase) in receivables (14 983) (2 165)
(Increase) Decrease in workers compensation recoveries (5) (4)
Decrease (Increase) in inventories 426 (998)
Loans converted to grants - 4
Decrease in accrued interest receivable 256 343
Restructuring of administrative arrangements (108) -
SAFA Capital loss 24 21
(Decrease) in accrued interest payable on loans (112) (77)
(Decrease) Increase in unearned revenue (517) 517
(Decrease) Increase in creditors and accruals (1 493) 2 379
 Net Cash used in Operating Activities (12 648) (3 976)
 
34. Additional financial instruments disclosure 
(a) Interest rate risk 
PIRSA’s exposure to interest rate risk, which is the risk that a financial instrument’s value will fluctuate as a 
result of changes in market interest rates and the effective weighted average interest rate on those financial assets 
and financial liabilities, is as follows: 
 Floating 

Interest 
Rate 

1 year or 
less 

Over 1to 5 
years 

More than 
5 years 

Non-
Interest 
Bearing 

Total 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
2002   
Financial Assets:   
 Cash 48 256 — — — 93 48 349
 Receivables 144 659 — — 21 249 22 052
 Loans to Rural Sector — 10 605 7 132 1 258 — 18 995
 Loans Other — — — — 32 32
  Total 48 400 11 264 7 132 1 258 21 374 89 428
Weighted Average Interest Rate 4.40% 7.56% 8.25% 8.39%  
Financial Liabilities:   
 Borrowings Rural Finance and 
Development 

— 11 012 5 045 — — 16 057

 Borrowings Other — — — — 93 93
 Payables — — — — 9 771 9 771
  Total — 11 012 5 045 — 9 864 25 921
Weighted Average Interest Rate 5.73% 6.18%   
2001   
Financial Assets 63 862 13 329 10 766 2 412 6 646 97 015
Weighted Average Interest Rate 5.77% 8.31% 8.45% 5.25%  
Financial Liabilities — 13 180 8 262 92 11 357 32 891
Weighted Average Interest Rate 6.48% 6.35% 6.50%  
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(b) Net fair value 
The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities at the reporting date all approximate their net fair values. 
 
(c) Credit risk 
The maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding the value of any collateral or other security, at balance date to 
recognised financial assets is the carrying amount, net of any provisions for doubtful debts, as disclosed in the 
Statement of Financial Position and notes to the financial statements. 
 
35. Contingent liabilities 
The nature of activities that PIRSA is involved in can create potential exposure to environmental, fisheries and 
petroleum matters, which PIRSA may be required to remedy in the future. PIRSA has some outstanding 
litigation in a number of these areas, specifically resulting from interpretation of fishing licences, past mining 
practices, petroleum exploration and animal health matters. These matters include: 
 
(a) Minerals and Energy Resources 
Certain matters associated with contaminants such as contaminated land and hazardous materials have been 
identified and are managed in accordance with recognised standards. This includes the environmental liabilities 
of past mining practices where there is no longer an active licence. For new activities, it is a lease condition that 
rehabilitation be undertaken by the leaseholder before a lease is surrendered. PIRSA’s responsibility is to ensure 
that a lease is not surrendered before appropriate rehabilitation has occurred, thus minimising the likelihood of 
future environmental risks to Government. Work is progressing to determine any liabilities that may be 
associated with this role. At this time, the financial impact cannot be reliably estimated. 
 
Since mining ceased at Brukunga in 1972, the residual sulphides in the quarry, two waste rock dumps and 
tailings storage have been actively oxidising and generating acid water via natural process. Ownership of the 
Brukunga property was formally transferred to PIRSA during 1999-2000. It has been brought to PIRSA’s 
attention that landowners downstream of the Brukunga mine site are considering a class action against the 
Minister in respect to loss experienced due to contamination of Dawesley Creek. Settlement in regard to an 
individual action has recently been reached and is currently being finalised by SAICORP. PIRSA’s liability in 
regard to this action will be limited to its insurance excess of $50 000.  
 
(b) Petroleum 
As at 30 June 2002 litigation had commenced in the United States of America as a result of a collapsed rig off 
the South Australian coast. There has been an attempt to have the matter transferred to Australia, in which case if 
the application to transfer is successful there is a possibility that PIRSA may be enjoined in the action. At this 
time, the financial impact cannot be reliably estimated. 
 
(c) Fisheries 
As at 30 June 2002, PIRSA was involved in unresolved litigation for claims of unspecified damages for the 
management of the Gulf of St. Vincent Prawn Fishery. At this time, there exists significant uncertainty as to if 
any future costs may be incurred. In addition, judgement is pending on a Full Court Appeal in relation to 
damages claimed for financial loss in the operation and ownership of fishing licences. The potential liability 
cannot be reliably assessed at this time. 
 
(d) SARDI 
As at 30 June 2002, the Minister for Administrative Services on behalf of the Minister for Agriculture, Food and 
Fisheries was involved in unresolved litigation over the construction of a sea water pipeline at West Beach. The 
matter was referred to an independent arbitrator who found in an interim final award that the contractor was 
entitled to delays and direct costs. The Minister has filed a counter claim. At this time, the arbitrator is yet to 
award costs and therefore the financial impact cannot be reliably estimated.  
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36. Restructuring of administrative arrangements 
The following assets and liabilities were transferred to the Department of Water, Land and Biodiversity 
Conservation on 1 May 2002 and to Bio Innovation SA on 1 July 2001. Generation Lessor Corporation 
transferred land to PIRSA on 16 August 2001 for no consideration. Plant and equipment and property assets are 
stated at net book value. 
 Transferred 

from PIRSA 
1 July 2001 

Transferred  
from PIRSA  
1 May 2002 

Transferred 
to PIRSA  

16 August 2001
 $’000 $’000 $’000 
Assets  
Cash 1 268 — —
Inventory — 598 —
Plant and equipment 8 644 —
Property — 1 743 150
 Total 1 276 2 985 150
Liabilities  
Payables 6 183 —
Employee entitlements 46 1 523 —
 Total 52 1 706 —
 
In addition to the above controlled items, the following administered items were transferred to the Department of 
Water, Land and Biodiversity Conservation on 1 May 2002: Natural Heritage Trust, National Action Plan for 
Water Quality and Salinity, Soil Conservation Fund and the Pastoral Board. The Program Schedule of 
Departmental Administered Expenses and Revenues includes the expenditure and revenue of these funds from 1 
July 2001 to 30 April 2002. 
 
 Natural 

Heritage 
Trust 

National 
Action Plan 

for Water 
Quality and 

Salinity 

Soil 
Conservation 

Fund 

Pastoral 
Board 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
Assets     
Cash 7 042 56 24 —
Property — — — 23 583
 Total 7 042 56 24 23 583
 
37. Equity 
Equity represents the residual interest in PIRSA’s net assets. The South Australian Government holds the equity 
interest in PIRSA on behalf of the community. 
 Accumulated 

Surplus 
Committed 

Grants 
Reserve 

General 
Reserve 

Asset 
Revaluation 

Reserve 

Total 

2002 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
Balance at 1 July 122 574 13 979 2 000 1 753 
Change in net assets resulting from operations (981) — — — (981)
Change in net assets resulting from restructuring (2 353) — — — (2 353)
Transfers to (from) Reserves 1 682 (1 682) — — —
 Balance at 30 June 120 922 12 297 2 000 1 753 136 972

140 306
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RURAL INDUSTRY ADJUSTMENT AND  
DEVELOPMENT FUND 
 
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2002 
  2002 2001 
 Note $’000 $’000 
EXPENSES FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES:    
 Grants 2 1 676 1 536
 Provision for doubtful debts 3 387 661
 Interest   1 2
 Administration  75 106
  Total Expenses  2 139 2 305
   
REVENUES FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES:   
 Interest 4 834 1 121
Other  5 503 -
  Total Revenues  1 337 1 121
NET COST OF SERVICES FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES  802 1 184
TOTAL CHANGES IN EQUITY OTHER THAN THOSE RESULTING FROM 
 TRANSACTIONS WITH THE STATE GOVERNMENT AS OWNER 

 802 1 184

 
 
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 30 JUNE 2002 
  2002 2001 
 Note $’000 $’000 
CURRENT ASSETS:    
 Cash  14 598 14 670
 Loans 6 234 266
 Accrued Interest  7 207 239
  Total Current Assets  15 039 15 175
   
NON-CURRENT ASSETS:   
 Loans  6 2 086 2771
  Total Non-Current Assets  2 086 2 771
  Total Assets  17 125 17 946
   
CURRENT LIABILITIES   
 Borrowings  10 12
 Provision for Employee Entitlements  2 2
  Total Current Liabilities  12 14
   
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES   
 Borrowings   68 78
 Provision for Employee Entitlements  11 18
  Total Non-Current Liabilities  79 96
  Total Liabilities  91 110
NET ASSETS  17 034 17 836

EQUITY:   
 General Reserve 9 2 000 2 000
 Committed Grants Reserve 8,9 5 768 8 030
 Retained Surplus 9 9 266 7 806
TOTAL EQUITY  17 034 17 836
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2002 
 Note 2002 

Inflows 
(Outflows) 

2001 
Inflows 

(Outflows)
  $’000 $’000 
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:   
 Interest on loans to the rural sector  219 334
 Interest on deposits lodged with Treasurer   647 871
 Grants   (1 676) (1 536)
 Administration expenses   (82) (98)
 Other  502 (2)
  Net Cash used in Operating Activities 10 (390) (431)
   
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:   
 Loans advanced to the rural sector  (85) (74)
 Loans repaid by the rural sector  415 568
  Net Cash provided by Investing Activities  330 494
   
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:   
 Principal repaid to Industry and Trade  (12) (18)
  Net Cash used in Financing Activities  (12) (18)
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH HELD  (72) 45
CASH AT 1 JULY  14 670 14 625
CASH AT 30 JUNE   14 598 14 670

 
 
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
1. Statement of accounting policies 
a) The reporting entity 
The Rural Industry Adjustment and Development Fund is established under the Rural Industry Adjustment and 
Development Act 1985. The primary purpose of the Fund is to provide loans and grants, at Ministerial discretion, 
to develop a farm, make adjustments to farming methods or to undertake a project or research for the benefit of 
farmers. 
 
The Rural Industry Adjustment and Development Act, section 5(1), requires that a fund, entitled the Rural 
Industry Adjustment and Development Fund (RIADF), be established and maintained at Treasury. 
 
b) Basis of accounting 
The financial statements are in accordance with Statement of Accounting Concepts, applicable Australian 
Accounting Standards and with Treasurer’s Instruction 1000, ‘Annual Financial Statements’ issued pursuant to 
the Public Finance and Audit Act 1987. The statements have been prepared in accordance with the historical cost 
convention using the accrual method of accounting. 
 
c) Long service leave and annual leave 
The provisions represent all outstanding liabilities for annual leave due but not yet paid and long service leave 
for employees with eight or more years of service as at 30 June 2002. 
 
d) Provision for doubtful debts 
A provision is raised for any doubtful debts on a review of all outstanding amounts at year end. This is 
calculated at five per cent of the total loans to the rural sector. 
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2. Project funding comprises payments for the following activities: 
 2002 2001 
 $'000 $'000 
Primary Industries Marketing and Development 500 500 
Industry Development Board for Better Beef SA Project 119 — 
Industry Development Board for Clean Seas Aquaculture 50 — 
Industry Development Board for Dairy 60 — 
Industry Development Board for Field Crops Grains Eye Opener 30 — 
Industry Development Board for Field Crops: Barley Strategy 35 — 
Industry Development Board for Horticulture 22 — 
Industry Development Board for Horticulture Building Regions 126 — 
Industry Development Board for Lamb 80 100 
Industry Development Board for Olive Industry 91 — 
Industry Development Board for SA Marine Finfish Farmers Assoc. 51 — 
Industry Development Board for Seafood 48 — 
Industry Development Board for Sustainable Industries Rangelands 129 127 
Industry Development Board for Value Chain Analysis 160 226 
Industry Development Board for Wool — 97 
Industry Development Board for Greenhouse Industry Modernisation Project — 154 
Kangaroo Island Ovine Jones Disease Fencing Assistance Grant Scheme 100 — 
Lochert Bros 25 — 
Northern Agricultural District Rural Plan 23 — 
Primary Industries — Kangaroo Island 18 162 
SA Meat Alliance 10 — 
Other — 170 
 1 676 1 536 

 
3. Provision for doubtful debts 
Movements in the provision for doubtful debts during the year were: 
 2002 
 $’000 
Balance 1 July 2001 934
Add: Amount provided in 2001–02 387
Balance 30/6/02 1 321
 
4. Interest revenue 
 2002 2001 
Comprises interest received on: $’000 $’000 
Loans to the rural sector 193  258
Deposits lodged with the Treasurer 641 863
Total 834 1 121
 
5. Other revenue 
Other revenue of $503 000 relates to: 
Administration Fees  $3 000 
 Refund of grant  $500 000 
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6. Loans to rural sector 
 2002 2001 
 $’000 $’000 
Balance 1 July  3 971 5 100
Add: Advances during the year 85 74
Interest Capitalised 219 334
 4 275 5 508
Less: Principal Repayments 634 902
Write offs - 635
Balance 30 June 3 641 3 971
  
Current 367 348
Less provision for doubtful debts (133) (82)
Net Current 234 266
  
Non-Current 3 274 3 623
Less provision for doubtful debts (1 188) (852)
Net Non-Current 2 086 2 771
 
7. Accrued interest 
Represents interest accrued to 30 June 2002 but not received until 2002–03. 
 

 2002 2001 
 $'000 $'000 
Loans 168 194 
Deposits with Treasurer 39 45 
 207 239 

 
8. Transfer from Committed Grants Reserve 
The Committed Grants Reserve was established to provide for grant commitments which as at 30 June 2002 had 
not been advanced. 
During 2001–02 an amount of $2262 was transferred from the Committed Grants Reserve to the retained 
surplus. 
 
9. Equity 

 Accumulated 
Surplus 

Committed 
Grants 

Reserve 

General 
Reserve 

Total 

 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
Balance at 1 July 7 806 8 030 2 000 17 836 
Change in assets resulting from operations (802) — — (802) 
Transfer from reserves 2 262 (2 262) — — 
Balance at 30 June  9 266 5 768 2 000 17 034 

 
10. Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash used in operating activities 
 2002 2001 
 $’000 $’000 
Net Cost of Services (802) (1 184)
Decrease in Accrued Interest on Loans 26 76
Decrease in Accrued Interest on Deposits with Treasurer 6 8
Provision for Doubtful Debts 387 661
(Decrease)/Increase in provisions (7) 8
Net Cash used in Operating Activities (390) (431)
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Contacts 
 

Primary Industries and Resources South Australia 
Level 17, Grenfell Centre 
25 Grenfell St, Adelaide 
GPO Box 1671, Adelaide SA 5001 
Phone      (08) 8226 0222 
Fax          (08) 8226 0476 
Website   http://www.pir.sa.gov.au 
 
Office of Regional Development 
Level 17, Grenfell Centre 
25 Grenfell St, Adelaide 
GPO Box 2862, Adelaide SA 5001 
Phone      (08) 8226 3553 
Fax          (08) 8226 0855 
Website   http://www.pir.sa.gov.au 
 
PIRSA has over 50 offices distributed across the State and Adelaide metropolitan area and these are listed in the 
Adelaide and various country White Pages. 
 

http://www.pir.sa.gov.au/
http://www.pir.sa.gov.au/
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Inquiry Contact Phone, fax and location 
Minister for Agriculture, Food and 
Fisheries, Minister for Mineral 
Resources Development 

Paul Holloway MLC phone (08) 8226 0322 
fax (08) 8226 0316 
Level 17, Grenfell Centre, 25 Grenfell Street, Adelaide 

Minister for Energy Patrick Conlon MP phone (08) 8226 1210 
fax (08) 8226 0844 
Level 12, SGIC Building, 211 Victoria Square Adelaide 

Minister for Regional Affairs Terry Roberts MLC phone (08) 8463 6560 
fax (08) 8204 1960 
6th Floor, ING Building, 45 Pirie Street, Adelaide 

Chief Executive Jim Hallion phone (08) 8226 0168 
fax (08) 8226 0320 
Level 17, Grenfell Centre, 25 Grenfell Street, Adelaide 

Food for the Future Susan Nelle 
Director 

phone (08) 8226 0585 
fax (08) 8226 0188 
Level 16, Grenfell Centre, 25 Grenfell Street, Adelaide 

Food and Fibre Barry Windle 
Executive Director 

phone (08) 8226 0310 
fax (08) 8463 3363 
Level 9, 101 Grenfell Street, Adelaide 

 Agricultural Industries Vacant phone (08) 8226 0310 
fax (08) 8463 3363 
Level 9, 101 Grenfell Street, Adelaide 

 Fisheries Will Zacharin 
Director 

phone (08) 8226 2316 
fax (08) 8226 0434 
Level 14, Grenfell Centre, 25 Grenfell Street, Adelaide 

 Aquaculture SA Ian Nightingale 
General Manager 

phone (08) 8226 0314 
fax (08) 8226 0330 
Level 14, Grenfell Centre, 25 Grenfell Street, Adelaide 

SARDI (South Australian Research 
and Development Institute) 

Rob Lewis 
Executive Director 

phone (08) 8303 9401 
fax (08) 8303 9403 
Plant Research Centre, Gate 2B, Hartley Grove, Urrbrae 

Office of Minerals and Energy 
Resources 

David Blight 
Executive Director 

phone (08) 8463 4153 
fax (08) 8463 4155 
Level 7, 101 Grenfell Street, Adelaide 

 Mineral Resources Neville Alley 
Director 

phone (08) 8463 3204 
fax (08) 8463 4155 
Level 7, 101 Grenfell Street, Adelaide 

 Petroleum Barry Goldstein 
Director 

phone (08) 8463 3204 
fax (08) 8463 4155 
Level 7, 101 Grenfell Street, Adelaide 

Energy SA Cliff Fong 
Executive Director 

phone (08) 8226 5544 
fax (08) 8226 5541 
Level 19, Wakefield House, 30 Wakefield Street, Adelaide 

PIRSA Corporate Geoff Knight 
Executive Director 

phone (08) 8226 3368 
fax (08) 8226 0299 
Level 17, Grenfell Centre, 25 Grenfell Street, Adelaide 

 Communications and Marketing Kay Matthias 
General Manager 

phone (08) 8226 0338 
fax (08) 8226 0027 
Level 17, Grenfell Centre, 25 Grenfell Street, Adelaide 

Office of Regional Development Wayne Morgan 
Executive Director 

phone (08) 8226 3553 
fax (08) 8226 0855 
Level 17, Grenfell Centre, 25 Grenfell Street, Adelaide 
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